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Item #2.0

Board of Health
Barrie Office
April 18, 2018
9:15 am – 12:00 pm



	
	
	8:30
	eScribe Training

	1.0
	
	9:15
	Call To Order

	2.0
	
	
	Approval of the Agenda

	3.0
	
	
	Declaration of Conflict of Interest

	4.0
	
	
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	
	4.1
	9:16
	Approval of Minutes from March 21, 2018	



	5.0
	
	
	In Camera

	
	
	9:20
	Legal Issues (2)

	6.0
	
	
	New Business 

	
	6.1
	9:44
	Audited Financial Statements.  Financial Statements and Report.  K. Graham and S. Bialas of BDO presenting.




	
	6.2
	10:15
	Board Bylaw Review.  Briefing Note.  C. Gardner and S. Horney presenting.


[bookmark: _GoBack]

	7.0
	
	
	Advocacy

	
	7.1
	10:25
	IPAC Lapse alPHa Resolution.  Briefing Note.  Dr. C. Lee, C. Nisbet and H. Pitfield presenting.





	
	
	10:55
	BREAK

	8.0
	
	
	Business Arising

	
	8.1
	11:05
	Agency Structure Approval.  Briefing Note.  C. Gardner presenting.





	
	8.2
	11:25
	Overdose Prevention Site/Supervised Consumption Site.  Briefing Note.  L. Simon, C. Shoreman and J. Greco presenting.




	9.0
	
	
	Education

	
	9.1
	
	Board Retreat, May 2, 2018, 9:00am to 12:30pm at Hawk Ridge Golf Course, 1151 Hurlwood Ln., Orillia – Agenda, Rob DeRooy Biography, Directions from Barrie and Gravenhurst.






	
	9.2
	
	Sandy Cairns attending the Healthy, 10-minute Neighborhoods conference, May 14-18, 2018, The Shaw Centre, Ottawa.
http://www.livablecities.org/conferences/55th-conference-ottawa

	
	9.3
	
	May 25, 2018 9:30 am to 3:30 pm New Board Member Orientation, Mariposa Room, 15 Sperling Drive, Barrie.

	
	9.4
	
	June 10, 11 & 12, 2018 – alPHa Annual General Meeting, Novotel Toronto Centre, 45 The Esplanade, Toronto.
2018 alPHa Annual Conference Flyer 




	10.0
	
	Items of Information

	
	10.1
	Letter from Dr. Helena Jaczek, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care to Boards of Health announcing a two percent base funding increase to all boards of health for the provision of public health programs and services and an additional one percent will be allocated based on local need as detailed in the board of health Annual Service Plans submitted.



	
	10.2
	Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit Provincial Election primer.




	
	10.3
	Ontario Public Health Standards Modernization Indicator Implementation Task Force Terms of Reference.




	
	10.4
	Copy of letter from Carmen McGregor, alPHa President to the Honourable Charles Sousa, Minister of Finance re Ontario Budget 2018.



	
	10.5
	Copy of letter from Maureen Piercy, Chair, Hastings Prince Edward Public Health Board of Health to the Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario re Dedicated funding for local Public Health agencies from cannabis sales taxation revenue.



	
	10.6
	2018 alPHa Fitness Challenge for Board of Health Members.



	
	10.7
	April 2018 alPHa Information Break.



	
	10.8
	North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit 2017 Annual Report.



	11.0
	
	
	Date and Time of Next Meetings:
Wednesday, May 16, 2018, Barrie Office
Wednesday, June 20, 2018 Gravenhurst Office

	12.0
	
	
	Adjournment
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Board of Health 
Minutes 


March 21, 2018 
9:15 am - 12:00 pm 


Barrie Office 
 
Board Members Present: S. Warnock, B. Ward , T. Ambeau, L. Dollin, A. Dubeau, S. Kinsella , 


S. Morales , P. Preager , E. Saul, P. Willmott 
Regrets: S. Cairns, R. Cipolla, BJ. McCabe , T. Pilger , B. Saunderson 
Staff Present: C. Gardner, C. Shoreman, C. Nisbet, C. Lee, C. Miller 
Recorder: M. Klanert 


 


1. 9:15 - Call To Order  


The meeting was called to order at 9:15 am. 


2. Approval of the Agenda  


MOVED BY S. Kinsella  
SECONDED BY L. Dollin 


THAT the Board of Health approve the agenda as presented. 


 


CARRIED 
 


3. Declaration of Conflict of Interest  


4. Minutes of Previous Meeting  


4.1 9:25 - Approval of Minutes from February 21, 2018. 


MOVED BY S. Kinsella  
SECONDED BY L. Dollin 


THAT the Board of Health approve the minutes from the February 21, 
2018 Board of Health meeting. 


 


CARRIED 
 


 







5. In Camera 


Motion 5.0 
MOVED BY S. Kinsella  
SECONDED BY L. Dollin 


THAT the Board of Health go in camera to discuss one finance issue and two 
human resources issues. 


 


CARRIED 
 


5.1 Finance Issue 


a. Finance Issue 


5.2 HR Issue (1) 


a. HR Issue (1) 


b. HR Issue (2) 


 


Motion 5.0 
MOVED BY S. Kinsella  
SECONDED BY L. Dollin 


THAT the Board of Health come out of in camera and report. 


 


CARRIED 


Motion 5.2 b) 
MOVED BY P. Willmott  
SECONDED BY P. Preager 


THAT the Board of Health accept the report on Dr. Gardner’s performance. 


 


CARRIED 


 


6. Business Arising 


6.1 10:30 - Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, 
Services, and Accountability.  Briefing Note & Appendices.  C. Gardner 
presented. 







The Board discussed representation on the LHIN Board and Aboriginal 
representation on our Board to be further discussed at the Board Retreat. 


Motion 6.1 
MOVED BY P. Willmott  
SECONDED BY P. Preager  


THAT the Board of Health receive the Ontario Public Health Standards: 
Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability briefing note for 
information. 


 


CARRIED 
 


7. New Business 


7.1 11:00 - Healthy Babies Healthy Children 2018 Budget Approval.  Briefing 
Note and Appendices.  C. Shoreman presented. 


The Board approved advocating to the province and to show the impact of 
risk to the community associated with the lack of funds.  There is a risk 
that families could withdraw from the program due to long wait times. 


Motion 7.1 
MOVED BY P. Willmott  
SECONDED BY P. Preager  


THAT the Board of Health receive the 2018 Healthy Babies Healthy 
Children (HBHC) Budget Approval briefing note for information and 
authorize the Board of Health Chair to sign the HBHC 2018 Request for 
Funding Schedule (Appendix A); 


AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health support the appended 
advocacy letter (Appendix B). 


 


CARRIED 
 


7.2 11:20 - Strategic Planning 2016-2018 Implementation.  Briefing Notes.  C. 
Gardner presented. 


a. Strategic Plan Implementation Outcomes for 2017 


Dr. Gardner reviewed the Strategic Plan Implementation Outcomes 
for 2017.  







The discussion included the potential to develop a closer working 
relationship with the indigenous populations in Simcoe Muskoka. 
This will be brought back to the Board as an item of discussion with 
a staff report at the April Board meeting. 


Motion 7.2 a) 
MOVED BY P. Willmott  
SECONDED BY P. Preager  


THAT the Board of Health Receive the Strategic Plan 
Implementation Outcomes for 2017 as information. 


 


CARRIED 
 


b. Strategic Plan Implementation Recommendations for 2018 


Dr. Gardner reviewed the Strategic Plan Implementation 
Recommendations for 2018. 


The discussion included the opportunities to be addressed by the 
Board at its retreat which is planned for May 2, 2018, and the 
potential to impact on the contents of the 2019 - 2021 Strategic 
Plan being finalized for the Board’s approval at their September 
meeting.  


Motion 7.2 b) 
MOVED BY P. Preager  
SECONDED BY P. Willmott  


THAT the Board of Health approve the Strategic Plan 
Implementation Recommendations for 2018 as documented within 
this briefing note. 


 


CARRIED 
 


7.3 11:40 - Infection Control Lapse and Public Reporting.  Briefing Note.  C. 
Nisbet and Dr. C. Lee presented. 


The staff reported on the challenges involved in investigating potential 
infection control lapses in regulated health professional facilities, as 
required by the revised Infection Prevention and Control Practices 
Complaint Protocol of the Ontario Public Health Standards.  Since the 







introduction of the Protocol in 2015, public health units have been 
responding to infection prevention and control lapses that have been 
increasing over time with a very heavy workload.  Board requested 
that staff return to the April Board meeting with a resolution for the Board 
to submit at the June alPHa Annual General Meeting. 


The chair thanked the staff involved.  


Motion 7.3 
MOVED BY P. Preager  
SECONDED BY P. Willmott  


THAT the Board of Health receive the Infection Control Lapse and Public 
Reporting briefing note for information. 


 


CARRIED 
 


8. Items of Education  


8.1 June 10, 11 & 12, 2018 alPHa Annual General Meeting, Novotel Toronto 
Centre, 45 The Esplanade, Toronto. 


8.2 March 21-23, 2018, The Ontario Public Health Convention (TOPHC) 2018, 
Beanfield Centre, Toronto.  http://www.tophc.ca/schedule/ 


8.3 May 2, 2018, Board Retreat, 9:00 to 12:30 on May 2, 2018 at Hawk Ridge 
Golf Course, 1151 Hurlwood Ln., Orillia – more details to follow. 


8.4 Sandy Cairns attending May 14-18, 2018, Healthy, 10-minute 
Neighborhoods conference, The Shaw Centre, 
Ottawa.  http://www.livablecities.org/conferences/55th-conference-ottawa 


8.5 May 25, 2018, New Board Member Orientation, 9:30 am to 3:30 pm on 
May 25, 2018, Mariposa Room, 15 Sperling Drive, Barrie. 


9. Items of Information  


L. Dollin spoke about a March 9, 2018 news release by the Ministry of Finance 
and Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services entitled Ontario 
Supporting Municipalities to Ensure Safe Transition to Federal Cannabis 
Legalization and that the province is also investing in police training, 
investigations and public education. 


9.1 2016 Annual Report 







2016 Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer of Health of Ontario to the 
Legislative Assembly of Ontario. 


9.2 Memo from Roselle Martino 


Memo from Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Population and 
Public Health Division, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care to Medical 
Officers of Health, Chief Executive Officers, and Board of Health Chairs re 
Ontario Public Health Standards – Implementation Work Plan Updates. 


 


9.3 Letter from Dr. Penny Sutcliffe 


Copy of letter from Dr. Penny Sutcliffe, Chair, Council of Ontario Medical 
Officers of Health, Association of Local Public Health Agencies to the 
Honourable Helena Jaczek, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care re 
Engagement with the Council of Ontario Medical Officers of Health. 


9.4 Letter from Carmen McGregor 


Copy of letter from Carmen McGregor, President, Association of Local 
Public Health Agencies to the Honourable Helena Jaczek, Minister of 
Health and Long-Term Care re Welcome from the Association of Local 
Public Health Agencies (alPHa). 


9.5 Letter from Penny Sutcliffe 


Copy of letter from Penny Sutcliffe, Medical Officer of Health, Sudbury & 
Districts Public Health to Dr. Pierre Zundel, Interim President and Vice-
Chancellor, Laurentian University. Mr. Daniel Giroux, President, Collège 
Boréal and Mr. William Best, President, Cambrian College re Tobacco and 
Smoke-Free Campuses. 


9.6 Letter from Hazel Lynn 


Copy of letter from Hazel Lynn, A/Medical Officer of Health, Grey Bruce 
Health Unit to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and 
Long-Term Care re Smoke-Free Modernization. 


9.7 Email from Dr. C. Gardner 


Email from Dr. Gardner, Medical Officer of Health, Simcoe Muskoka 
District Health Unit to Board of Health Members, Simcoe Muskoka District 
Health Unit re Update regarding the No Money for Food Cent$less 
Campaign. 







9.8 Letters from Hazel Lynn 


a. re Food Insecurity 


Copy of letter from Hazel Lynn, A/Medical Officer of Health, Grey 
Bruce Health Unit to the Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier, 
Minister of Intergovernmental Affairs re Food Insecurity/Nutritious 
Food Basket Costing. 


b. re Vaccine Recommendations for Childcare Workers 


Copy of letter from Hazel Lynn, A/Medical Officer of Health, Grey 
Bruce Health Unit to the Honourable Kathleen Wynne, Premier, 
Minister of Intergovernmental Affairs re Vaccine Recommendations 
for Childcare Workers. 


9.9 Letter from Hazel Lynn 


Copy of letter from Hazel Lynn, A/Medical Officer of Health, Grey Bruce 
Health Unit to the Honourable Dr. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and 
Long-Term Care re Alcohol Retail Sales. 


9.10 Letter from Mayor Harry Hughes 


Copy of letter from Mayor Harry Hughes, Township of Oro Medonte, to the 
Right Honourable Justin Trudeau, Prime Minister re Proposed Changes to 
the Cannabis Act (Bill C-45). 


9.11 Resolution #2017-03 


Copy of Resolution #2017-03 from the Board of Health, Haliburton, 
Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit to Repeal of Section 43 of the 
Criminal Code Refresh 2017 re use of physical punishment of children 
between the ages of 2 and 12. 


9.12 Letter from Mark Lovshin 


Copy of letter from Mark Lovshin, Chair, Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge 
District Health Unit to the Honourable Helena Jaczek, Minister of Health 
and Long-Term Care re 2018 Annual Service Plan including the 2018 
Budget for the Haliburton, Kawartha, Pine Ridge District Health Unit. 


10. Date and Time of Next Meetings  


Wednesday, April 18, 2018, Barrie Office 


Wednesday, May 16, 2018, Barrie Office 


Wednesday, June 20, 2018, Gravenhurst Office 







11. 12:00 - Adjournment  


The meeting was adjourned at 12:28 pm. 


MOVED BY S. Kinsella  
SECONDED BY P. Preager  
 
THAT the Board of Health meeting be adjourned. 


 


CARRIED 
 


 
 


________________________________ ________________________________ 


Scott Warnock 
Chair, Board of Health 


Dr. Charles Gardner 
Medical Officer of Health 
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Tel:  705-726-6331
Fax:  705-722-6588 
www.bdo.ca 


BDO Canada LLP
300 Lakeshore Drive, Suite 300 
Barrie ON  L4N 0B4  Canada 
 


 


BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 


 


 
April 18, 2018 
 
Board of Directors 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
15 Sperling Drive 
Barrie, Ontario 
L4M 6K9 
 
Dear Members of the Board: 
 
We are pleased to present the results of our audit of the financial statements of Simcoe 
Muskoka District Health Unit (the “organization”) for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The 
purpose of our report is to summarize certain aspects of the audit that we believe to be of 
interest to the Board of Directors and should be read in conjunction with the draft financial 
statements. 
 
Our audit and therefore this report will not necessarily identify all matters that may be of 
interest to the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities. 
 
This report has been prepared solely for the use of the Board of Directors and should not be 
distributed without our prior consent.  Consequently, we accept no responsibility to a third 
party that uses this communication. 
 
We wish to express our appreciation for the co-operation we received during the audit from the 
organization’s management and staff who have assisted us in carrying out our work.  We look 
forward to meeting with you to discuss the contents of this report and any other matters that 
you consider appropriate.  
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Kerri Graham, CPA, CA 
Partner 
BDO Canada LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
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STATUS OF THE AUDIT 
 
As of the date of this final report, we have substantially completed our audit of the 2017 
financial statements pending the completion of the items highlighted below.  These items will 
need to be completed prior to issuance of our audit report on the financial statements. 
 
 
 
COMPLETION OF AUDIT 


• Receipt of signed Management representation letter 
• Receipt of outstanding legal confirmations 
• Subsequent events review through to financial statement approval date 


 
 


FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


• Approval of financial statements by the Board of Directors 
 
 
 


We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
The objective of our audit was to obtain reasonable, not absolute, assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  The scope of the work 
performed was substantially the same as that described in our Planning Report to the Board of 
Directors dated November 15, 2017. 
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INDEPENDENCE 
 
At the core of the provision of external audit services is the concept of independence.  
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards require us to communicate to the Board of 
Directors at least annually, all relationships between BDO Canada LLP and its related entities 
and the organization and its related entities, that, in our professional judgment, may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence with respect to the audit of the 
organization – Refer to Appendix A. 


 
MATERIALITY 
Misstatements, including omitted financial statement disclosures, are considered to be 
material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.   
 
As communicated to you in our planning report to the Board of Directors, preliminary 
materiality was $760,000.  Final materiality was increased to $767,000. 
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AUDIT FINDINGS 
 
As part of our ongoing communications with you, we are required to have a discussion on our 
views about significant qualitative aspects of the organization's accounting practices, including 
accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures. In order to have 
a frank and open discussion, these matters will be discussed verbally with you.  A summary of 
the key discussion points are as follows: 
 
 
ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT MATTERS 


Revenue Recognition 


There is a bias to overstate accounts payable/expenses at year-end and thus an overstatement 
of grant revenue to avoid a surplus repayable to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. 


Our planned audit procedures test the purchases made around year-end to ensure they are 
appropriately recorded in the current period and review subsequent payments to ensure that 
there are no additional expenses relating to December 31, 2017 that should be accrued in the 
current period. 


All audit testing in this area was executed as planned and no errors were noted. 


 


Management Override of Controls 


Management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of management’s ability to 
directly or indirectly manipulate accounting records prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. 


We tested the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other 
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial statements. We also obtained an 
understanding of the business rationale for significant transactions that we became aware of 
that were outside the normal course of operations for the organization, or that otherwise 
appear to be unusual given our understanding of the organization and its environment. We 
reviewed accounting estimates for biases and evaluated whether the circumstances producing 
the bias, if any, represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 


All audit testing in this area was executed as planned and no errors were noted. 
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Pay Equity Liability 


Liability relating to the notification by the Ontario Nurses Association (ONA) to bargain 
maintenance of pay equity. Management has recorded a liability in the audited financial 
statements as an estimate of this potential liability. 


CPA Handbook PS 3200 - Liabilities, indicates that a liability should be recognized in the 
financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement AND the amount can 
be reasonably estimated.  


Since this issue is ongoing the amount cannot be reasonably estimated and therefore no 
amount is required to be accrued in the financial statements at December 31, 2017. 


Pay equity liability note added to financial statements disclosing the occurrence of this event. 


 
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNT ESTIMATES 


Management is responsible for determining the organization’s significant accounting policies. 
The choice between accounting policy alternatives can have a significant effect on the 
financial position and results of the organization. The application of those policies often 
involves significant estimates and judgments by management. Based on the audit work that we 
have performed, it is our opinion that the estimates in the financial statements are reasonable 
and the disclosures relating to accounting estimates are in accordance with the requirements 
of Canadian public sector accounting standards. Significant estimates include: 


 
Due to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care – $377,146 (2016 – $227,939) 


The amount due to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care is management’s best estimate 
of this amount. This amount is subject to change upon the Ministry’s final review of the Annual 
Reconciliation Report. 


 
Capital Asset Amortization - $564,742 (2016 - $531,119) 


Tangible capital assets are amortized based on their estimated useful lives, as described in the 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. 


 
Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences - $1,679,180 (2016 - $1,641,847) 


This liability includes sick leave that accumulates and does not vest and other post- 
employment benefits. This liability is quantified by the organization’s actuary. 
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ADJUSTED AND UNADJUSTED DIFFERENCES 
 
We have disclosed all significant adjusted and unadjusted differences and disclosure omissions 
identified through the course of our audit engagement.  Each of these items has been discussed 
with management.   


Management has determined that the unadjusted differences are immaterial both individually 
and in aggregate to the financial statements taken as a whole.  Should the Board of Directors 
agree with this assessment, we do not propose further adjustments. 


For purposes of our discussion, a summary of unadjusted differences and disclosure omissions 
has been presented in Appendix B. 


 
 
MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
During the course of our audit, management made certain representations to us.  These 
representations were verbal or written and therefore explicit, or they were implied through 
the   financial statements.  Management provided representations in response to specific 
queries from us, as well as unsolicited representations.  Such representations were part of the 
evidence gathered by us to be able to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base our audit 
opinion.  These representations were documented by including in the audit working papers 
memoranda of discussions with management and written representations received from 
management. We will provide you a copy of the management representation letter which 
summarizes the representations we have requested from management.  
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FRAUD DISCUSSION 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards require us to discuss fraud risk with the Board 
of Directors on an annual basis.  As an update to the discussion held with the Board of Directors 
during the planning of our audit, we have prepared the following comments: 
  


 
Required Discussion 


  


BDO Response 
 Question to the 


Board of Directors 


Details of existing 
oversight processes 
with regards to fraud. 


 Based on prior years’ audit, the Board of 
Directors’ oversight processes include: 


• Discussions at meetings; and 
 


• Consideration of tone at the top. 


 Are there any new 
processes or changes 
in existing processes 
relating to fraud 
since the date of our 
previous discussions, 
that we should be 
aware of? 


Knowledge of actual, 
suspected or alleged 
fraud. 


 Currently, we are not aware of any 
actual, suspected or alleged fraud. 


 Are you aware of any 
instances of actual, 
suspected or alleged 
fraud affecting the 
organization? 


 
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR DETECTING FRAUD 
 
We are responsible for planning and performing the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free of material misstatements, whether caused by error or fraud.  
 
The likelihood of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the 
likelihood of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, because fraud may 
involve collusion as well as sophisticated and carefully organized schedules designed to conceal 
it. 
 
The scope of the work performed was substantially the same as that described in our Planning 
Report to the Board of Directors dated November 15, 2017.  
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INTERNAL CONTROL MATTERS 
During the course of our audit, we performed the following procedures with respect to the 
organization’s internal control environment: 


• Documented operating systems to assess the design and implementation of control 
activities that were relevant to the audit. 


• Discussed and considered potential audit risks with management. 


The results of these procedures were considered in determining, the extent and nature of 
substantive audit testing required. 
 
We are required to report to you in writing, significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
have identified during the audit. A significant deficiency is defined as a deficiency or 
combination of deficiencies in internal control that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is 
of sufficient importance to merit the attention of those charged with governance.  
 
As the purpose of the audit is for us to express an opinion on the organization’s financial 
statements, our audit cannot be expected to disclose all matters that may be of interest to 
you. As part of our work, we considered internal control relevant to the preparation of the   
financial statements such that we were able to design appropriate audit procedures. This work 
was not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control. 
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OTHER REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 


Professional standards require independent auditors to communicate with those charged with 
governance certain matters in relation to an audit.  In addition to the points communicated 
within this letter, the table below summarizes these additional required communications. 


Communication Required  Auditors’ Response 


Potential effect on the financial statements of any 
material risks and exposures, such as pending litigation, 
that are required to be disclosed in the financial 
statements. 


 Ongoing and pending litigation is 
disclosed as appropriate in the 
notes to the financial 
statements.  


The final draft of the representation letter.  Provided to management. 


Material uncertainties related to events and conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the organization’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 


 None. 


Disagreements with management about matters that, 
individually or in aggregate, could be significant to the 
organization’s financial statements or our audit report. 


 None.  


Matters involving non compliance with laws and 
regulations 


 None. 


Significant related party transactions that are not in the 
normal course of operations and which involve 
significant judgments made by management concerning 
measurement or disclosure. 


 None. 


Subsequent events that have caused changes to the 
audit report 


 None. 


Modifications in opinion  None. 


Emphasis of matters paragraphs or other matters 
paragraphs 


 None. 


Significant matters arising from the audit that were 
discussed or subject to correspondence with 
management.   


 None. 


Unreasonable management’s refusal to allow the 
auditor to send a confirmation request, or the inability 
to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from 
alternative audit procedures. 


 None. 
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Limitation of the scope of the audit imposed by 
management. 


None.


Material misstatements that affect the prior period 
financial statements on which the predecessor auditor 
had previously reported on without modification. 


 None. 


Management consultation with other accountants about 
significant auditing and accounting matters. 


 None. 
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BDO RESOURCES 
 
BDO is one of Canada’s largest accounting services firms providing assurance and accounting, 
taxation, financial advisory, risk advisory, financial recovery and consulting services to a 
variety of publicly traded and privately held companies. 
 
BDO serves its clients through 105 offices across Canada.  As a member firm of BDO 
International Limited, BDO serves its multinational clients through a global network of over 
1,100 offices in more than 100 countries.  Commitment to knowledge and best practice sharing 
ensures that expertise is easily shared across our global network and common methodologies 
and information technology ensures efficient and effective service delivery to our clients. 
 
Outlined below is a summary of certain BDO resources which may be of interest to the Board of 
Directors. 
 


PUBLICATIONS  


 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) Update 2017 
 
Link: https://www.bdo.ca/en-ca/insights/assurance-accounting/psas/public-sector-
accounting-standards-psas-update-2017/  
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April 18, 2018 
 


Board of Directors 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
15 Sperling Drive 
Barrie, ON 
L4M 6K9 
 


Dear Members of the Board: 
 


We have been engaged to audit the financial statements of Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
(the “organization”) for the year ended  December 31, 2017. 
 


Canadian generally accepted auditing standards require that we communicate at least annually 
with you regarding all relationships between the organization and our Firm that, in our 
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 
In determining which relationships to report, these standards require us to consider relevant 
rules and related interpretations prescribed by the appropriate provincial institute and 
applicable legislation, covering such matters as: 
 


• Holding a financial interest, either directly or indirectly in a client; 
• Holding a position, either directly or indirectly, that gives the right or responsibility to 


exert significant influence over the financial or accounting policies of a client; 
• Personal or business relationships of immediate family, close relatives, partners or retired 


partners, either directly or indirectly, with a client; 
• Economic dependence on a client; and 
• Provision of services in addition to the audit engagement. 


 


We have prepared the following comments to facilitate our discussion with you regarding 
independence matters arising since November 15, 2017, the date of our last letter. 
 


We are aware of the following relationships between the organization and our Firm that, in our 
professional judgment may reasonably be thought to have influenced our independence. The 
following relationships represent matters that have occurred from November 15, 2017 to April 
18, 2018. 
 
• We have provided assistance in the preparation of the financial statements, including 


adjusting journal entries. These services created a self-review threat to our independence 
since we subsequently expressed an opinion on whether the financial statements presented 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows 
of the organization in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 


 
• We, therefore, required that the following safeguards be put in place related to the above: 


 
• Management created the source data for all the accounting entries. 
• Management developed any underlying assumptions required with respect to the 


accounting treatment and measurement of the entries. 







 


Tel:  705-726-6331
Fax:  705-722-6588 
www.bdo.ca 


BDO Canada LLP
300 Lakeshore Drive, Suite 300 
Barrie ON  L4N 0B4  Canada 
 


 


 
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 


 


• Management reviewed and approved all journal entries prepared by us, as well as 
changes to financial statement presentation and disclosure. 


• Someone other than the preparer reviewed the proposed journal entries and financial 
statements. 


 
Threats to our Independence Safeguards in Place
 
A familiarity threat exists due to the long-
term relationship between BDO Canada LLP 
and the organization. 


 
Any significant or contentious issues will be 
consulted on as part of the Firm’s consultation 
policy and procedures. 
 
Rotation of BDO staff on the audit 
engagement team. 
 
Board of Directors’ oversight of the audit 
process. 


 
 


We hereby confirm that we are independent with respect to the organization within the 
meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of 
Ontario as of April 18, 2018. 
 


This letter is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, management and others 
within the organization and should not be used for any other purposes. 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 


 
 
 
Kerri Graham, CPA, CA 
Partner 
BDO Canada LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 







  


 


 


 


 


APPENDIX B 
Unadjusted Differences 


 
  







 


 


 


 
 


 


SUMMARY OF UNADJUSTED DIFFERENCES
The following is a summary of uncorrected misstatements noted during the course of our audit engagement:


Increase (Decrease)


Assets                    Liabilities                    Equity                   Net Income


ONA Pay Equity Accrual                                                                      $                         -    $               582,203    $            (582,203)    $                         -


Understated Payable to MOHLTC                                                                                   -                  (380,496)                    326,987                      53,509


Overstated Liabilities                                                                                                    -                      71,345                               -                    (71,345)


Total                                                                                                                            -                    273,052                  (255,216)                    (17,836)


Tax Effect                                                                                                                    -                               -                               -                               -


Effect of Prior Year’s Reversing Errors                                                                           -                               -                               -                               -


Total Unadjusted Differences                                                           $                         -    $             273,052    $           (255,216)    $            (17,836)
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Management Report


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


The accompanying financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit are the responsibility
of the Health Unit's management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.  A summary of significant accounting policies is attached to the financial
statements.


The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's
judgment, particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized
with certainty until future periods.


The Health Unit's management maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance
with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely
basis for preparation of the financial statements.  These systems are monitored and evaluated by
management.


The Board of Directors meets with management and the external auditors to review the financial
statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their
approval of the financial statements.


The financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada LLP, independent external auditors
appointed by the Board of Directors.  The accompanying Independent Auditor's Report outlines their
responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the Health Unit's financial
statements.


                                                                                                              
Chair, Board of Directors Sandra Horney 


Director of Program Foundations and Finance
April 18, 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report


To the Chair and Members of the Board of Directors
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the statement of
operations, statement of change in net financial assets (debt) and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditor's Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation  and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.


Opinion


In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit as at December 31, 2017 and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.


Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants


Barrie, Ontario
April 18, 2018
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Financial Position


December 31 2017 2016


Financial Assets
Cash and short-term deposits (note 1) $ 6,657,496 $ 6,030,093
Accounts receivable (note 2) 640,751 668,184
Due from Province of Ontario - Other (note 3) 2,751 2,751


7,300,998 6,701,028


Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4) 4,116,794 3,756,208
Due to Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (note 13 (a))  377,146 227,939
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences (note 18) 1,679,180 1,641,847
Deferred revenue (note 6) 219,835 645,090


6,392,955 6,271,084


Net Financial Assets 908,043 429,944


Non-Financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 1,835,144 1,689,556
Prepaid expenses 352,139 370,959


2,187,283 2,060,515


Accumulated Surplus (note 7) $ 3,095,326 $ 2,490,459


Contingencies (note 13)


Contractual Obligations (note 14)


On behalf of the Board:


    Director


    Director


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
4
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Operations


For the year ended December 31 2017  Budget 2017 2016


(note 21)
Revenues


Operating grants
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care


 - Mandatory Programs (note 15) $ 27,288,533 $ 27,260,205 $ 26,424,861
County of Simcoe (note 10) 4,332,367 4,332,372 5,059,539
Ministry of Children and Youth Services 2,543,133 2,475,628 2,573,133
City of Barrie 1,715,313 1,715,316 1,652,220
District of Muskoka (note 10) 1,416,126 1,416,120 1,431,879
City of Orillia 386,069 386,069 373,218
District of Parry Sound - - 5,639


     


37,681,541 37,585,710 37,520,489
Interest earned 40,000 53,472 35,658
Other 383,126 402,668 357,158


38,104,667 38,041,850 37,913,305


Expenses (note 20)
Public Health Program 28,845,054 27,884,915 27,501,647
Healthy Babies, Healthy Children Program 2,543,133 2,475,628 2,573,133
Healthy Smiles Ontario Program 2,374,000 2,381,112 2,180,588
Smoke Free Ontario Programs 1,375,700 1,391,153 1,414,233
Infectious Diseases Control Initiative 777,900 777,900 777,900
One Time (Including One Time Capital) 640,900 259,802 13,142
Harm Reduction Program Enhancement 250,000 250,000 -
Small Drinking Water Systems 208,667 208,667 208,667
Public Health Nurses Initiative 180,500 180,500 180,500
Vector Borne Diseases Program 156,800 160,837 154,440
Panorama 137,300 134,900 155,300
Library Hub 133,918 130,307 133,465
Chief Nursing Officer Initiative 121,500 121,500 121,500
Medical Officers of Health Compensation 142,000 120,479 128,430
Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program 90,300 90,300 90,300
Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative 90,100 90,100 90,100
Needle Exchange Program Initiative 83,400 52,700 40,700
Anonymous HIV Testing Program 49,676 49,502 48,976
Enhanced Safe Water Initiative 40,200 40,200 40,200
Other 2,500 23,205 8,733
Public Health Inspector Practicum Program 10,000 10,000 10,000
Ontario Dental Works Program - - 826,568
Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP Program - - 68,000
Immunization of School Pupils Act 50,000 - 41,500


38,303,548 36,833,707 36,808,022


Annual surplus before adjustments  (198,881) 1,208,143 1,105,283


Amortization expense 564,742 564,742 531,119
Change in accrued vacation pay - 1,201 (24,409)
Change in post-employment benefits and compensated


absences - 37,333 18,205
564,742 603,276 524,915


Annual surplus (deficit) for the year (763,623) 604,867 580,368
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 2,490,459 2,490,459 1,910,091
Accumulated surplus, end of year (note 7) $ 1,726,836 $ 3,095,326 $ 2,490,459


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
5
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets (Debt)


For the year ended December 31 2017  Budget 2017 2016


(note 21)


Annual surplus (deficit) $ (763,623) $ 604,867 $ 580,368


Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (710,330) (390,014)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 564,742 564,742 531,119


564,742 (145,588) 141,105


Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (352,139) (370,959)
Use of prepaids - 370,959 335,415


- 18,820 (35,544)


Change in net financial assets (debt) (198,881) 478,099 685,929


Net financial assets (debt), beginning of
year 429,944 429,944 (255,985)


Net financial assets, end of year $ 231,063 $ 908,043 $ 429,944


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
6
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
 Statement of Cash Flows


December 31 2017 2016


Cash provided by (used in)


Operating transactions
Annual surplus $ 604,867 $ 580,368
Items not involving cash


Amortization of tangible capital assets 564,742 531,119


1,169,609 1,111,487


Changes in non-cash working capital balances 
Accounts receivable 27,433 (31,831)
Amount due from Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 149,207 374,041
Prepaid expenses 18,820 (35,544)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 360,586 551,651
Deferred revenue (425,255) 102,173
Post-employment benefits and compensated absences 37,333 18,205


1,337,733 2,090,182


Capital transactions
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (710,330) (390,014)


Increase in cash and short-term deposits during the year 627,403 1,700,168


Cash and short-term deposits, beginning of year 6,030,093 4,329,925


Cash and short-term deposits, end of year $ 6,657,496 $ 6,030,093


Represented by:
Unrestricted cash $ 5,184,943 $ 4,567,882
Term deposits (note 1) 1,472,553 1,462,211


$ 6,657,496 $ 6,030,093


The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements
7
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                                     Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


For the year ended December 31, 2017


Management's 
 Responsibility for the
 Financial Statements The financial statements of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit are


the responsibility of management. They have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards established
by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada.


Nature and Purpose
of Organization The Health Unit is responsible for providing public health services to the


residents of Muskoka and the County of Simcoe as set out under the
provisions of the Health Protection and Promotion Act.  The Health Unit
is a non-profit organization and is a registered charity exempt from
income taxes under the Income Tax Act.


Basis of Accounting These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian public
sector accounting standards.


Revenue Recognition Provincial funding revenues are recognized in the year to which the
program relates.  Municipal revenues are recognized in the year they are
levied to member municipalities.  Other revenues are recognized when
services are provided and collection is reasonably assured. Investment
revenue is recognized in the period earned.


Deferred Revenue Funds received for specific purposes which are for future services are
accounted for as deferred revenue in the statement of financial position.
The revenue is recognized in the statement of operations in the year
which services are provided and grant conditions are met.


Tangible Capital Assets Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts
that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development
or betterment of the asset.  Contributed tangible capital assets are
recorded at their fair market value at the date of receipt.  The cost of
the tangible capital assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:


Equipment and furniture 5 to 20 years straight-line
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line
Leasehold improvements 5 to 20 years straight-line
Dental van 7 years straight-line
Vehicles 5 years straight-line


Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available
for productive use.
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                                     Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


For the year ended December 31, 2017


Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  The
principal estimates used in the preparation of these financial statements
are the estimated useful life of capital assets, the amounts due to and
from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and the post-
employment and compensated absences liability.  Actual results could
differ from management's best estimates as additional information
becomes available in the future.


Retirement and Post-Employment
  Benefits and Compensated
  Absences The Health Unit provides defined retirement and post-employment


benefits and compensated absences to certain employee groups.  These
benefits include pension, health, dental and insurance and non-vesting
sick leave.  The Health Unit has adopted the following policies with
respect to accounting for these employee benefits:


(i)  The costs of post-employment future benefits are actuarially
determined using management's best estimate of health care costs,
expected salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and discount
rates.  Adjustments to these costs arising from changes in estimates and
experience gains and losses are amortized to income over the estimated
average remaining service life of the employee groups on a straight line
basis;


(ii)  The cost of the multi-employer defined benefit pension plan is the
Health Unit's contributions due to the plan in the period;


(iii)  The cost of non-vesting sick leave benefits are actuarially
determined using management's best estimate of salary escalation,
employees' use of entitlement and discount rates.  Adjustments to these
costs arising from changes in actuarial assumption and/or experience are
recognized over the estimated average remaining service life of the
employees;


(iv)  The discount rate used in the determination of the above mentioned
liabilities is equal to the Health Unit's hypothetical cost of borrowing.
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


1. Cash and Short-Term Deposits


The Health Unit's bank account is held at a chartered bank.  The bank account earns interest at a
variable rate dependent on the monthly minimum balance.


In addition, the Health Unit has an operating line of credit facility available in the amount of
$200,000.  Outstanding amounts bear interest at the bank's prime rate plus 0.25% and are secured
by a general security agreement.  There is no balance outstanding at December 31, 2017.


Cash and short-term deposits, consists of three guaranteed investment certificates with a total face
value of $1,472,553, interest ranging from 1.10% to 1.75% and maturity dates ranging from March
26, 2018 to April 4, 2018 (2016 - $1,462,211, interest at 1.00% and maturity dates ranging from
March 29, 2017 to April 4, 2017).


2. Accounts Receivable


2017 2016


HST recoverable $ 576,506 $ 477,653
County of Simcoe - 130,856
Other 64,245 59,675


$ 640,751 $ 668,184


3. Due from Province of Ontario - Other


2017 2016


Provincial share of sick leave benefits to be recovered when
certain non-union employees terminate employment with
the Health Unit $ 2,751 $ 2,751


4. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities


2017 2016


Trade and other $ 1,028,314 $ 694,686
Salaries and benefits 2,556,719 2,530,961
Accrued vacation pay liability 531,761 530,561


$ 4,116,794 $ 3,756,208
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


5. Tangible Capital Assets


2017


Equipment and Computer Leasehold
Furniture Equipment Improvements Dental Van Vehicles Total


Cost, beginning of year $ 424,834 $ 1,374,267 $ 2,668,476 $ 483,915 $ 114,287 $ 5,065,779
Additions 166,391 284,653 237,676 - 21,610 710,330
Disposals - (6,436) (23,372) - - (29,808)


Cost, end of year 591,225 1,652,484 2,882,780 483,915 135,897 5,746,301


Accumulated amortization,
beginning of year 285,242 1,150,837 1,507,757 414,784 17,603 3,376,223


Amortization 40,275 154,918 275,399 69,131 25,019 564,742
Disposals - (6,436) (23,372) - - (29,808)


Accumulated amortization, end of year 325,517 1,299,319 1,759,784 483,915 42,622 3,911,157


Net carrying amount, end of year $ 265,708 $ 353,165 $ 1,122,996 $ - $ 93,275 $ 1,835,144
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


5. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)


2016


Equipment and Computer Leasehold
Furniture Equipment Improvements Dental Van Vehicles Total


Cost, beginning of year $ 424,834 $1,205,117 $2,503,483 $ 483,915 $ 58,416 $4,675,765
Additions - 169,150 164,993 - 55,871 390,014


Cost, end of year 424,834 1,374,267 2,668,476 483,915 114,287 5,065,779


Accumulated amortization, beginning of year 257,034 984,005 1,252,492 345,653 5,920 2,845,104
Amortization 28,208 166,832 255,265 69,131 11,683 531,119


Accumulated amortization, end of year 285,242 1,150,837 1,507,757 414,784 17,603 3,376,223


Net carrying amount, end of year $ 139,592 $ 223,430 $1,160,719 $ 69,131 $ 96,684 $1,689,556
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


6. Deferred Revenue


The Health Unit operates a number of programs in which funding is received for the period April 1
to March 31.  Therefore any funding received for these programs where the expenses have not been
incurred at December 31, 2017, is recorded as deferred revenue.


In addition, the Health Unit has received fiscal 2018 municipal operating grants which have also
been included in deferred revenue.


7. Accumulated Surplus


2017  2016


Surplus (note 8) $ 1,283,114 $ 678,456
Internally restricted reserves (note 9) 1,812,212 1,812,003


$ 3,095,326 $ 2,490,459


8.    Surplus 


2017 2016


Balance, beginning of year $ 678,456 $ 98,784
Annual surplus 604,867 580,368
Transfer to Sick Leave Reserve (note 9) (209) (696)


Balance, end of year $ 1,283,114 $ 678,456


The allocation of the surplus balance at the end of the year is as follows:
2017 2016


County of Simcoe $ 707,673 $ 373,960
City of Barrie 277,946 145,820
City of Orillia 62,708 32,970
District of Muskoka 234,787 125,706


$ 1,283,114 $ 678,456
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


9. Internally Restricted Reserve Funds


Sick Leave Reserve Fund


A reserve fund is maintained to cover the municipal share of sick leave benefits as described in note
17. 


2017 2016


Balance, beginning of the year $ 47,300 $ 46,604
Transfer from surplus 209 696


Balance, end of the year $ 47,509 $ 47,300


Contingency Reserve


The purpose of the contingency reserve is to cover unforeseen public health emergencies including,
but not limited to, communicable disease outbreaks and localized or mass immunization
requirements as determined by the Board of Health.  The total value of the contingency reserve
fund at the end of any one year is to be no more than five percent of the Health Unit's annual
approved public health budget. 


2017 2016


Balance, beginning and end of the year $ 1,019,609 $ 1,019,609


Capital Fund Reserve


The purpose of the capital reserve fund is to cover expenses related to the five year infrastructure
plan. 


2017 2016


Balance, beginning and end of the year $ 745,094 $ 745,094


Total Internally Restricted Reserve Funds $ 1,812,212 $ 1,812,003
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


10. Operating Grants


County of Simcoe
2017 2016


Cost Shared Program
Public Health Program $ 4,332,372 $ 4,246,128


100% Funded Programs
Ontario Works Dental Program - Administration Fee - 161,369
Ontario Works Dental Program - Dental Claims - 652,042


- 813,411


$ 4,332,372 $ 5,059,539


District of Muskoka
2017 2016


Cost Shared Program
Public Health Program $ 1,416,120 $ 1,424,388


100% Funded Programs
Ontario Works Dental Program - Administration Fee - 7,491


$ 1,416,120 $ 1,431,879


11. Segmented Reporting


The Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Accounting Handbook Section PS 2700, Segment
Disclosures, establishes standards on defining and disclosing segments in a government's financial
statements.  Government organizations that apply these standards are encouraged to provide
disclosures established by this section when their operations are diverse enough to warrant such
disclosures.  The Health Unit has only one identifiable segment, considered to be public health, as
presented in these financial statements.


12. Pay Equity


The Health Unit has been notified that the Ontario Nurses Association (ONA) has served notice to
bargain maintenance of pay equity.  The ultimate resolution, including the amount of award, if any,
is undeterminable at this time.


15


DRAFT - S
UBJECT TO CHANGE







Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


13. Contingencies


(a) The Health Unit receives annual funding from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and the
amount of funding provided is subject to final review and approval by the Ministry.  As at the
date of these financial statements, funding for the year ended December 31, 2017 has not been
subject to this review process. Any future adjustments required as a result of this review will be
accounted for at the time the adjustments are determined.


(b) During the normal course of operations, various proceedings and claims are filed against the
Health Unit. The Health Unit reviews the validity of these claims and proceedings and
management believes any settlement would be adequately covered by its insurance policies and
would not have a material effect on the financial position or future results of operations of the
Health Unit. Accordingly, no provision has been made in these financial statements for any
liability that may result. Any losses arising from claims and proceedings will be recorded in the
year the related litigation is settled. 


14. Contractual Obligations


(a) Office space


The Health Unit leases office space at its main office in Barrie and for its branch offices in
Collingwood, Barrie, Midland, Cookstown, Huntsville, Gravenhurst and Orillia.  These operating
leases have varying expiry dates ranging from 2018 to the year 2028.


The minimum annual lease payments required over the next five years are as follows:


2018 - $1,210,144 2021 - $780,776
2019 - $1,150,895 2022 - $210,059 
2020 - $1,093,148


The Health Unit has entered into a new lease agreement for a new facility in Midland that is
currently being constructed.   The lessor is financing the initial costs of constructing the Health
Unit's portion of the facility in the amount of $798,627.  The lease includes a capital cost
recovery rent in the amount of $7,109 per month with interest at 1.35% and the Health Unit can
make additional payments at any time.  The Health Unit will pay an additional rent in the
amount of $1,830 per month to cover operational costs such as maintenance and utilities and
this amount will be determined on an annual basis.  The lease is for a term of ten years with an
option by the Health Unit to renew for an additional ten years.  The Health Unit expects to take
occupancy of the new facility in September 2018.  No amount has been included in the above
future lease commitments with respect to this lease. 


(b) Office equipment and vehicles


The Health Unit rents office equipment and leases vehicles under long-term operating leases
which extend to the year 2020.  The minimum annual payments over the next three years under
the terms of these leases are as follows:


 2018 - $37,251  2020 - $12,420
 2019 - $14,904


16


DRAFT - S
UBJECT TO CHANGE







Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


15. Operating Grants - Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care
2017 2016


Cost Shared Programs
Public Health Program $20,701,000 $ 20,701,000
Small Drinking Water Systems 156,500 156,500
Vector Borne Diseases Program (formerly West Nile Virus) 117,600 129,325
Meningococcal Program 89,607 46,691
HPV Program 93,237 70,839
Universal Influenza Immunization Program 1,645 1,355
One Time - 12,453


21,159,589 21,118,163


100% Funded Programs
Healthy Smiles Ontario Program 2,184,000 2,097,606
Smoke Free Ontario Programs


-Enforcement and Protection                                              518,900 518,900
-Youth Tobacco Use Prevention 80,000 80,000
-Tobacco Control Area Network Prevention 300,800 300,800
-Tobacco Control Area Network Coordination 285,800 285,800
-Tobacco Control Coordination 100,000 100,000
-Prosecution 5,984 4,876
-Electronic Cigarettes Act 84,400 108,800
-Expanded Smoking Cessation Programming 15,270 11,457
-One Time Enforcement Tablet Upgrade - 3,600


Infectious Diseases Control Initiative 777,900 777,900
One Time (Including One Time Capital) 607,381 1,453
Harm Reduction Enhancement Program 250,000 -
Public Health Nurses Initiative 180,500 180,500
Panorama 134,900 155,300
Chief Nursing Officer Initiative 121,500 121,500
Medical Officers of Health Compensation 120,479 128,430
Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program 90,300 90,300
Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative Program 90,100 90,100
Enhanced Safe Water Initiative 40,200 40,200
Anonymous HIV Testing Program 49,502 48,976
Needle Exchange Program Initiative 52,700 40,700
Public Health Inspector Practicum Program 10,000 10,000
Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP - 68,000
Immunization of School Pupils Act - 41,500


6,100,616 5,306,698


$27,260,205 $ 26,424,861
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


16. Pension Agreement


The Health Unit makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund
("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer pension plan, on behalf of full-time members of staff. The
plan is a defined benefit plan, which specifies the amount of the retirement benefit to be received
by the employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. The Board of Trustees,
representing plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the management of the
pension plan, including investment of the assets and administration of the benefits. OMERS provides
pension services to more than 482,000 active and retired members and approximately 1,000
employers. 


Each year an independent actuary determines the funding status of OMERS Primary Pension Plan
(the Plan) by comparing the actuarial value of invested assets to the estimated present value of all
pension benefits that members have earned to date. The most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan
was conducted at December 31, 2017. The results of this valuation disclosed total actuarial
liabilities of $94,431 million (2016 - $87,554 million) in respect of benefits accrued for service with
actuarial assets at that date of $89,028 million (2016 - $81,834 million) indicating an actuarial
deficit of $5,403 million (2016 - $5,720 million). Because OMERS is a multi-employer plan, any
pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint responsibility of Ontario municipal organizations and
their employees. As a result, the Health Unit does not recognize any share of the OMERS pension
surplus or deficit.  


Contributions made by the Health Unit to OMERS for 2017 were $2,397,943 (2016 - $2,382,352).


17. Liability for Vested Sick Leave Benefits


(a) Union employees
In 1988, the sick leave benefit plan covered by a union agreement was amended, removing the
employees' entitlement to a cash payment for unused sick leave credits upon termination of
employment.  The amount accumulated up to the date of this amendment will be paid to those
employees upon termination of employment with the Health Unit.
As at December 31, 2017, this unpaid balance amounted to $1,271 (2016 - $1,246) and no provision
has been made for this liability in these financial statements. Payments made under this plan during
the year amounted to $NIL (2016 - $NIL).


(b) Non-union employees


In 1981, the Health Unit discontinued its sick leave benefit plan under which non-union employees
were entitled to a cash payment for unused sick leave credits upon termination of employment.
Upon discontinuation of the plan, these employees were entitled to 50% of their unused sick leave
credit, one-half of which was paid in 1981.  The balance is due when the employee terminates
employment with the Health Unit.
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


17. Liability for Vested Sick Leave Benefits (continued)


As at December 31, 2017, this unpaid balance amounted to $9,750 (2016 - $11,781) and no provision
has been made for this liability in these financial statements.  Payments made under this plan
during the year amounted to $2,387 (2016 - $NIL).


No provision has been made in these financial statements to cover these unpaid balances.  The
provincial share of the unpaid balances are recoverable only after the actual disbursement of funds.
A reserve fund has been established to provide for the municipal share of these unpaid balances and
is reported on the statement of financial position (see note 9).  


Anticipated payments over the next year approximate $7,500.


18. Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences Liability


The following tables outline the components of the Health Unit's post-employment benefits and
compensated absences liabilities and related expenses.


Post-employment) Non-vesting Total     Total
Benefits Sick Leave 2017 2016


Accrued benefit liability,
   beginning of year $ 803,995 $ 837,852 $ 1,641,847 $ 1,623,642
Expense for the year (below) 109,417 221,423 330,840 319,860
Actuarial loss 217,569 257,946 475,515 521,089
Benefits paid (99,284) (194,223) (293,507) (301,655)


Accrued benefit obligation, 
   end of year 1,031,697 1,122,998 2,154,695 2,162,936
Unamortized actuarial loss (217,569) (257,946) (475,515) (521,089)


Accrued benefit liability, 
   end of year $ 814,128 $ 865,052 $ 1,679,180 $ 1,641,847


Post-employment) Non-vesting Total     Total
Benefits Sick Leave 2017 2016


Current year benefit cost $ 44,020 $ 146,236 $ 190,256 $ 178,494
Interest on accrued benefit obligation 45,618 49,392 95,010 95,792
Amortized actuarial losses 19,779 25,795 45,574 45,574


Total expense $ 109,417 $ 221,423 $ 330,840 $ 319,860
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


18. Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences Liability (continued)


Post-Employment Benefits


The Health Units offers post-employment life insurance, health and dental benefits to eligible
employee groups subsequent to their retirement.  The Health Unit contributes 50% towards the
premiums for these benefits.  The Health Unit recognizes these benefits as they are earned during
the employees' tenure of service.  The related benefit liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation completed as at December 31, 2015.  The actuarial loss of $257,127 will be amortized
over 13 years beginning in fiscal 2016, which is the estimated average remaining service life.


Non-Vesting Sick Leave


The Health Unit allocates to certain employee groups a specified number of days each year for use
as paid absences in the event of illness or injury.  These days do not vest and are available
immediately.  Employees are permitted to accumulate their unused allocation each year, up to the
allowable maximum provided in their employment agreements.  Accumulated days may be used in
future years to the extent that the employees' illness or injury exceeds the current year's allocation
of days.  Sick days are paid out at the salary in effect at the time of usage.  The related benefit
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation completed as at December 31, 2015.  The
actuarial loss of $309,536 will be amortized over 12 years beginning in fiscal 2016, which is the
estimated average remaining service life.


The assumptions used in the valuation of post-employment benefits and compensated absences are
the Health Unit's best estimates of expected rates of:


2017 2016


Future cost of long term debt 4.50% 4.50%
Future inflation rates 2.00% 2.00%
Salaries escalation 3.00% 3.00%
Dental costs escalation 4.00% 4.00%


19. Economic Dependence


Substantially all of the Health Unit's revenue is received from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term
Care and municipalities in its district.  The continuation of the Health Unit is dependent on this
funding.


20


DRAFT - S
UBJECT TO CHANGE







Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Notes to the Financial Statements


For the year ended December 31, 2017


20. Expenses by Object
2017 2016


Salaries, wages $24,836,769 $ 24,612,386
Employee benefits 6,986,618 7,114,643
Occupancy 1,687,856 1,632,237
Medical and dental services - 669,613
Information technology 705,961 541,797
Amortization 564,742 531,119
Program materials and supplies 546,643 513,897
Travel 474,273 477,318
Purchased services 349,053 272,556
Professional fees 277,722 232,616
Telecommunications 295,978 217,966
Postage and courier 121,535 136,769
Professional development 180,008 129,760
Office supplies 151,212 76,394
Advertising 66,671 43,128
Insurance 45,218 42,327
Equipment and maintenance 89,162 40,706
Board 39,174 28,779
Payroll and bank charges 18,388 18,926


$37,436,983 $ 37,332,937


21. Budget


The budget adopted by the Health Unit was not prepared on a basis consistent with that used to
report actual results (Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards).  The budget was prepared on a
modified accrual basis while Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards require a full accrual
basis.  The budget expensed all tangible capital expenditures rather than including amortization
expense.  As a result, the budget figures presented in the statement of operations and change in net
financial debt represent the budget adopted by the Health Unit with adjustments as follows:


Budgeted deficit for the year, as approved $ (198,881)
Add budgeted capital expenditures -
Less amortization (564,742)


Budgeted deficit per statement of operations $ (763,623)
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 1


Public Health Cost Shared Mandatory Program


Budget Actual Actual
For the year ended December 31 2017 2017 2016


Salaries, wages and benefits
Salaries $19,425,042 $18,702,229 $ 18,690,816
Benefits 5,633,262 5,240,805 5,415,156


Total salaries, wages and benefits 25,058,304 23,943,034 24,105,972


Occupancy 1,570,000 1,623,046 1,574,321


Operating
Advertising 10,000 66,671 42,665
Equipment and maintenance 60,000 89,162 40,706
Information technology 600,000 578,957 468,508
Office supplies 131,250 113,271 54,458
Postage and courier 128,500 121,535 136,769
Professional development 144,500 154,971 110,288
Program materials and supplies 238,000 247,182 173,380
Telecommunications 292,000 281,334 211,762
Travel 349,500 299,439 266,382


1,953,750 1,952,522 1,504,918


Administration
Board 30,000 39,174 28,779
Insurance 45,000 45,218 42,327
Payroll and bank charges 18,000 18,389 18,925
Professional services 170,000 263,532 226,405


263,000 366,313 316,436


Total mandatory program expenses $28,845,054 $27,884,915 $ 27,501,647
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Healthy Babies, Healthy Children Program
Salaries, wages and benefits


Program staff and support staff $ 1,830,604 $ 1,913,880
Benefits 531,190 554,958


Total salaries, wages and benefits 2,361,794 2,468,838


Computer leasing 10,400 10,400
Equipment 7,940 4,534
Professional development 10,538 5,498
Professional services 5,000 1,336
Program materials and supplies 12,345 7,400
Travel 67,611 75,127


$ 2,475,628 $ 2,573,133


Enhanced Safe Water Initiative
Salaries $ 31,163 $ 31,163
Benefits 9,037 9,037


$ 40,200 $ 40,200


Vector Borne Diseases Program (formerly West Nile Virus)
Salaries, wages and benefits


Program staff and support staff $ 62,411 $ 64,020
Benefits 13,524 14,087


Total salaries, wages and benefits 75,935 78,107


Professional development 390 225
Program materials and supplies 4,176 4,691
Purchased services 17,717 11,050
Travel 6,473 6,384


104,691 100,457


Payments to municipalities for expenses incurred 56,146 53,983


$ 160,837 $ 154,440
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Enhanced Food Safety Haines Initiative Program
Salaries $ 70,000 $ 70,000
Benefits 20,300 20,300


$ 90,300 $ 90,300


Public Health Nurses Initiative
Salaries $ 139,922 $ 139,922
Benefits 40,578 40,578


$ 180,500 $ 180,500


Needle Exchange Program Initiative
Program materials and supplies $ 52,700 $ 40,700


Small Drinking Water Systems
Salaries $ 159,576 $ 154,062
Benefits 46,277 44,678
Purchased services 604 604
Travel 2,210 9,323


$ 208,667 $ 208,667


Infectious Diseases Control Initiative
Salaries $ 579,767 $ 570,056
Benefits 168,133 165,316
Professional development - 699
Program materials and supplies 30,000 30,529
Purchased services - 2,314
Travel - 8,986


$ 777,900 $ 777,900


Ontario Dental Works Program
Salaries $ - $ 132,785
Benefits - 39,969
Dental fees - 652,042
Other - 1,772


$ - $ 826,568
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Anonymous HIV Testing Program
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 49,502 $ 48,976


Medical Officers of Health Compensation
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 120,479 $ 128,430


Healthy Smiles Ontario Program
Salaries, wages and benefits


Salaries $ 1,561,298 $ 1,429,683
Benefits 452,777 412,318


Total salaries, wages and benefits 2,014,075 1,842,001


Purchased services 27,153 42,744
Equipment 48,986 43,066
Professional development 8,318 4,600
Program materials and supplies 148,808 110,175
Occupancy 64,810 57,917
Telephone 5,472 6,074
Travel 63,490 74,011


$ 2,381,112 $ 2,180,588


Infection Prevention and Control Nurses Initiative Program
Salaries $ 69,845 $ 69,842
Benefits 20,255 20,258


$ 90,100 $ 90,100


One Time (Including One Time Capital)
Salaries, wages and benefits


Salaries $ 153,197 $ -
Benefits 42,975 -


Total salaries, wages and benefits 196,172 -


Purchased services 746 -
Equipment 20,231 13,142
Consulting 3,205 -
Technology 39,448 -


$ 259,802 $ 13,142
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Immunization of School Pupils Act
Salaries and wages $ - $ 31,462
Benefits - 4,097
Program materials and supplies - 5,478
Purchased services - 463


$ - $ 41,500


Chief Nursing Officer Initiative
Salaries and wages $ 94,186 $ 94,186
Benefits 27,314 27,314


$ 121,500 $ 121,500


Library Hub
Salaries and wages $ 79,789 $ 81,180
Benefits 23,139 23,542
Professional development 336 938
Program materials and supplies 26,340 27,153
Travel 703 652


$ 130,307 $ 133,465


Panorama
Salaries and wages $ 104,574 $ 120,388
Benefits 30,326 34,912


$ 134,900 $ 155,300


Public Health Inspector Practicum Program
Salaries, wages and benefits $ 10,000 $ 10,000


Harm Reduction Program Enhancement
Salaries and wages $ 167,443 $ -
Benefits 48,957 -
Other 33,600 $ -


$ 250,000 $ -


Pharmacists Integration into the UIIP Program
Salaries and wages $ - $ 51,163
Benefits - 14,837
Travel - 2,000


$ - $ 68,000
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Smoke Free Ontario


Enforcement and Protection
Salaries $ 368,117 $ 372,286
Benefits 106,752 107,494
Program materials and supplies 4,273 1,678
Professional development 1,500 2,569
Purchased services 7,219 6,858
Travel 31,039 28,015


$ 518,900 $ 518,900


Tobacco Control Area Network Coordination
Salaries $ 221,550 $ 221,187
Benefits 64,250 64,613


$ 285,800 $ 285,800


Tobacco Control Coordination
Salaries $ 77,521 $ 77,519
Benefits 22,479 22,481


$ 100,000 $ 100,000


Youth Tobacco Use Prevention Program
Salaries $ 58,974 $ 57,941
Benefits 17,102 16,803
Program materials and supplies 2,649 2,496
Purchased services 909 2,081
Travel 366 679


$ 80,000 $ 80,000


27


DRAFT - S
UBJECT TO CHANGE







Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit
Schedule 2


Other Public Health Programs


For the year ended December 31 2017 2016


Smoke Free Ontario  (continued)


Tobacco Control Area Network Prevention
Salaries $ 54,545 $ 51,412
Benefits 10,110 10,607
Program materials and supplies 43,564 119,326
Professional development 3,955 4,944
Purchased services 185,685 109,888
Travel 2,941 4,623


$ 300,800 $ 300,800


Prosecution
Prosecution $ 5,983 $ 4,876


Electronic Cigarettes Act
Salaries and wages $ 42,171 $ 58,208
Benefits 12,229 16,880
Services - 32,577
Travel - 1,135


$ 54,400 $ 108,800


Electronic Cigarettes Act: TCAN One Time
Salaries and wages $ 21,304 $ -
Benefits 6,178 -
Program materials and supplies 1,985 -
Travel 533 -


$ 30,000 $ -


Expanded Smoking Cessation Programming for Priority Populations
Program materials and supplies $ 15,270 $ 11,457


Enforcement Tablet Upgrade


Program materials and supplies $ - $ 3,600
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Item #6.2 
 


Review of Board of Health Bylaws 
 
 
Update: 2 Date: April 18, 2018 
 
Issue 
 
In accordance with the Organizational Standards of the Ontario Public Health Standards: 
Requirements for Programs, Services, and Accountability (OPHS), the Board of Health shall 
ensure that bylaws, policies and procedures are reviewed and revised as necessary and at least 
every two years. On September 20, 2017 the Board received a briefing note with a proposed 
timeline and process for the review of its bylaws; this included the recommendation that a legal 
review of the bylaws be done. On January 17, 2018 the Board received a briefing note on the 
legal firm that was awarded the contract to provide a legal review of the Board’s bylaws. The 
review is provided in the PowerPoint presentation in keeping with the contract provided in 
Appendix A.  
 
Recommendation 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive this briefing note as information for its consideration at the 
April 18th meeting and during its retreat on May 2, 2018.  
 
Current Facts 
 
Borden Ladner Gervais (BLG) was selected by the Medical Officer of Health (MOH) in 
discussion with the Board chair based on the outcome of the overall findings of the team 
assessment. This legal team has a substantial base of experience and expertise working with 
health care boards on the review and revision of their bylaws. In accordance with agency 
procurement policy, the MOH may approve contacts of less than $100,000 using a competitive 
procurement process. Following consultation with the Board chair in late December, the MOH 
proceeded with offering to award this contract to BLG.  
 
BLG representatives conducted the review in accordance with their contract, taking into account 
the legislation and provincial policy documents, as well as Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
(SMDHU) Board bylaws and the bylaws of peer health units identified on slides 3 to 5 in 
Appendix A. In addition, they interviewed Board and staff members as identified on slide 6. Key 
considerations that they considered in keeping with our direction are identified on slides 7 and 8.  
 
Key findings and recommendations include the following: 
 


• The bylaws should reflect the more informal approach actually taken to the Board’s 
meetings, with a recommendation that Nathan’s Rule of Order to be cited (slides 11 and 
12).  


• The need to change the bylaws to comply with requirements on the Municipal Act 
regarding the documentation of decisions made in camera (slide 19); to allow for remote 



http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/
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participation (but not during closed session, and not to be part of quorum – slides 13 to 
15); criteria for subject matter to go in camera (slides 19 to 25); Board member 
orientation and education (slides 40 and 41); Board composition 1; Board budgets and 
expenditures (slides 48 to 52);  


• Subcommittees should be included within the bylaws (slides 16 to 18). 2 
• Revision are recommended of the Board bylaw amendment process (slides 28 to 30).  
• The bylaws should be indexed to facilitate their use (slides 26 and 27).  
• Much of the content presently within the bylaws as well as additional content that is 


legislatively required or recommended by best practice should be captured within new 
Board policies in support of its bylaws. A listing of the subject matter for such policies is 
included in slides 31 to 39.  


• Board policy should include consent agendas for the Board meetings, and that they be 
developed with discussion between the Medical Officer of Health and the Board chair in 
order to better ensure their manageability (slides 32 to 35).  


• Board remuneration policy should reflect legal consultations provided to date (slides 46 
and 47). 


 
In reviewing the review’s findings with Nick Pasquino, Partner with BLG who led the review, we 
were advised that overall the Board has been functioning well in its governance and with its 
bylaws, employing best practices in a number of areas. However the changes listed in the 
review would help to optimally position the Board and to address a number of identified 
vulnerabilities.  
 
It is recommended that the review be applied in the revision to the Board’s bylaws. This will be a 
substantial task – one that will require a sound approach.  Ideally the bylaws would be revised 
and enacted in a single step before the change in the Board membership with the municipal 
election this year. Following this, more time could be taken in the development of the supportive 
Board policies. One way to conduct this approach would be with the extension of our present 
contact with BLG to allow them to develop the bylaws for the consideration of the Board; they 
are well positioned to do this efficiently, given the groundwork done through the review. SMDHU 
senior management would then work with the Board to develop the supportive policies (possibly 
using BLG to review and advise on the draft policies being developed).  
 
We are presently reviewing with BLG the potential cost for proceeding with this approach, as 
well as the options within our 2018 budget to cover this; this information will be provided to the 
Board if deemed appropriate, depending on the direction of Board deliberations on this topic.  
 
The Board may also wish to consider providing direct supervision of the Board bylaw revision 
process (monitoring and guiding the work of senior management with or without BLG 
participation) through a Governance Committee or with a temporary working group of the Board; 
such a decision may naturally fall within the scope of the Board’s retreat on May 2, or in a follow 
up discussion at the May 18 Board meeting.  
 
Nick Pasquino has indicated his willingness to present without additional cost to the Board (or to 
a committee or working group of the Board) the findings of the review.  
 
 
                                                
1 This is covered on slide 53 and may be a topic of discussion at the Board’s retreat in May 2.  
2 The determination of such subcommittee will be included as a key point of discussion during the Board’s 
retreat on May 2.  
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Background 
 
In accordance with the Health Protection and Promotion Act s. 56(1) and (2), a board of health 
shall pass by-laws respecting, (a) the management of its property; (b) banking and finance; (c) 
the calling of and proceedings at meetings; and (d) the appointment of an auditor. 
 
A board of health may pass by-laws respecting, (a) the appointment, duties and removal of 
officers (other than the medical officer of health or an associate medical officer of health) and 
employees, and the remuneration, pensions and other benefits of officers and employees; and 
(b) any other matter necessary or advisable for the management of the affairs of the board of 
health. 
 
The Organizational Standards of the Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for 
Programs, Services, and Accountability (OPHS) require boards of health to develop and 
implement bylaws, policies and procedures regarding the functioning of the governing body 
including: 3 


• Compliance with the program and financial requirements of the Health Protection and 
Promotion Act and the Foundational Standards of the OPHS, and Municipal Act financial 
requirements; 


• Have a 3-5 year strategic plan, reviewed at least every 2 years; 
• Comply with the terms of the Accountability Agreement, including the provision of 


program costings and reports to the Ministry; 
• Engage with the LHINs and other relevant stakeholders to decrease health inequities; 
• Engage with Indigenous communities in a way that is meaningful to them; 
• Use of sub-committees, which includes a process for establishing sub-committees and 


the requirement for the development of Terms of Reference (if sub-committees are 
used); 


• Frequency of meetings; 
• Rules of order for meeting procedures, including recognizing delegations to meetings 


and conditions for special meetings of the board; 
• Preparation of meeting agenda and materials; 
• Preparation of minutes and other record-keeping; 
• Selection of officers (i.e. executive committee members) 
• Selection of board members based on skills, knowledge, competencies and 


representatives of the community, where boards of health are able to recommend the 
recruitment of members to the appointing body; 


• Remuneration and allowable expenses for board members; 
• Procurement of external advisors to the board, such as lawyers and auditors (if 


applicable); 
• Conflict of interest; 
• Confidentiality; 
• Board self-evaluation process completed at least every other year; 
• MOH and executive officers (where applicable) selection process, remuneration, and 


performance review. 
 


                                                
3 The new Organizational Standards are reflective of the previous Ontario Public Health Organizational 
Standards (OPHOS) that they replaced with the commencement of the Ontario Public Health Standards: 
Requirements for Programs, Services, and Accountability on January 1, 2018. Accountability Agreements 
between boards of health and the province until 2017 required compliance with the previous OPHOS; 
compliance with the new Organizational Standards is required going forward.  



http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/oph_standards/
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Boards of health are to ensure that bylaws, policies and procedures are reviewed and revised 
as necessary, and at least every two years.  The last cycle of review of Board of Health bylaws 
was initiated in 2012 and completed in 2015.   
 
The environment within which public health operates is undergoing significant change with the 
modernization of the standards for public health programs and services, the introduction of a 
new accountability framework and organizational requirements, ongoing consideration of the 
role of public health in an integrated health system and the implications for the policies and 
practices of local boards as a result of Bill 68, Modernizing Ontario's Municipal Legislation Act, 
2017.   
 
Contacts 
 
Dr. Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer Ext. 7219 
Sandra J. Horney, Director, Program Foundations and Finance Ext. 7256 
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Nick Pasquino, Partner
416.367.6253
npasquino@blg.com


Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
By-Law Review
March 30, 2018


BLG DRAFT 
FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY 







Mandate


• To review the by-laws of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit Board of 
Health (the “Board”) in light of the relevant statutory framework and new 
standards issued by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (the 
“Ministry”), in order to identify gaps or improvements in the by-laws and to 
provide recommendations informed by current governance standards and 
industry best practices
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Scope of Review (Current by-laws)


• Bylaw No. 2005-01 To Provide For Calling of and Proceeding at Meetings of the Board of Health for the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit


• Bylaw No. 2005-02 To Provide for Banking and Finance for the Board of Health


• Bylaw No. 2005-03 To Authorize Borrowing Funds


• Bylaw No. 2005-04 To Appoint and Provide for Duties of the Auditor to the Board of Health


• Bylaw No. 2005-05 To Provide For Management Of Property


• Bylaw No. 2005-06 Legal Advisor To Board of Health Bylaw


• Bylaw No. 2005-07 To Provide for the Payment of Remuneration and Expenses to Members


• Bylaw No. 2005-08 To Provide for the Appointment and Duties of the Medical Officer of Health and the Associate Medical Officer of Health


• Bylaw No. 2005-09 To Provide for the Designation of Senior Leadership Positions


• Bylaw No. 2005-10 To Provide for the Establishment of a Sick Leave Reserve Fund


• Bylaw No. 2005-11 To Appoint and Provide for the Execution of the Documents by Designating Signing Officers


• Bylaw No. 2010-02 To Provide for the Establishment of a Contingency Reserve Fund
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Materials Consulted:  Legislation


• Health Protection and Promotion Act, 2007


• Municipal Act, 2001


• Financial Administration Act


• Local Health System Integration Act, 2006


• Patients First Act, 2016


• Corporations Act


• Not-for-Profit Corporations Act, 2010


• Excellent Care for All Act, 2010


• Broader Public Sector Accountability Act, 2010
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Materials Consulted:  Policies, Governance Materials 
and Reports
• Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services, and Accountability issued by the Ministry 


of Health and Long-Term Care dated January 1, 2018 (“Standards”) 


• Board of Health and Local Health Integration Network Engagement Guideline, issued by the Population and Public 
Health Division of the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care dated January 1, 2018


• SMDHU Accountability Agreement with the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care dated January 1, 2014 and 
amendment dated November 15, 2017 (together, the “Accountability Agreement”)


• Public Health Within an Integrated Health System: Report of the Minister’s Expert Panel on Public Health, dated 
June 9, 2017 (“Minister’s Report”)
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Background Information:  Stakeholder Interviews


Telephone interviews were conducted with the following individuals to obtain feedback on 
current SMDHU governance practices to inform our recommendations:


• Board Members:


• Scott Warnock, Chair and Municipal Representative (February 12, 2018)


• Gail Mullen, Provincial Representative (February 13, 2018)


• Staff:


• Sandra Horney, Director of Program Foundations and Finance (March 13, 2018)


• Dr. Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health and Chief Executive Officer (March 21, 
2018)


• Marlene Klanert, Administrative Assistant to the Medical Officer of Health and Board of 
Health (March 22, 2018)
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Matters for Consideration
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Matter Recommendation
Meeting procedure Adopt permissive language in by-law (rather than prescriptive language) with 


reference to rules of order which can be used to determine procedural issues as 
required


Remote attendance Enable remote attendance at meetings (but only as the exception, not the rule)


Board committees Enable standing and special committees (allowing Board to determine committee 
structure and use from time to time)


In-camera process Amend in-camera process to reflect statutory requirements and best practices; adopt a 
policy that makes it clear to third parties and directors when the Board will go in-
camera to promote transparency, accountability and good governance


Form of by-laws Consolidate by-laws to improve accessibility 


By-law amendment process Simplify by-law amendment process so actual practice reflected in by-law amendment 
process 







Matters for Consideration
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Matter Recommendation
Policies Add a covenant in the by-law that the Board will adopt the policies required under the Standards 


from time to time (and to list policies required by Standards). 


Policy: Continuing 
education


Adopt a policy regarding Board orientation and continuing education, including annual attestation, 
consistent with good governance practices


Policy: Consent 
agenda 


Adopt a policy enabling consent agendas to improve meeting efficiency and focus Board 
discussion on high impact topics


Policy: Agenda setting Codify pre-meeting agenda setting between the Chair and the Medical Officer of Health to ensure 
current approach captured as best practice


Policy: Board 
remuneration


Adopt a policy regarding board remuneration to supplement the language in by-law regarding same
which includes clear language interpreting benefits in the definition of remuneration


Policy: Budget and 
expenditure 
considerations


Adopt a budget-related policy that addresses the Financial Administration Act requirements and 
emergency funding situations







Recommendation: Meeting Procedure
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• We recommend that the Board amend the by-laws to provide for the following Health 
Protection and Promotion Act requirements relating to meeting procedure:


o Vacancy of the seat of a Board member or disqualification of a Board member 


o Retention of meeting minutes, financial records and annual financial statements 


o Election of vice-chair of the Board at the inaugural meeting of the Board (current by-law 
only provides for the election of the chair at the inaugural meeting)


• In addition, the Board should include improved language regarding declaring conflicts of 
interest in the by-law and adopt a conflicts policy to provide detailed procedures (for instance, 
Standards require conflicts declarations be forwarded to Ministry). 







Recommendation: Meeting Procedure
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• We recommend that the Board amend the by-laws to expressly provide for the following 
Municipal Act requirements relating to meeting procedure (by-laws currently silent on these 
points):


o Public notice of meetings 


o All meetings are open to the public, except where an exception is provided under the 
Municipal Act


o Open voting for all matters except where a meeting is closed or another exception 
applies 


o Recorded vote may be requested before or after the taking of a vote (by-laws currently 
provide for calling a recorded vote before the vote) 


o Failure to vote on a matter is deemed to be a negative vote (no abstentions) 


o Retention of records and permitting inspection of records
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• We recommend that the Board amend its by-law regarding meeting proceedings to avoid 
criticism/risk that the prescriptive elements of the by-laws are not comprehensive (or an 
interpretation that they are and therefore other meeting principles do not apply)


• For example, the issue of adjournment is not addressed in the by-laws, except in passing, under 
Nathan’s Rules of Order, where a meeting has been adjourned, no new business can be 
transacted except the business remaining from the adjourned meeting unless notice has been 
provided, among other requirements


• We further recommend that the by-laws include a provision that states that specific  rules of order 
(Nathan’s Rules of Order) be adopted as default rules, subject to change by the Board from time 
to time 


• NOTE: other options are possible such as Robert’s Rules of Order, King and Kerr Rules of Order 
or Wainberg’s Rules of Order, among others


Recommendation: Meeting Procedure







Issue: Meeting Procedure


• Meeting procedure must be compliant with the Municipal Act and the Health 
Protection and Promotion Act and the Standards


• There are many gaps between the statutory requirements and the by-laws


• Based on the interviews conducted, it would appear that the procedure prescribed in 
the by-laws is not being followed in the normal course of the Board’s meetings which 
could invalidate the business conducted at such meetings


• The by-laws should therefore be drafted in a way that corresponds to the Board’s 
informal meeting procedure, but should also provide guidance for situations where 
formal procedure is required in the circumstances (to deal with a contentious issue or 
a difficult director)
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• We recommend that the Board adopt by-laws that enable remote participation in meetings (as the 
exception not the rule) and further adopt a policy enabling electronic participation in meetings, that 
addresses the following questions:


• What technology does the Board want to use to enable its members to use to participate 
(ex. Skype, videoconferencing, teleconferencing etc.)?


• Will a member participating electronically be allowed to vote? How will the technology 
record the vote?


• NOTE: The directors participating electronically are excluded from quorum calculation, and may 
not participate in closed meetings (Municipal Act).
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Recommendation: Remote Attendance







Issue: Remote Attendance


• Municipal Act was recently amended to permit municipalities and local Boards to 
allow a member to participate electronically in a meeting where a by-law has been 
passed to allow for such participation


• Municipal Act does not prescribe technical requirements or define “electronic 
participation,” but it likely includes teleconferencing, videoconferencing, or the use of 
Skype


• Electronic participation is allowed in any meeting, except for those that are closed to 
the public


• A member participating electronically cannot be counted to determine a quorum
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Issue: Remote Attendance


• A by-law enabling electronic participation provides greater flexibility for 
Board members, particularly in unforeseen circumstances such as inclement 
weather


• Based on the interviews conducted, it would appear that there is support for 
the proposition that electronic participation would be helpful given the 
geographic area served and the likelihood of inclement weather, but remote 
participation should be the exception rather than the rule in respect of 
meeting attendance
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• We recommend that the Board add enabling language to the by-laws that allows the Board to 
establish standing and special sub-committees from time to time


• A standing sub-committee is a permanent sub-committee formed to deal with ongoing or 
routine matters


• A special sub-committee is an ad-hoc sub-committee formed to deal with a specific issue.


o NOTE: such committees are already in use and legal authority for this use should be 
codified in the by-laws (i.e. labour relations)


• The Board should consider its needs and identify areas where sub-committees could 
expedite and support the work of the Board (Board retreat discussion point)


• Some interviewees supported a “committee of the whole” approach for an annual special 
meeting dedicated to the budget prior to the Board meeting approving the budget annually 
(Board Retreat discussion point)
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Recommendation: Sub-Committees







Issue: Board Sub-Committees


• The Standards require that the Board implement a by-law or policy in respect of the use and 
establishment of sub-committees (the definition of sub-committees is not provided but appears to 
be equivalent to a committee of the Board)


• The type of sub-committee required is not prescribed by the guidelines and, as such, the Board 
may implement the sub-committees that respond specifically to its needs


• Current by-laws do not expressly contemplate the creation of sub-committees


• Board currently uses ad-hoc sub-committees (for issues such as labour negotiations)


• Based on the interviews conducted, there does not appear to be consensus on creating sub-
committees, however budget, audit, governance and property were identified as sub-committees 
that could be useful (Board retreat discussion point)
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Issue: Board Sub-Committees


• Why use committees: Sub-committees can be used to do work the Board does not have time to do, do pre-
decision work (to allow for informed decision) and allow contribution of special skills (non-directors)


• Governance considerations if enabling the establishment of sub-committees:
o Evaluation: Periodically evaluate committee performance with a view to the work of the Board
o Composition:  Have a defined process for selection of committee chairs and committee members (to 


avoid hurt feelings)
o Orientation:  Provide orientation to a committee – clear role leads to clear outcomes (and annually review 


terms of reference)
o Committee work product:  


• Do not use committee minutes to report to the Board
• Use a Decision Support Document to bring all decisions to the Board including clear committee 


recommendations
o Awareness:  Ensure directors understand the purpose and role of committees (relative to the work of the 


Board) and recognize that some committee issues may become “whole Board work” from time to time
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Recommendation: In-Camera Policy


• We recommend that the Board amend its by-laws to include a clear statement that 
provides that all meetings shall be open except as set out in a policy adopted by the 
Board from time to time 


• We recommend that the Board amend its by-laws to provide that the Board must take 
minutes recording all resolutions, decisions or other proceedings at a Board meeting 
whether it is open or closed to the public


• We recommend that the Board adopt a policy that contemplates all of the 
circumstances to proceed in-camera as identified in the Municipal Act to improve 
clarity on when the Board must go in-camera, when it may go into camera and when 
in-camera is inappropriate


• A clear in-camera policy ensures clarity, transparency and accountability and inspires 
public confidence in the use of this governance tool
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Issue: In-Camera Considerations
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• The by-laws do not expressly require that minutes be taken during in-
camera meetings and based on the interviews conducted, no minutes 
are actually taken during in-camera meetings


• Section 239(7) of the Municipal Act requires that the Board record 
without note or comment all resolutions, decisions and other proceedings 
for all meetings, whether open or closed to the public


• The minutes produced during an in-camera meeting are relevant  as 
evidence in legal proceedings and will support a due diligence deference 
for directors who have their decisions challenged through a judicial 
process







Issue: In-Camera Considerations


• Under the Municipal Act, meetings held by a local board, which includes a board of 
health, must be closed to the public in certain in certain circumstances and may be 
closed in others


• The by-laws provide that the Board may resolve to go in-camera where the matters 
listed are being considered, but do not provide that there are circumstances where 
the Board must go in-camera as provided under the Municipal Act


• The by-laws do not provide that the Board’s meetings must otherwise be open unless 
an exception applies to allow the meeting to be held in-camera


• The Board has not adopted a policy to supplement the by-laws to make it clear when 
the Board should go in-camera
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Issue: In-Camera Considerations


• Under the by-laws, a motion may go in-camera where the substance of the motion is as follows:


• the security of the property of the Board


• personal matters about an identifiable individual including Health Unit employees


• a proposal or pending acquisition of real property for Board purposes


• labour relations or employee negotiations


• litigation or potential litigation affecting the Board


• advice that is subject to solicitor-client privilege including communications necessary for that 
purpose 


• a matter that can be considered in private under the authority of another Act.
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Issue: In-Camera Considerations


• In addition to the grounds listed in the by-laws, under section 239 of the Municipal Act a meeting or 
part of a meeting may be closed to the public if the subject matter being considered is:


• information explicitly supplied in confidence to the Board by Canada, a province or territory or 
a Crown agency of any of them


• a trade secret or scientific, technical, commercial, financial or labour relations information, 
supplied in confidence to the municipality or local Board if certain conditions are met


• a trade secret or scientific, technical, commercial or financial information that belongs to the 
Board and has monetary value or potential monetary value


(**list continued on next slide)
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Issue: In-Camera Considerations


• In addition to the grounds enumerated in the by-laws, under section 239 of the Municipal Act a 
meeting or part of a  meeting may be closed to the public if the subject matter being considered 
is:


• a position, plan, procedure, criteria or instruction to be applied to any negotiations carried on 
or to be carried on by or on behalf of the municipality or local Board


• the meeting is held for the purpose of educating or training the members, and no member 
discusses or otherwise deals with any matter in a way that materially advances the business 
or decision-making of the council, local Board or committee.
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Issue: In-Camera Considerations


• Under the Municipal Act, a meeting or part of a meeting must be closed to the public if the subject 
matter being considered is,


• a request under the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act


• an ongoing investigation respecting the Board by the Ombudsman appointed under the 
Ombudsman Act as referred to under the Municipal Act


25







26


• We recommend that the Board consolidate its by-laws and add an index 
to improve accountability and transparency


Recommendation : Form of By-Laws







Issue: Form of By-Law


• Currently, there are 12 separate by-laws providing for 12 separate concepts, with some linkage between by-laws. 


• The by-laws have not been consolidated and there is no index to allow for simple navigation of the by-laws in an 
easy to understand manner


• Under the Standards, the Board must ensure that members are aware of governance practices and their roles and 
responsibilities – a single document facilitates their objective. Other peer health units have: 


A. consolidated their by-laws, however we note that this is not a universal practice and not legally required (see 
North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit, Northwestern Health Unit by-laws)


B. included an index in their by-laws for ease of reference (see Wellington Dufferin-Guelph Health Unit, North 
Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit, and Northwestern Health Unit)


• To improve readability, and to minimize the frequency of by-law amendments, we recommend a drafting approach 
that uses simple,  clear language, enables governance concepts where necessary or desirable but is not 
prescriptive (with Board-level policies being adopted to fill in gaps as necessary) 


• One interviewee commented that it would be helpful if the by-laws were more accessible, easy to read and provided 
to Board members as part of an orientation
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We recommend that the Board simplify the by-law amendment process as follows: 


i. any amendment requires consideration at two meetings, whereby the amendment is introduced at one 
meeting and debated, and then a (further refined) by-law is debated and voted on at the subsequent 
meeting; 


and that


i. any amendment requires the support of a special majority resolution (support of 2/3rds of the Board).


Rationale


• A special majority resolution (greater than 66.66%) ensures that there is a significant consensus for any change to 
the by-laws, which mitigates the risk of a by-law amendment (or a fundamental issue) that results in division 
between directors


• Requiring 2 readings (rather than the current 3 or a potential 1) is more efficient, but respects the principle of “sober 
second thought”, to promote stability in the governance structure


Recommendation: By-Law Amendment Process







Issue: By-Law Amendment Process


• The current by-law adoption/ amendment process, as provided under section 16 of 
By-Law No. 2005-01, requires 3 readings of any new by-law/ by-law amendment 
before being passed, in addition to other requirements


• It would appear that this process is unnecessarily onerous if followed


• Based on the interviews conducted, the process is not strictly followed and the Board 
often circumvents the requirements under the by-law by “deeming” an amendment to 
be read


• The Municipal Act and the Health Protection and Promotion Act are silent in respect 
of the by-law adoption or amendment process for boards of health, and as such the 
Board is able choose the most appropriate by-law amendment process based on its 
needs
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Issue: By-Law Amendment Process
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• The by-law amendment process should strike a balance between stability and 
efficiency by removing unnecessary procedural layers while maintaining 
adequate checks and balances


• Many of the peer health units have adopted a simplified by-law amendment 
process:


• North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit and Northwestern Health Unit 
require one reading and a simple majority resolution


• Peterborough Health Unit requires one reading and a special majority 
resolution 







Recommendation: Policies
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• We recommend that the Board include a provision in the by-laws that states that 
the Board shall adopt policies in respect of each of the items prescribed by the 
Standards and the Accountability Agreement.


• These matters are fundamental to the governance of the Board and we therefore 
recommend that they be addressed in the by-law by name, however the 
prescriptive elements related to each matter should be set out in a policy (not the 
by-law itself) to allow for greater flexibility to respond to changing circumstances. 


• We recommend that the Board adopt a policy in respect of each of the following 
items, to meet the requirements prescribed by the Standards, the Accountability 
Agreement and under the Municipal Act. 







Hierarchy of Governance Documents
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All rules are not created equally…


Statutes, regulations


Standards


By-Laws


Policies


The by-laws should have an express reference to the hierarchy between governance documents 
(in the event of conflict, the higher triumphs the lower)







Issue: Policies
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• In order to comply with its obligations under the Municipal Act and the 
Standards, the Board must adopt certain policies and/or by-laws


• Policies can be used to fill in any gaps in the by-laws with information that is 
more prescriptive/procedural


• Board members and members of the public should be able to view each policy 


• While we recommend that by-laws amendments be approved by special majority 
in the interest of stability, policies can be more flexible and can be adopted by 
simple majority







Issue: Policies
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• Under sections 269 and 270 of the Municipal Act, a board of health must adopt 
policies on the following matters:


o Sale and other disposition of land


o Hiring of employees


o Procurement of goods and services







Issue: Policies
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• Under the Standards, the Board must adopt by-laws OR policies on the following matters:


• Use and establishment of sub-committees 


• Rules of order and frequency of meetings 


• Preparation of meeting agenda, materials, minutes, and other record keeping


• Selection of officers


• Selection of board of health members based on skills, knowledge, competencies and 
representatives of the community, where boards of health are able to recommend the 
recruitment of members to the appointing body


• Remuneration and allowable expenses for board members 


(**list continued on next slide)







Issue: Policies
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• Procurement of external advisors to the board such as lawyers and auditors (if applicable)


• Conflict of interest


• Confidentiality


• Medical officer of health and executive officers (where applicable) selection process, 
remuneration, and performance review


• Delegation of the medical officer of health duties during short absences such as during a 
vacation/coverage plan


• Human resources policy. 


• Such by-laws, policies and procedures must be reviewed and revised as necessary every 2 
years







Policies
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• In order to comply with the Standards, the Board should adopt policies in respect of the following matters:


• Delivery of programs and services 


• Organizational effectiveness through evaluation of the organization and strategic planning 


• Stakeholder relations and partnership building 


• Research and evaluation


• Compliance with all applicable legislation and regulations 


• Workforce issues, including recruitment of medical officer of health and any other senior executives


• Financial management, including procurement policies and practices


• Risk management







Policies
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• The following additional requirements are outlined under the Standards:


• The board of health shall have a self-evaluation process of its governance practices and outcomes that is 
completed at least every other year. The board of health shall ensure the administration develops and 
implements a set of client service standards


• The board of health shall ensure that the medical officer of health, as the designated health information 
custodian, maintains information systems and implements policies/procedures for privacy and security, data 
collection and records management


• Board must submit certain information to the Ministry and shall operate in a transparent and accountable 
manner (Board should make key policies, accountability agreement, reports required by statute available to the 
public as part of such a policy)


• Board shall have and maintain insurance


• Board shall not dispose of an asset which exceeds $100,000 in value without the prior written consent of the 
Ministry 


• Board shall maintain an inventory of all tangible capital assets with a value exceeding $5000 (or some other 
value as deemed appropriate)







Policies
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• In order to comply with the Accountability Agreement, the Board should adopt policies in respect of the following 
matters, in addition to budget-related policies discussed later in the presentation:


• Preparation and delivery of all reports required under the Accountability Agreement;


• Code of conduct and ethical responsibilities of the Board;







Policies
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• Patients First Act, 2016 created formal linkages between the local health integration networks and boards of 
health


• Under section 14(2) of the Local Health System Integration Act, 2006, a local health integration network 
must seek advice from the board of health for a health unit within its geographic area in developing its 
integrated health service plan


• Under section 67(5) of the Health Protection and Promotion Act, the Medical Officer of Health must engage 
with the CEO of the local health integration network in respect of certain issues


• The Board of Health Local Integration Network Engagement Guideline states that the intent of such 
provisions is to make a commitment to engagement and  includes regular opportunities to meet


• It would be prudent, but not mandatory, to adopt a policy that addresses such requirements and establishes 
regular meeting intervals between the Medical Officer of Health and the CEO of the local integration 
network







Recommendation: Continuing Education
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• We recommend that the Board adopt a policy regarding Board 
orientation and continuing education


• We recommend an annual attestation be required of each director as 
part of the commitment to continuing education, to evidence to 
education that has taken place, to acknowledge the governance 
documents in existence from time to time, to declare conflicts of a 
general and continuing nature (if applicable), to confirm address for 
service, and to confirm consent to participation in electronic meetings 
(and to confirm related confidentiality obligations)







Continuing Education Policy
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• Under the Standards, the Board must provide a comprehensive orientation program and 
continuing education program for Board members


• Regular activities should be provided as part of the continuing education policy (internal and 
external)


• A technology solution such as a Board portal that facilitates easy and constant access to the 
relevant materials is ideal


• An annual attestation signed by each Board member evidences the Board’s compliance with this 
requirement and encourages Board members to regularly consider their obligations 







Recommendation: Consent Agenda
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• We recommend the Board adopt a policy regarding consent agendas. 


• The policy should detail the situations in which a consent agenda may 
be used and provide for a process by which items on a consent 
agenda may be removed by any director wishing to discuss same.







Agenda Policy
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• All interviewees expressed that the Board consistently ran out of time 
to discuss agenda items at its meetings


• Consent agendas can help with this issue by creating a mechanism to 
move routine or informational items without significant time


• Board members vote on all items on consent agenda together, rather 
than a number of separate items







Recommendation: Agenda Setting


45


• We recommend the Board adopt a policy confirming that the Chair and 
the Medical Officer of Health jointly set meeting agendas to ensure 
efficiency of meetings, appropriate fiduciary oversight of management, 
and that Board time is spent on high impact items.







Agenda Setting
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• The majority of interviewees found that the meetings between the 
Chair and the Medical Officer of Health to discuss the agenda before
the regularly scheduled meeting of the Board greatly streamlined the 
agenda and therefore allowed the Board to get through more business 
efficiently


• This practice has been successful and it would be helpful to codify this 
practice in a policy so future Chairs and Medical Officers of Health 
continue to follow this governance best practice 







Recommendation: Board Remuneration Policy
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We recommend the Board take a conservative approach and adopt a 
broad definition of remuneration which includes benefits for the purpose 
of calculation of remuneration paid to Board members under section 
49(6) of the Health Protection and Promotion Act to avoid any public 
criticism on the matter.







Board Remuneration Policy


• We have been asked to consider the definition of “remuneration” for the purpose of calculating the highest rate of 
remuneration payable to members of the Board under section 49(6) of the Health Protection and Promotion Act


• Remuneration is not defined in the Health Protection and Promotion Act and therefore we must rely on principles of 
statutory interpretation and jurisprudence to approximate what the legislature intended


• There have been no cases in the context of the Health Protection and Promotion Act that interpret the definition of 
remuneration 


• We have reviewed the legal opinion of Ellen Brohm of HRG Graham Partners LLP and are of the view that her legal 
opinion is reasonable


• The jurisprudence suggests that the interpretation of the meaning of remuneration is not guided by strict legal rules 
and is highly context specific


• The public sector context applicable to SMDHU suggests that a conservative approach to the calculation of 
remuneration of the Board members would be to include the benefits within the scope of remuneration


• We understand this position was recommended by management and endorsed by the Board at its March 2018 
meeting
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Recommendation: Budget and Expenditure  
Policy


• We recommend that the Board adopt a budget and expenditures policy that provides that the 
Board shall not enter into an agreement or undertaking in excess of its allocations under the 
Accountability Agreement, will not run a deficit in respect of provincial funding and will only use 
funds allocated to the Board under the Accountability Agreement for the purposes for which they 
were intended, in compliance with section 11 of the Financial Administration Act and the 
Accountability Agreement.


• We recommend that such a budget and expenditures policy contemplates emergency funding 
situations and provides for Municipal Act and Health Promotion and Protection Act entitlements in 
addition to borrowing rights (this would supplement the borrowing by-law currently in place). The 
policy should enable the Board to borrow by providing security in choses in action, real property 
(with required consent) or on an unsecured basis. 


• Where there is a known concern, the Board should consider enhancing existing reserves and 
adopting a policy to make it clear to stakeholders (i.e. municipalities) that this may be done from 
time to time


49







Budget and Expenditure Policy


• The Accountability Agreement between the Board and the Ministry operationalizes the Board’s responsibilities 
under the Financial Administration Act and provides for the allocation of provincial funds


• In accordance with section 11 of the Financial Administration Act:


• The Board must use the funds allocated for the purpose for which they were allocated


• The Board may not enter into an agreement or undertaking that would result in a charge in excess of the 
allocation provided in the Accountability Agreement


• The Treasury Board will not authorize the payment of any interest in respect of a financial obligation incurred 
contrary to this section


• Where the funds allocated are not expended by the time the books of the Government of Ontario close for the 
year, such allocations will lapse
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Budget and Expenditure Policy


• In addition, the Standards provide that the budget and expenditure policy should include a description of financial 
management and oversight processes


• More specifically, the Accountability Agreement requires that the Board adopt a policy (or strategy or procedure) 
which deals with the management of the provincial grant made to the Health Unit


• The Accountability Agreement further requires the Board to adopt a policy dealing with the completion of the 
Board’s obligations under the agreement, the identification of risks to the Board’s ability to perform such 
obligations and strategies to address these risks
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Budget and Expenditure Policy


• The Board may proactively establish emergency reserve fund for specific purposes: 


• Under section 417 of the Municipal Act, the board may provide in its budget to establish a 
reserve fund for any purpose for which it has authority to spend money


• The Board has a variety of ways to leverage funds in emergency situations:


• Under section 72(6) of the Health Protection and Promotion Act, the Board may send out 
additional written notice to obligated municipalities if the Board incurs additional expenses 
that it did not anticipate when sending out its initial estimate of its annual budget


• Under section 76 of Health Protection and Promotion Act, the Board may receive a grant at 
the discretion of the Ministry (this grant cannot be carried over from one fiscal year to another 
unless pre-authorized in writing by the Ministry)


• The Board may borrow funds (subject to municipal consent if borrowing is secured by real 
property)
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Budget and Expenditure Policy


• There is no prohibition under the Health Protection and Promotion Act or the Municipal Act 
against the Board borrowing money generally


• The Health Protection and Promotion Act is silent with respect to a board of health providing 
security in its personal and intangible property to a lender


• The Board has a by-law in place pursuant to which it may borrow up to $1,000,000 to meet 
the expenditures of the health unit until funding is received by giving security in its revenues 
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Budget and Expenditure Policy


• It appears that the Board has interpreted the provisions such that the Board may borrow 
money on an unsecured basis


• Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Health Unit’s by-laws enable the board to give security for money 
borrowed (it is unclear what type of security can be provided)


• North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit and Peterborough Health Unit allow their 
respective boards to borrow money as required (without reference to security)
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Other Considerations (not recommended 
changes to the by-laws)


• The Minister’s Report suggests that the composition of the Board may include:


• Citizen members (municipal appointees)


• Other representatives (education, LHIN, social sector etc.)


• Meaningful opportunity for representation of the Indigenous and Francophone communities


• The by-laws do not expressly encourage participation by these stakeholders and interviewees 
did not have any concerns with board composition or representation so we are not 
recommending a change
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Next Steps


56


1. Consider the recommendations made.


2. Revise by-laws and policies accordingly.







Conclusion


Thank you!
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Item #7.1 
 


alPHa Resolution:  
A Comprehensive Approach to Infection Prevention and 
Control (IPAC) in Regulated Health Professional Settings 


 


Update: #2 Date: April 18, 2018 
 
 


Issue 
 
At its last meeting, the Board of Health received a report on the demands and challenges 
related to the requirements for local public health responses to public complaints of infection 
control lapses in health care settings. In response to this, the Board directed staff to provide a 
resolution for the 2018 Annual General Meeting of the Association of Local Public Health 
Agencies (alPHa). This has been provided for the consideration of the Board in Appendix A, 
with its background document provided in Appendix B. 


Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health submit the resolution in Appendix A and its background document in 
Appendix B to the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) for its 2018 Annual 
General Meeting; 


AND FURTHERMORE THAT the Board of Health recommend to the Ontario Minister of Health 
and Long-Term Care and the Ontario Minister of Advanced Education and Skills Development 
that a legislative and policy framework be developed to achieve the following:  


1) That regulated health professional training programs offered by Ontario colleges and 
universities contain comprehensive Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) content 
within their curriculum; and 


2) That the Ontario regulatory colleges of health professions implement continuous quality 
improvement with the routine inspection of their members’ practice settings for 
adherence to IPAC best practices, and that they also provide a robust response in 
collaboration with local Boards of Health to IPAC complaints; and 


3) That provincially recognized core competencies and qualification requirements be 
identified for local public health practitioners regarding the prevention, investigation and 
mitigation of IPAC lapses; and 


4) And that base funding be sufficiently enhanced for Boards of Health to respond to the 
increasing demands of IPAC complaints and lapses. 


AND FURTHERMORE THAT the Chief Medical Officer of Health for Ontario, the Ontario 
Assistant Deputy Minister of the Population and Public Health Division, and the Association of 
Local Public Health Agencies be so advised. 
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Current Facts 
 
As noted in the Infection Control Lapse and Public Reporting briefing note to the Board at its 
March 21, 2018 meeting, and as documented in the appended resolution and backgrounder 
(Appendix A and B respectively), there is a need for a much more comprehensive provincially 
mandated approach to IPAC in regulated health professional settings. This needs to include 
comprehensive IPAC training of regulated health professionals, the requirement that their 
regulatory colleges implement continuous quality improvement with routine inspections or their 
practices, that the colleges be required to provide a robust response in collaboration with local 
public health units in response to IPAC complaints, that the core competencies and qualification 
requirements of health unit staff providing IPAC investigations be provincially specified, and that 
Boards of Health be provided with sufficient resources to address the demands within 
increasing numbers of IPAC investigations since the provincial requirements for these 
investigations in 2015. 


Background 
 
Since its operationalization in 2015, the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) 
response to IPAC complaints has steadily increased from 1 complaint in 2015 to 13 complaints 
in 2017.  In 2017, 4 of the 13 complaints resulted in an IPAC lapse requiring public disclosure 
on the SMDHU website and 2 of those lapses required individual patient notification.  To support 
this demand, the Communicable Disease team has developed an IPAC Lapse Core Team of 8 
professionals, including our IPAC Coordinator and CD manager. Of note, no resources were 
provided to local public health units with the enactment of this portfolio so this workload is in 
addition to existing mandatory programming. 
 
This infectious disease prevention and control work is very important and often it takes priority 
over other program activities.  Completing the risk assessment of such work within the first 24 
hours is essential. With respect to disease transmission, the main concern is for hepatitis B, 
hepatitis C, and HIV. These diseases can be transmitted from blood or other bodily fluids that 
are infected with those three viruses. The viruses can stay on medical equipment and 
instruments if they were not cleaned and/or sterilized properly.  They can then be potentially 
transmitted when those instruments are used on other patients.  This creates an inherent 
urgency when a complaint is received to address these concerns immediately. 
 
IPAC complaint investigations in regulated health settings average 25-30 hours to complete.  
However, the most recent dental lapse is approaching 400 hours recorded by the Core Team 
alone. The time utilized by the communications department, epidemiology team, senior 
leadership including AMOH and MOH time, IMS response and redeployed staff is now 
conservatively estimated at an additional 624 hours and that work is ongoing. 


Contacts 
 
Heidi Pitfield, Program Manager, Communicable Diseases Ext. 7300 
Colleen Nisbet, Director, Clinical Service Department Ext. 7313 
Dr. Colin Lee, Associate Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7235 
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2018 alPHa Resolution  
 
TITLE:  A Comprehensive Approach to Infection Prevention and 


Control (IPAC) in Regulated Health Professional Settings 
 
SPONSOR: Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
 
WHEREAS comprehensive IPAC practices in regulated health professional 
workplaces are essential to prevent blood borne disease transmission; and  
 
WHEREAS most regulated health professionals do not receive 
comprehensive training in IPAC during their professional training; and 
 
WHEREAS the regulatory colleges of health professionals lack a provincially 
supported mandate to proactively audit IPAC practices or to investigate 
complaints of infection control lapses in the settings of their members; and 
 
WHEREAS in 2015, the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care amended the 
Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) Practices Complaints Protocol and 
released the new Infection Prevention and Control (IPAC) Lapse Disclosure 
guidance document with a new requirement for Boards of Health to actively 
investigate public complaints related to IPAC in regulated health professional 
settings and to publically disclose on the findings; and 
 
WHEREAS the number of IPAC complaints in regulated health professional 
settings has been increasing substantially since 2015;  
 
WHEREAS Boards of health have limited resources to investigate IPAC 
complaints in regulated health professional settings; and 
 
WHEREAS regulated health professionals often question the expertise of 
Boards of Health when investigating IPAC complaints;  


NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Association of Local Public 
Health Agencies recommend to the Ontario Minister of Health and Long-Term 
Care and the Ontario Minister of Advanced Education and Skills Development 
that a legislative and policy framework be developed to achieve the 
following:  


1) That regulated health professional training programs offered by 
Ontario colleges and universities contain comprehensive IPAC content 
within their curriculum; and 


2) That the Ontario regulatory colleges of health professions implement 
continuous quality improvement with the routine inspection of their 
members’ practice settings for adherence to IPAC best practices, and 
that they also provide a robust response in collaboration with local 
Boards of Health to IPAC complaints; and 
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3) That provincially recognized core competencies and qualification 
requirements be identified for local public health practitioners 
regarding the prevention, investigation and mitigation of IPAC lapses; 
and 


4) And that base funding be sufficiently enhanced for Boards of Health to 
respond to the increasing demands of IPAC complaints and lapses; 


 
AND FURTHER THAT the Chief Medical Officer of Health for Ontario, the 
Ontario Assistant Deputy Minister of the Population and Public Health 
Division, all Ontario regulated health professional colleges, and the Ontario 
Public Health Association be so advised. 
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A Comprehensive Approach to Infection Prevention and Control 


(IPAC) in Regulated Health Professional Settings: 
Backgrounder for alPHa Resolution, April 2018, 


From the Board of Health for the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
 
 
What is the evolution of IPAC complaints and lapses being included in the Ontario Public 
Health Standards? 
In the wake of the 2003 outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) in Ontario, it 
was clear that provincial infection prevention and control (IPAC) programs were under-
resourced, practices were not standardized across the continuum of care and basic knowledge 
and training in the fundamentals of IPAC were insufficient (PIDAC, 2012). In Chapter 2 of A Plan 
of Action: Final Report of the Ontario Expert Panel on SARS and Infectious Disease Control 
(“Walker Report”), there is a clear mandate to “articulate the core foundational elements for a 
formal program of infection control in all acute and non-acute facilities, including necessary 
resources”. This outlined the need to develop comprehensive provincial infection control 
standards of practice for all health care settings in Ontario, including acute and non-acute care 
hospitals, long-term care facilities and primary care/community settings (MOHLTC, 2004).  
 
In 2004, the MOHLTC responded to the Walker Report by introducing Operation Health 
Protection: an Action Plan to Prevent Threats to our Health and to Promote a Healthy Ontario.  
Key outcomes included the development of a provincial advisory committee on infectious 
diseases and creation of the Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion.  The 
Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee’s (PIDAC) has established several best 
practice documents in infectious disease management and infection prevention and control 
largely targeted for health care institutional settings (e.g. acute care, long-term care). 
 
Seven years later, in May 2011, an “out of hospital” endoscopy clinic in Ottawa, was inspected 
by the College of Physician and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO) and significant deficiencies in the 
cleaning and disinfection of the endoscopes were identified. CPSO ordered the clinic physician 
to cease performing endoscopies at the clinic and notified the Ontario Ministry of Health and 
Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) about the issue who in turn, notified Ottawa Public Health (OPH), 
the local public health department. OPH was required to assess the risk of transmission of 
hepatitis B virus, hepatitis C virus and human immunodeficiency virus to patients and to 
determine whether a public health response (including patient notification) was needed. A 
decision to notify patients was made by OPH in consultation with infection control and public 
health experts and based on assessments of infection risk and ethical considerations. Due to 
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the large number of affected patients (~6800 individuals), the clinic could not independently 
undertake notification and follow-up.  Therefore, the responsibility of patient notification fell to 
OPH who had to manage the investigation despite having no clear roles or responsibilities to 
provide guidance and/or a legal framework in such event. While not the first large-scale public 
health disease investigation in Ontario related to infection prevention and control practices, the 
Ottawa response brought to light a series of public health policy issues and resource challenges. 
 
In 2012, alPHa advocated, citing the Ottawa Public Health investigation, to the MOHLTC that a 
process needed to be initiated to discuss the oversight of IPAC practices in clinical settings 
including clarification of the roles and responsibilities of public health units. While an Ontario 
Public Health Standards’ protocol regarding IPAC complaints was already in existence, in 2015 
this protocol was amended to direct public health units to respond to complaints in regulated 
health settings.  This response is to be in collaboration with the appropriate regulatory colleges 
and in any facility where regulated health professionals operate.  To date, no resources have 
been provided by the MOHLTC to local public health units to support this mandated response. 
 
What is an IPAC complaint versus an IPAC lapse? 
An IPAC complaint is an infection prevention and control (IPAC) complaint made by any 
member of the public against any public setting including, but not limited to, schools, child care 
settings, sports clubs, personal services settings, or any facility in which regulated health 
professionals operate.  
 
An infection prevention and control (IPAC) lapse is when, following an assessment by public 
health, there is a failure to follow IPAC practice standards resulting in a risk of transmission of 
infectious diseases to clients, attendees or staff through exposure to blood, body fluids, 
secretions, excretions, mucous membranes, non-intact skin, or contaminated equipment and 
soiled items. IPAC practice standards include the most current guidance available from the 
Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee (PIDAC), Public Health Ontario, the ministry, 
and any relevant Ontario regulatory college IPAC protocols and guidelines. 
 
What is the evidence to suggest disease transmission in community Regulated Health 
Professional Settings? 
Experiences with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) in 2003 and pandemic H1N1 virus 
in 2009, have underscored the notion that every person is vulnerable if proper safeguards are 
not in place to prevent the transmission and acquisition of infection (Public Health Ontario, 
2015). The risk of infection in regulated health professional settings varies based on the innate 
qualities of the infectious disease pathogen, the type of procedure, the adherence to infection 
prevention and control best practices, and the prevalence of infection in the population.  The 
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true incidence of infections when reprocessing best practices are not followed is unknown 
because of inadequate surveillance or no surveillance at all (Kovaleva, Peters, van der Mei & 
Degener, 2013). However, studies suggest that bacterial infections exceed viral, parasitic or 
fungal infections. The risks of transmission of bloodborne pathogens (such as hepatitis b, 
hepatitis c and HIV) in regulated health settings is lower than for bacterial pathogens, but such 
transmission has occurred.  For example, in 1996 a Toronto physician was investigated 
following multiple cases of hepatitis B being linked to the physician’s numerous clinics.  In total, 
approximately 15 000 patients were put at risk and 75 patients were confirmed to have 
contracted hepatitis B from the clinics when the electrode needles used for 
electroencephalograms were improperly sterilized between clients (Mackay, 2002). Three 
published reports of hepatitis B and hepatitis C transmission in American dental settings 
identified 7 cases of transmission related to lapses in infection prevention and control practices 
(Cleveland, Gray, Harte, Robison, Moorman & Gooch, 2016). 
 
What IPAC concepts are not included in curriculums for regulated health professionals? 
Infection Prevention and Control education varies by educational institution, academic 
program, professional discipline and location of practicums.  Some regulated health 
professions, such as dental hygiene, receive comprehensive training in select IPAC portfolios. 
While courses such as microbiology, immunology, and communicable diseases are common in 
most regulated health programs, there are significant deficiencies in many curriculums. Key 
infection prevention competencies such as surveillance and epidemiology, occupational health, 
routine practices and additional precautions, program evaluation, environmental cleaning and 
medical device reprocessing are often lacking.  SMDHU conducts orientation for family 
medicine residents monthly and all residents (from various educational institutions) have noted 
they do not receive appropriate IPAC education.  This is evidenced by the regulated health 
professionals SMDHU investigators have encountered during IPAC complaint follow-ups as well 
as local educational institutions seeking ad hoc education sessions on IPAC. 
 
What is the role of the regulated colleges in IPAC complaints? 
Public health units are required to report IPAC complaints associated with a regulated health 
professional to the appropriate regulatory college, however, many of these colleges (there are 
28 in Ontario) do not have the IPAC resources in place to respond in a manner that provides any 
relief for the work done by public health.  Most regulatory colleges do not proactively conduct 
IPAC audits of their members, have the legislative framework to inspect settings and/or require 
immediate changes, or have the IPAC expertise readily available to consult on the complaint.   
 
For example, the College of Nurses of Ontario (CNO) has identified they cannot conduct a joint 
investigation within prescribed timelines due to capacity issues. The Royal College of Dental 
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Surgeons of Ontario (RCDSO) has a small team of investigators that are tasked in responding to 
all complaints including, but not limited to: billing, malpractice, harassment and IPAC. Currently 
if an RCDSO investigator wanted to conduct a joint onsite assessment with a public health unit, 
they would require their members’ consent prior to entering the setting.  If a member of the 
public made an IPAC complaint directly to the RCDSO, the general process for the response is to 
ask for written submissions from the complainant and the dentist. This is then brought forward 
to the College’s Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee who makes a decision based on 
the documentation placed before it.   
 
There is a need for regulatory colleges to do preventative routine inspections of their 
membership’s practice settings to prevent IPAC lapses? 
Boards of health are required to conduct preventative routine inspections of a range of service 
settings (such as food premises, small drinking water systems and personal service settings) in 
order to support, education, encourage and require sufficient infection control practices in 
these settings (to prevent food borne, waterborne and blood borne infections respectively). 
Such an approach is also needed in the practices of the regulated health professionals. It would 
be suitable for their regulatory colleges to be required by the province to systematically fulfill 
this role, employing a continuous quality improvement approach. This would help to reduce the 
number of IPAC lapses, thus better protecting the health of the public, while also stemming the 
number of investigations needed.  
 
What is the role of the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care and Public Health Ontario?  
The roles and responsibilities of the three primary stakeholders involved with infection 
prevention and control (IPAC) complaints are defined under the MOHLTC’s Roles and 
Responsibilities in Community Health Care Settings during Potential Infection Prevention and 
Control Lapse Investigations, 2017.  The local public health unit is responsible for investigating 
IPAC complaints, notifying applicable regulatory colleges, managing and providing guidance for 
IPAC improvement, enforcement activities as necessary and public reporting or patient 
notification, as needed.  The MOHLTC has no direct role in the lapse investigation, however, 
they are responsible for creating the regulatory documents that support IPAC complaints and 
may be involved with policy interpretation.  Public Health Ontario provides scientific and 
technical advice to support complaint investigations, coordinates laboratory samples, organizes 
multi-jurisdictional investigations, and develops tools and resources to support local 
investigations.  


What is an IPAC professional? 
As per the Certification Board of Infection Control and Epidemiology (CBIC), infection 
prevention and control professionals are nurses, physicians, public health professionals, 
epidemiologists, microbiologists, or medical technologists who work to prevent infectious 
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diseases from spreading. They look for patterns of infection within the facility; observe 
practices; educate; advise operators and other professionals; compile infection data; develop 
policies and procedures; and coordinate with local and national public health agencies.   
 
In Canada, there is no national designation or certification process for IPAC professionals. 
Infection Prevention and Control Canada (IPAC Canada) is a national, multidisciplinary 
organization that recognizes as a core requirement for the position of Infection Prevention and 
Control Professional the achievement of either: 


• Certification in infection prevention and control (CIC®) from CBIC; or 
• In Quebec, the designation of Clinical Nurse Specialist in Infection Prevention and 


Control. 
Certification signifies that the specialized body of knowledge required for competent 
performance of current infection prevention and control practices has been attained and 
maintained. The CIC© is the most widely recognized certification for infection control 
professionals in North America. 
 
What challenges are public health units facing? 
There are two key issues arising from a program perspective. First, potentially intrusive and 
damaging investigations, as perceived by the respondents, are occurring with regulated health 
professionals with whom public health had no prior relationship. Unlike operators of Personal 
Service Settings or Long-Term Care Homes, for example, these community healthcare locations 
rarely interact with local public health units and often have very little understanding as to the 
public health role and authority. Because these investigations are conducted on a complaint 
basis, there is no opportunity to develop a relationship that establishes public health in our 
preferred role of being a supportive resource for IPAC practices.  Public Health is being seen in a 
more limited role of enforcement or policing of the protocol, which is not our primary function. 
In addition, these new relationships become easily strained once an investigation is required to 
move forward to public disclosure and/or patient notification.  This is a part of the process 
generally viewed by the operator as contentious and threatening to their business. 
 
Second, the resources required to respond to IPAC complaints are significant and increasing.  
Traditionally, public health professionals trained in IPAC have experience within specific settings 
such as hospitals, child care centres and tattoo shops, for example. Since taking on this new 
role, public health has had to expend considerable time and resources enhancing our expertise. 
While the principles of IPAC apply to all settings, an investigator is required to be familiar with 
the unique processes, instruments and equipment associated with each diverse setting. As we 
investigate each complaint, our knowledge is growing; however, learning the processes and 
practices of each setting remains a significant challenge to our program. 
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The overall rates of IPAC complaints, including those considered to be lapses and of those, 
requirements to do patient notification are increasing as in Figure 2 below. 
 
Figure 2. Number of SMDHU IPAC complaints in Regulated Health Settings, 2015-2017. 


 
 
  







Appendix B 
 


7 
 


References 
 
Certification Board of Infection Control and Epidemiology, Inc. (2018). Frequently Asked 
Questions for the Healthcare Consumer. Retrieved April 9, 2018 from: 
https://www.cbic.org/about-cbic/frequently-asked-questions-for-the-healthcare-consumer  
 
Cleveland, J., Kolavic Gray, S., Harte, J., Robison, V., Moorman, A., & Gooch, B. (2016). 
Transmission of blood-borne pathogens in US dental health care settings, 2016 update. Journal 
of the American Dental Association, 147(9), 729-738. 
 
Gordon, B., Burke, F., Bagg, J., Marlborough, H., & McHugh, E. (2001). Systematic review of 
adherence to infection control guidelines in dentistry.  Journal of Dentistry, 29(8), 509-516. 
 
Infection Prevention and Control Canada. (2017). Certification in Infection Control. Retrieved 
April 9, 2018 from: https://ipac-canada.org/infection-control-certification.php  
 
Johnson, I. (2000). An outbreak of hepatitis B associated with reusable subdermal 
electroencephalogram electrodes. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 162(8), 1127-1131. 
Available at: http://www.cmaj.ca/content/162/8/1127  
 
Kovaleva, J., Peters, F., van der Mei, H., & Degener, J. (2013). Transmission of Infection by 
Flexible Gastrointestinal Endoscopy and Bronchoscopy. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 26(2), 
231-254. 
 
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2004). A Plan of Action: Final Report of the Ontario 
Expert Panel on SARS and Infectious Disease Control. Available at: 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/walker04/walker04_2
.aspx  
 
Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). Provincial 
Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee. Best Practices for Infection Prevention and Control 
Programs in All Health Care Settings, 3rd edition. Toronto, ON: Queen’s Printer for Ontario; May 
2012. 
 
Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), Provincial 
Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee. Infection Prevention and Control for Clinical Office 
Practice. 1st Revision. Toronto, ON: Queen’s Printer for Ontario; April 2015. 
 



https://www.cbic.org/about-cbic/frequently-asked-questions-for-the-healthcare-consumer

https://ipac-canada.org/infection-control-certification.php

http://www.cmaj.ca/content/162/8/1127

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/walker04/walker04_2.aspx

http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/common/ministry/publications/reports/walker04/walker04_2.aspx




image10.emf
Item 8.1 Briefing  Note


Item 8.1 Briefing Note


BRIEFING NOTE 


Page: 1 


Item #8.1 


SMDHU Organizational Structure Revision 
 


Update: New Date: April 18, 2018 


Issue 
 
The Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) continues to evolve in its response to a 
changing environment with new legislative requirements (in particular regarding our relationship 
with Local Health Integration Networks, as required by the Patients First Act), new program, 
reporting and accountability requirements (with the new Ontario Public Health Standards: 
Requirements for Programs, Services and Accountability, and changes to the Health Protection 
and Promotion Act and some of its regulations), and a shift in funding to requested 
enhancements to base funding in response to the ongoing provincial cost-shared programs 
grant freeze. At the beginning of 2016, SMDHU implemented a new organizational structure 
(documented in Appendix A). At that time it was noted that additional organizational structural 
changes may be needed over time to adapt to our evolving environment and mandate. 
 
This briefing note provides the Board with an overview of changes in the management structure 
of the organization. In keeping with traditional practice, the updated organizational structure is 
provided for consideration and recommended approval by the Board of Health (as documented 
in Appendix B).   
 
Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive this briefing note as information; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health approve the new SMDHU organizational structure 
as documented in Appendix B.   
 
Current Facts 
 
Through the review of the new Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, 
Services and Accountability (OPHS) and the creation of the first Annual Service Plans to fulfill 
these (submitted to the province for its March 1st deadline), senior management has identified a 
number of needs and opportunities requiring some changes in our management complement, 
and thus in our organizational structure. Some of these recommended changes are time-limited, 
reflective of temporary demands related to leadership required in the commencement of new 
program activities, with one-time funding opportunities to support these positions. Other 
recommended changes are long-term, reflecting ongoing leadership needs, with permanent 
funding sources identified (from the discontinuation of other management positions, leveraging 
other provincially funded leadership positions, and in some instances combined with base 
funding enhancement requests to the province).  
 
In addition to these changes, senior management anticipates the possibility of other 
organizational changes in the future as we proceed with the new OPHS, and as opportunities 
arise. The Board will be kept informed of any such proposed changes as they are identified.  
 







BRIEFING NOTE 
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Background 
 
On November 18, 2015 the Board approved a new organizational structure that commenced 
January 2, 2016, with a reduction in management and in the number of departments (going from 
six to five departments, as documented in Appendix A). At that time it was noted that with the 
provincial modernization of public health, including legislative, regulatory, programmatic, and 
accountability changes, there may be the need for further changes to our organizational 
structure in the future.  
 
Since that time, there has been the arrival of the new OPHS (with its new accountability 
structure, including the Annual Service Plans), and a closer relationship between boards of 
health and the LHINs under the Patients First Act. In addition, provincial decisions regarding 
action on the Expert Panel on Public Health report have yet to be communicated.  
 
Contact 
 
Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health and CEO Ext. 7219 
 
 
 



http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/news/bulletin/2017/hb_20170720.aspx



		Item #8.1

		SMDHU Organizational Structure Revision

		Update: New Date: April 18, 2018

		Issue

		Recommendations

		Current Facts

		Background

		Contact






image11.emf
Item 8.1 Appendix A


Item 8.1 Appendix A


 Medical Officer of Health
 


Clinical Service
Department 


Director


Environmental 
Health Department 


Director
 


 Community and 
Family Health 


Department Director
 


Program 
Foundations and 


Finance 
Department


 Director


Emergency 
Management and 
Rabies Program 


 


Food Safety 
Program 


 


Vaccine 
Preventable 


Disease Program
 


Sexual Health 
Program 


 


Communicable 
Disease Program 


 


 Injury & 
Substance 


Misuse 
Prevention 
Program  


 


Chronic Disease 
Prevention - 


Healthy Lifestyle 
Program


 Child Health 
Program


 


Healthy Babies 
Healthy Children 


Program
 


Health 
Connection


 


November 2015


 2016 Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
Board of Health


Safe Water 
Program


 
Health Promotion 


& 
Communications  


 


Population 
Health 


Assessment, 
Surveillance & 


Evaluation
 


Administrative 
Support 


 


Human 
Resources and 


Payroll


 Finance 
 


Reproductive 
Health Program


 


Human Resources 
and Infrastructure  


Department Director
 


Office of the MOH
 


Information 
Technology and 


Infrastructure
 


Oral Health 
Program 


 


Health Hazards 
and Vector Borne 
Disease Program


 


Tobacco-Free 
Living Program


 


Healthy Schools 
Program


 


 Central East 
Tobacco Control 


Area Network 
(CETCAN)


 


Appendix A





		Page-1�




image12.emf
Item 8.1 Appendix B


Item 8.1 Appendix B


 Medical Officer of Health
 


Clinical Service
Department 


Director


Environmental 
Health Department 


Director
 


 Community and 
Family Health 


Department Director
 


Program 
Foundations and 


Finance Department
 Director


Food Safety 
Program


 


Vaccine 
Preventable 


Disease Program
 


Sexual Health 
Program


 


Communicable 
Disease Program 


 


 
Injury & Substance 
Misuse Prevention 


Program
 


Chronic Disease 
Prevention - 


Healthy Lifestyle 
Program


 Child Health 
Program


 


Healthy Babies 
Healthy Children 


Program
 


Health Connection
 


April 2018


Proposed 2018 Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 
Board of Health


 
Tobacco-Free 


Living Program
and


Tobacco Control 
Area Network – 


Central East
 


Health Promotion & 
Communications  


 


Population Health 
Assessment, 


Surveillance & 
Evaluation


 


Administrative 
Support 


 


Human 
Resources and 


Payroll


 Finance 
 


Reproductive 
Health Program


 


Human Resources 
and Infrastructure  


Department Director
 


Office of the MOH
 


Information 
Technology, 


Infrastructure and 
Facilities


 


 
Oral Health 


Program
and


School Vision 
Screening


 


Emergency 
Preparedness and 
Rabies Program


 


Safe Water Program
 


Healthy Schools 
Program


 


Health Hazards and 
Vector Borne 


Disease Program
 


 
Branch Office


Leads *
 


*Matrix management model, reporting to the Director of Human Resources and Infrastructure


Appendix B





		Page-1�




image13.emf
Item 8.2 Briefing  Note


Item 8.2 Briefing Note


BRIEFING NOTE 


Page: 1 


Item #8.2 
 


Overdose Prevention Site/Supervised Consumption Site 
Planning Update 


 Date: April 18, 2018 
Update: #1 


Issue 
 


Opioid overdoses is an urgent public health issue in Simcoe Muskoka. From January to October 
2017, there were 63 confirmed and 5 probable opioid deaths in Simcoe Muskoka. Opioid deaths 
peaked in August 2017 with 16 confirmed opioid deaths. For the same 10 month period in 2016, 
there were 38 opioid deaths representing a 79% increase in opioid related deaths.1 


On December 7, 2017, Health Canada issued an exemption to the Ministry of Health and Long-
term Care (MOHLTC) to establish temporary Urgent Public Health Need Sites referred to as 
Overdose Prevention Sites (OPS) in Ontario.2  This has enabled health and community based 
organizations in Ontario to move forward with establishing these sites in a more expedited 
fashion than Supervised Consumption Sites (SCS).  


This report provides an update on the preparations being pursued by community partner 
agencies to help to prevent opioid deaths in Simcoe Muskoka through the application of this 
approach.  


Recommendation 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive this briefing note as information.  


Current Facts 
 


In response to escalating opioid overdoses in Simcoe Muskoka, the Harm Reduction pillar of the 
Simcoe Muskoka Opioid Strategy (SMOS) is currently moving forward with an application for 
funding for an Overdose Prevention Site (OPS) in Barrie. Community partners collaborating on 
the Barrie OPS application include the Gilbert Centre (lead agency), the Canadian Mental 
Health Association (CMHA) (co-lead agency), David Busby Street Centre, John Howard Society 
and Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU). CMHA has offered parking lot space 
behind their 21 Bradford Street office location in down town Barrie.  This space will allow a 
trailer to be used as an OPS to be placed behind 21 Bradford St. building, which is next to 
another CMHA building at 15 Bradford St., with access made to the office washroom facilities. 
This proposed location is well-situated to service many of the street involved individuals who 
use illicit drugs in Barrie. Presentations on the OPS plans have been provided to both the OPP 
Detachment Commanders throughout Simcoe and Muskoka, as well as the Chief, Deputy Chief 
and Inspectors with the Barrie Police Service. Collaborating OPS partners have arranged a 
meeting with City of Barrie Mayor Lehman for April 18th, and further engagement with City of 
Barrie staff and Council as well as Simcoe County officials is being pursued by the lead agency 
for the application.  SMDHU did advise that the OPS application be submitted after these 
engagements are underway; however, the lead and co-lead agencies felt it was urgent to submit 
the application and thus did so on April 10, 2018.   
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Preliminary discussions are also occurring among key stakeholders in Orillia to explore an OPS 
application. The Harm Reduction pillar will only proceed with an Orillia OPS if there is sufficient 
need identified.  
 
The chart below provides local data on Opioid Overdose Emergency Department (ED) Visits for 
certain Simcoe Muskoka municipalities that are particularly impacted. 


 
 
Please note that while crude rates are an important measure, the actual number of ED visits are 
also critical in assessing the feasibility of whether an OPS would be warranted. The number of 
ED visits in Barrie is substantially higher than other communities in Simcoe Muskoka, and the 
rate is second from highest. Overall, there was a substantial upward trend in the opioid  
poisoning emergency visit rates in both Simcoe Muskoka and Ontario over the 14-year period 
from 2003 to 2017. The opioid poisoning emergency room visit rates in Simcoe Muskoka have 
been significantly higher than the provincial rates since 2004.1 
Exploration of Supervised Consumption Sites (SCS) will follow the OPS application, starting 
with a feasibility study that will be conducted across the region. Based on the feasibility study 
results, communities that have an identified need for SCS will be consulted and the application 
process to Health Canada will follow.  


Background 
 
Background on Harm Reduction policies and programs was provided to the Board of Health via 
an Opioid Update on November 17, 2017. (Appendix A) 
 
New since the November presentation, the province announced the option to apply for an OPS. 
OPSs are intended as low barrier, life-saving, time-limited services. OPS offer targeted services 
in order to address the crisis in opioid related overdoses and are essentially a paired down 
SCS. (2)The key elements to an OPS include supervised injection of drugs, naloxone 
distribution and provision of harm reduction supplies and disposal of used supplies. 
 
The OPS application process involves the following: 


• The site is led by a healthcare or community based organization 
• Evidence demonstrating local need 
• Letter of permission from the land/property owner to operate and OPS on site 
• Site meets municipal bylaws and provincial regulations for accessibility 
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• Physical safety and security measures are in place to ensure client, staff and community 
safety 


• Minimum of two employees, with CPR and naloxone training, are required to be onsite at 
all times, with one designated health professional available as determined by the 
applicant.2 
 


Location is an important consideration; people who use drugs have indicated that they would 
like facilities to be located close to where they actually use drugs. According to the Toronto and 
Ottawa Supervised Consumption Assessment (TOSCA) report, individuals would not travel 
more than 1 km to access services, noting that 1 km is measured as a 20 minute walk or 10 
blocks in distance.3 
 
On February 12, 2018, the first Overdose Prevention Site (OPS) opened in London, Ontario. 
The MOHLTC has recently approved Guelph and Peel OPS applications with those sites set to 
open in spring 2018.  
 
As a more comprehensive and permanent service than an OPS, an SCS is a legally sanctioned 
health facility that offers a hygienic environment where people can inject illicit drugs under the 
supervision of trained staff. They have strong linkages to local health and social services, to 
connect users of the SCS as desired. The primary goals of supervised consumption facilities 
include: reducing drug-related risks including the transmission of Human Immunodeficiency 
Virus (HIV), Hepatitis B and C and other blood-borne infections (through reduced sharing of 
drug-related paraphernalia); decreasing the number of overdoses; minimizing public order 
problems (including public drug use); and improving access to health and social services.3 
Consistent evidence demonstrates that SCSs mitigate overdose-related harms and unsafe drug 
use behaviors, as well as facilitate uptake of addiction treatment and other health services 
among people who use drugs (PWUD). Further, SCSs have been associated with 
improvements in public order without increasing drug-related crime. SCSs have also been 
shown to be cost-effective. According to a systematic review published in October 2017, SCSs 
are effectively meeting their primary public health and order objectives and therefore play a role 
within a continuum of services for PWUD.4  
 
In order to open a federally-sanctioned supervised consumption site, an application is required 
to Health Canada for exemption for medical purposes under the Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act Section 56.1. The application requires information related to: 


• local conditions indicating a need for the site; 
• impact on crime rates; 
• administrative structure in place to support the facility; 
• resources available to support its maintenance; and 
• expressions of community support or opposition. 5 


To date, Health Canada has approved a total of seven SCS in Ontario. Currently there are 3 
SCS in Toronto and 3 in Ottawa. Several other communities in Ontario are exploring offering 
safe consumption services including London, Hamilton and Windsor. The Ontario Ministry of 
Health and Long-term Care have announced that there is funding available for operational and 
capital costs in support of the creation of new supervised injection services, in addition to the 
sites that the Ontario government is already funding.6  
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Additionally, it is important to note that given the continued significant resource allocation from 
various departments across the health unit - including the Office of the MOH, Program 
Foundations and Finance, Community and Family Health, Environmental Health, and Clinical 
Service - and that a coordinated and comprehensive agency response to this opioid crisis is 
required, SMDHU has identified opioids as an urgent public health issue. 


Contacts 
 
Mia Brown, Public Health Nurse, Injury and Substance Misuse Prevention                    Ext. 7436 
Janice Greco, Program Manager, Injury and Substance Misuse Prevention  Ext. 7288  
Carolyn Shoreman, Director, Community and Family Health Department                       Ext. 7361  
Dr. Lisa Simon, Associate Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7244 
 
 
 
References 
 


1. SMDHU Healthstats page; retrieved on March 19th, 2018 
http://www.simcoemuskokahealthstats.org/topics/alcohol-drugs/drugs/opioids/opioid-er-
visits    


2. Population and Public Health Division-Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care: Overdose 
Prevention Sites: User Guide for Applicants. January, 2018 
http://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/news/bulletin/2018/docs/hb_20180111_ops_user_guide.
pdf 


3. Toronto and Ottawa Supervised Consumption Assessment Study Website; retrieved on 
March 19th, 2018,  www.toscastudy.ca 


4. Public Health and Public Order Outcomes Associated with Supervised Drug 
Consumption Facilities: a Systematic Review- Mary Clare Kennedy & Mohammad 
Karamouzian & Thomas Kerr. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2017 Oct;14(5):161-183. doi: 10.1007/s11904-017-
0363-y. 


5. Government of Canada website; retrieved on March 19, 2018 
https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-abuse/supervised-
consumption-sites/guidance-document.html  


6. Government of Ontario website: retrieved on March 19, 2018. Backgrounder; Taking 
Action to Prevent Opioid Addiction and Overdose. 
https://news.ontario.ca/mohltc/en/2017/10/taking-action-to-prevent-opioid-addiction-and-
overdose.html 
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Item #6.2 
Opioid Update 


Update: #2 Date: November 15, 2017 
 


Issue 
 
Opioid overdoses and deaths continue to take place across Ontario as well as in Simcoe 
Muskoka at increasingly concerning levels. Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) staff 
continue to play a critical role in the development of a comprehensive Simcoe Muskoka Opioid 
Strategy (SMOS). This region-wide, cross-sector collaborative strategy consists of key action 
pillars including Prevention, Treatment, Harm Reduction, Enforcement, and Mass Overdose 
Response, along with the foundational pillars of Data & Evaluation and Lived Experience 
(Appendix A). The strategy is in the planning stage. The committee for the Harm Reduction 
pillar is currently determining the feasibility of applying for Health Canada approval for a safe 
consumption site in Simcoe Muskoka.  
 
Additionally, it is important to note that given the continued significant resource allocation from 
various departments across the health unit - including the Office of the MOH, Program 
Foundations and Finance, Community and Family Health, Environmental Health, and Clinical 
Service - and that a coordinated and comprehensive agency response to this opioid crisis is 
required, internal discussions are taking place regarding the potential of identifying Opioids as 
an urgent public health issue (as defined in SMDHU’s 2016-2018 strategic plan).  


Recommendations 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive this Opioid Update as information.  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Board of Health write a letter to Mayors Gord McKay and Steve 
Clarke in response to their letter dated Oct 26, 2017 (Appendix B), indicating that staff are 
investigating policy approaches to illicit substance use and that the Board will communicate with 
Simcoe Muskoka municipalities in future if an advocacy position is taken. 


Current Facts 
 
At the October 17, 2017 meeting of the Harm Reduction Pillar of the Simcoe Muskoka Opioid 
Strategy (SMOS), members agreed to explore the application process to Health Canada for a 
Safe Consumption Site as part of a comprehensive strategy to address the current opioid crisis. 
This is in response to the increasing and higher than provincial average opioid-related ER visit 
and death rate in Simcoe Muskoka, which is of substantial local concern.  
In 2016 there were 46 opioid-related deaths among Simcoe Muskoka residents with a crude 
death rate of 8.3 (6.1, 11.0) per 100,000, significantly higher than the provincial rate of 6.2 (5.8, 
6.6) per 100,000. The crude rate for opioid poisoning emergency visits in Simcoe Muskoka in 
2016 was 51.5 (45.3, 58.2) per 100,000 population, which was significantly higher than the 
Ontario rate of 31.7 (30.8, 32.7) per 100,000 population. There was a significant upward trend in 
the opioid poisoning emergency visit rates in both Simcoe Muskoka and Ontario over the 14-
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year period from 2003 to 2016. The opioid poisoning emergency visit rates in Simcoe Muskoka 
have been significantly higher than the provincial rates since 2004. (1) 


 


Background 
 
Harm reduction refers to policies, programs and practices that aim to reduce the harms 
associated with the use of psychoactive drugs in people unable or unwilling to stop. It focuses 
on the prevention of harm in people who continue to use drugs, rather than on the prevention of 
drug use itself. In December 2016, the Government of Canada announced the Canadian Drugs 
and Substances Strategy (CDSS) and the reintegration of harm reduction as a critical pillar 
along with the existing pillars of prevention, treatment and enforcement: 
 


“The inclusion of harm reduction as a pillar of Canada’s drug policy will better enable the 
Government to address the current opioid crisis, and to work toward preventing the 
emergence of new crises. With this change, harm reduction-focused policies—such as 
support for properly established and maintained supervised consumption sites, and 
increased access to naloxone—will now be a formal part of the Government’s strategy” 
(2) 


 
A supervised consumption facility is a legally sanctioned health facility that offers a hygienic 
environment where people can inject illicit drugs under the supervision of trained staff. Some 
facilities also allow people to smoke illicit drugs. The primary goals of supervised consumption 
facilities include:  


• reducing drug-related risks including the transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus 
(HIV),  


• Hepatitis B and C and other blood-borne infections (through reduced sharing of drug-
related paraphernalia);  


• decreasing the number of overdoses; minimizing public order problems (including public 
drug use);  


• and improving access to health and social services.(3)  
 
Insite, Canada’s first sanctioned safe injection facility, opened in 2003 among rising addiction 
issues in Vancouver’s lower east side. Several research studies have demonstrated among 
clients accessing Insite: an increase in uptake of detoxification and addiction services, a 70% 
decrease in needle sharing, a decrease in overdose deaths, and statistically significant 
decreases in vehicle break-ins, theft and injecting in public places and injection-related litter. (4)  
 
In order to open a federally-sanctioned supervised consumption site, an application is required 
to Health Canada for exemption for medical purposes under the Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act Section 56.1. The application requires information related to: 


• local conditions indicating a need for the site; 
• impact on crime rates; 
• administrative structure in place to support the facility; 
• resources available to support its maintenance; and 
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• expressions of community support or opposition. (5) 


The Harm Reduction Pillar membership, in which SMDHU is active, is prepared to engage in 
collecting the information outlined above, should the SMOS Steering Committee agree in 
principle to pursue a safe consumption site if the need and demonstrated benefit to the 
community are determined. The Steering Committee will consider this issue along with the full 
range of proposed plans from all Pillar tables at its November and December 2017 meetings.  


As of July 26, 2017, Health Canada has approved a total of fifteen supervised consumption 
sites across Canada and is currently reviewing nineteen additional applications.To date, 3 
supervised consumption sites in Toronto and 1 in Ottawa have received Health Canada 
approval. An additional 3 applications are under review for Ottawa.  Several other communities 
in Ontario are exploring offering safe consumption services including London, Hamilton and 
Windsor. The Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term Care recently announced new funding 
for operational and capital costs in support of the creation of new supervised injection services, 
in addition to the four sites that the Ontario government is already funding.(6)  


SMDHU is mandated under the Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention, Wellness and 
Substance Misuse program of the Ontario Public Health Standards to implement public health 
interventions that address substance misuse based on assessment of local need including illicit 
drugs and harm reduction strategies (7). Harm reduction services provided by SMDHU have 
included a Needle Exchange Program since 1999 and a Naloxone Distribution program since 
2015.  


The Board of Health last received an update on opioid use in Simcoe Muskoka on April 19, 
2017.  Staff intend to provide an additional update to the Board of Health regarding the 
complete plan for SMOS pillar work once the SMOS strategy is finalized in the first quarter of 
2018. 


Contacts 
 
Janice Greco, Program Manager, Injury and Substance Misuse Prevention  Ext. 7288  
Carolyn Shoreman, Director, Community and Family Health Department                       Ext. 7361  
Dr. Lisa Simon, Associate Medical Officer of Health Ext. 7244 
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Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit Board Development Session 
May 2nd, 2018 - Hawk Ridge Gold Club, 1151 Hurlwood Lane, Severn 


 
AGENDA 


 
Light Breakfast Available from 8:30 to 9:00. 


Timeline Key Deliverables Results 
9:00 a.m. Welcome address from the Board Chair Scott Warnock  
9:05 a.m. • Why do Health Boards exist? What is corporate 


governance, the principal-agent problem, independence, 
and the fiduciary duty of boards? 


• Board functional levels (types of Boards and “drawing the 
line” between the board and management.) 


Clarity and Review 
on Roles and 
Responsibilities of 
SMDHU’s board and 
Management 


9:30 a.m. • How do Health Boards fulfill their responsibilities? The 
tools the Board uses to set direction and goals (strategy, 
policy, people and budget) and to gain reasonable 
assurance (financial, policy, people and performance 
monitoring). 


• Facilitated dialogue on board duties, roles, 
communications, responsibilities and relationships. 


Board process for 
fulfilling its Roles 


10:15 a.m. Break  


10:30 a.m. • What is the most effective use of committees? Why do 
they exist, what is their purpose? 


• Committee effectiveness 
• Facilitated dialogue on best committees for SMDHU 


Clear understanding 
of the use of 
committees and 
committees needed 
at SMDHU 


11:00 a.m. • Board profiling session, matrix development and skills 
analysis. 


Clear understanding 
and straw model of 
SMDHU Board 
profile 


11:50 a.m. • Wrap: Finalize any decision items required from all 
sessions and set the framework for a workplan to achieve 
these outcomes. 


Finalize all decision 
items and set goals 
for implementation 
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Rob DeRooy, B Comm., C. Dir., Pro. Dir 
Vice President Governance and Strategy, Governance Solutions Inc. 
 
 
Rob brings a wealth of knowledge and experience to our clients. His expertise in corporate 
governance, strategic planning, member and stakeholder engagement and oversight is deep at 
both the board and executive levels.  
Having served both as a Chief Executive Officer, and as a Board member on several boards, Rob 
is able to see governance and strategic issues from both sides of the boardroom table. Having 
been on both sides of the table has afforded Rob the opportunity to see where the “bright red 
line” between the Board and Management should be and how to best keep it in place. 


As an educator Rob is best known for his use of customized case studies that aid adult learning 
and help bring life to the complex issues of Corporate Governance. With an in-depth knowledge 
of governance best practices Rob’s development sessions are among the top-rated sessions 
provided by Governance Solutions. 


Rob earned his Bachelor of Commerce degree at McMaster University, and obtained the 
Chartered Director (C.Dir.) designation from The Directors College (a joint venture of McMaster 
University and The Conference Board of Canada) 2012.  
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THE CHANGING FACE OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
2018 alPHa Annual General Meeting & Conference 
June 10, 11 & 12 
Novotel Toronto Centre Hotel 
45 The Esplanade, Toronto, ON 


 
Recent changes in the Ontario public health system have resulted 
in public health units taking on new responsibilities in addition to 
their current mandate. The conference will explore these new 
commitments and provide perspectives on how to best deliver on 
them.  
 


 


REGISTRATION NOW OPEN  
Take advantage of the Early Bird rate (ends May 9) - Click HERE to register! 
Learn more about registration here 
 


BOOK YOUR ACCOMMODATIONS by MAY 22 
A limited block of hotel guestrooms has been reserved; book early to avoid disappointment 
Click HERE to book a room 
Learn more about the hotel here 


 
 


   
✓ Earlier time for final 2017-18 alPHa Board of 


Directors meeting. 
 


Sunday, June 10 2 – 4 PM 


✓ Special pre-conference activity: A free guided 
walking tour of downtown Toronto’s St. 
Lawrence neighbourhood led by a former 
chief planner for the city, Robert Millward, 
focusing on the built form and public health. 
Participation is optional. If attending, please 
pre-register by indicating as such in the online 
registration.    


 


Sunday, June 10 4 – 6 PM 


✓ Sunday’s registration desk will open earlier 
this year. Pick up your nametag and folder to 
avoid next day lineups. 


 


Sunday, June 10 2 – 6 PM 


 
 
SEE NEXT PAGE FOR A DRAFT PROGRAM OUTLINE 


 
LOOK FOR FURTHER PROGRAM DETAILS IN THE COMING WEEKS at www.alphaweb.org 


 
 



http://www.alphaweb.org/events/register.aspx?id=985924

http://www.alphaweb.org/resource/resmgr/2018_june_conf/Registration_Info_June_2018.pdf

https://aws.passkey.com/e/49232323?utm_source=9162&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=275381130

http://www.alphaweb.org/resource/resmgr/2018_june_conf/Hotel_Info_June_2018.pdf

http://www.alphaweb.org/?page=Conference_Info





THE CHANGING FACE OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
2018 Annual General Meeting & Conference 


June 10, 11 & 12 
Novotel Toronto Centre Hotel 


45 The Esplanade, Toronto 
 


DRAFT PROGRAM OUTLINE * 
 


*content subject to change; all sessions take place at conference hotel unless otherwise indicated 


 


SUNDAY, JUNE 10 
 
 2 – 4 PM (new time!) Final meeting of 2017-18 alPHa Board of Directors 


2 – 6 PM  Registration  


 4 – 6 PM   Free guided walking tour; outdoors (rain or shine) 


 6 – 7 PM  Welcome Reception 


 
 
MONDAY, JUNE 11 
 
 7 – 8 AM  Registration (incl. resolutions voting registration) & Breakfast 


 8 – 10 AM  AGM & Resolutions Session  


 10 AM – 4 PM  Plenary/Breakouts 


 6 – 8:30 PM  President’s Reception & Awards Dinner 


 
 
TUESDAY, JUNE 12 
 
 7:30 – 8:30 AM Registration & Breakfast 


 8:30 AM – 12 PM Section Meetings for Board of Health Members, MOHs/AMOHs 


 12:30 – 1 PM  Inaugural meeting of 2018-19 alPHa Board of Directors  


 1 PM   Conference Ends (following lunch) 


 
 


SPECIAL THANKS TO THE FOLLOWING: 
 
Platinum Supporter:      Bronze Supporter: 
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Item #10.2 


SMDHU 2018 Election Strategy 
 


Update: #2 Date: April 18, 2018 
 


Issue 
 
The Ontario provincial election will take place June 7, 2018.  The election provides an 
opportunity for Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit (SMDHU) to: 


• educate provincial candidates and the public about specific public health issues relevant 
to the local population; and 


• advocate for specific public health initiatives, actions and/or policies that are related to 
and/or influenced by the municipal and provincial governments.   


 
An election primer has been developed to highlight key public health issues, identify how and 
why they are relevant to the province, and advocate for specific provincial actions relevant to 
these key issues. 


Recommendation 
 
THAT the Board of Health receive the SMDHU 2018 provincial election primer for information. 


Current Facts 
 
At its February 21, 2018 meeting, the Board of Health was given an overview of the SMDHU 
2018 election strategy and the key public health issues the agency will focus on. In addition to 
profiling key public health issues, feedback from the Board included a suggestion to highlight 
the need for greater spending on public health and to reinforce the return on investment of 
public health programming.  
 
Find attached the provincial primer (Appendix A). The accompanying website content is 
currently under development and will reflect the key messages in the primer and additional 
information. The target date for launching the website, promoting key messages on social 
media, and sending the packages to provincial candidates is April 30.  
 


Background 
 
A History of SMDHU Election Advocacy Strategies 
 
SMDHU has a history of advocating for public health issues by creating and implementing 
election advocacy strategies. This began in 2006 with the Ontario municipal election, and 
continued in 2007 with the provincial election, 2008 federal election, and again in 2010, 2011 
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and 2014 with the municipal and provincial elections respectively. These strategies focused on 
key public health issues that were either included in the health unit’s strategic plan, and/or the 
Board of Health had advocated on, and/or were important and timely public health issues. The 
election strategies were similar and consisted of the following activities: 
 


• Mail out to election candidates – An election primer or fact sheets were part of a 
package sent to all municipal, provincial and/or federal election candidates in Simcoe 
Muskoka, along with letter from the MOH explaining the purpose and intent of the 
information they were receiving. The primer included key messages and advocacy asks 
related to each of the highlighted issues, along with an overview of the role of public 
health in Simcoe Muskoka. Key messages and asks were tailored to either a municipal, 
provincial or federal candidate.  


• Awareness for the general public – The health unit’s website, social media platforms and 
traditional media were used as channels to raise awareness and educate the general 
public about key public health issues. It also included points for the public to raise with 
their local candidate.  


 
In 2015, the municipal election primer was subsequently used as a resource to support new 
councils to consider incorporating health concepts in the creation of their municipal strategic 
plans.   
 


Contacts 
 
Dr. Charles Gardner, Medical Officer of Health & CEO Ext. 7219 
Sandra Horney, Director Program Foundations & Finance Ext. 7256 
Megan Williams, Manager, Health Promotion and Communications Ext. 7328 
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LET’S  


LET’S  


MAKE 
HEALTH 
MATTER
. 


A healthy population is 
crucial to a productive, 


vibrant and economically 
strong Ontario. 


The provincial government plays an important role in shaping policies that 
impact on all aspects of our lives, including our health. 


Healthy people, active communities, a clean environment, and health 
equity for everyone are key considerations in provincial policy making. 
Working with partners and decision makers to achieve these outcomes is 
a key role of the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit.  


During the 2018 provincial election campaign let’s make health matter by 
encouraging government actions on important public health issues to 
reduce preventable illness and death and improve overall health in Simcoe 
and Muskoka. 







TH
E 


IS
SU


ES ORAL HEALTH


Oral health is one important facet of 
maintaining lifelong overall health and 
well-being. Barriers to good oral health 
include not having access to dental care 
due to cost or lack of dental insurance, and 
living in a community without community 
water fluoridation. 


 Amend legislation and support 
a provincial mandate for com-
munity water fluoridation within 
all municipal water supplies. 


 Expand provincially funded 
access to oral health care for 
institutionalized and low income 
seniors and adults, including 
the working poor.


TH
E 


AC
TI


ON
S


FOOD 
INSECURITY


About 1 in 8 Simcoe Muskoka house-
holds experience some level of food 
insecurity. When faced with a limited 
income, food becomes a flexible expense 
often resulting in a less healthy diet and 
increased risk of poorer physical and 
mental health and social isolation. 


 Increase social assistance 
rates to cover actual living 
costs, including food, and 
ensure these rates are indexed 
to inflation.


 Monitor household food insecu-
rity through annual participa-
tion in the Canadian Community 
Health Survey and by reinstat-
ing support for public health 
units to conduct the Nutritious 
Food Basket survey annually.







TH
E 


IS
SU


ES
TH


E 
AC


TI
ON


S
Shelter is a basic need for optimal health. 
Being homeless or living in unaffordable, 
inadequate or unsafe housing can lead to 
increased illness, poor mental health and 
premature death. 


HOUSING


 Increase provincial funding for 
the building of social, afford-
able and transitional housing.


 Promote, provide and protect a 
range of affordable housing 
options by having a plan that 
outlines how all levels of 
government and community 
partners will work together.


INCOME


Income is the biggest determinant of a 
person’s health and quality of life. Those 
living on low income have higher rates of 
chronic and infectious diseases, mental 
illness, and are more likely to die early 
than those who are better off financially. 


 Adopt income security strate-
gies that address the needs of 
those of low income, such as 
increasing social assistance 
rates and supporting the mini-
mum wage increase scheduled 
for January 2019.


 Support the completion and 
evaluation of the Ontario Basic 
Income Pilot and consider its 
timely implementation across 
the province.


 







OPIOIDS


The misuse of prescription and illicit 
opioids can have devastating health and 
social effects on individuals, families and 
communities. Since 2004, opioid poisoning 
emergency visit rates in Simcoe Muskoka 
have been significantly higher than the 
provincial rates. 


 Develop a funded, comprehen-
sive, action plan for the Ontario 
Opioid Strategy, including 
prevention, harm reduction, 
treatment and surveillance, with 
targets, deliverables, timelines 
and an evaluation component.


 Provide support and resources 
for harm reduction strategies, 
such as supervised consumption 
sites, and enhanced naloxone 
roll out and access to nasal 
naloxone 


BUILT 
ENVIRONMENT


A built environment designed to meet the 
daily needs of all people supports human 
health and quality of life. Healthy commu-
nity design includes providing a range of 
housing and convenient access to jobs, 
local services, and public service 
facilities. It also encourages the use of 
active and public transportation and 
provides public spaces, parkland, and 
access to healthy food.


 Strengthen provincial policies 
to direct development of com-
pact, complete communities 
that support active and public 
transit use, social cohesion, 
and the preservation of agricul-
tural lands and natural spaces.


 Provide municipalities with 
funding for cycling infrastruc-
ture that supports safer cycling 
within and between communi-
ties.


CLIMATE CHANGE


The changing climate is expected to 
result in increases in respiratory, 
heat-related and foodborne illnesses, 
weather-related injuries, vector-borne 
disease, and UV-related skin cancers. 
While everyone feels the effects of 
climate change, factors such as age, 
gender, health status and access to 
resources makes some people more 
vulnerable to climate change effects. 


 Provide resources for munici-
palities to complete vulnerabil-
ity assessments and 
climate-related adaptation 
strategies.


 Protect and enhance green 
space throughout the province 
as a strategy for both climate 
change mitigation and adapta-
tion.







ALCOHOL


Drinking alcohol can cause injuries and a 
broad range of chronic diseases and social 
harms. Increased access and availability of 
alcohol leads to greater consumption, 
resulting in more harm to society, 
including increased crime and related 
policing costs. 


 Develop a comprehensive 
provincial alcohol control 
strategy to ensure that policies 
and programs related to alcohol 
are in the best health and 
economic interest of all Ontari-
ans.  


 Review the current system of 
access and availability to 
alcohol in Ontario to protect 
health, with the intention of not 
expanding it.


CANNABIS


Cannabis use carries health risks, especially 
for people who use it frequently and/or 
begin to use it at an early age. Risks include 
problems with adolescent brain develop-
ment, drug-impaired driving, respiratory 
problems, and drug dependence. 


 Adopt and fund a comprehensive 
public health approach to canna-
bis legalization, regulation, 
restriction of access, education 
and harm reduction in Ontario.


 Align regulatory restrictions on 
cannabis with those on tobacco 
as provided in the Smoke-Free 
Ontario Act.


TOBACCO


Despite a reduction of tobacco use in 
Ontario, smoking remains the leading 
cause of preventable death and illness. 
More must be done to reduce the health, 
social and other financial costs associated 
with tobacco use.


 Shift the focus from tobacco 
control to a future that is free 
from commercial tobacco.


 Align the Smoke-Free Ontario 
Strategy with a tobacco 
endgame approach with a target 
of less than 5% tobacco use in 
Ontario by 2035, using strate-
gies from the Smoke Free Ontar-
io Modernization: Report of the 
Executive Steering Committee.







What the 
Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit 


does for you
At the Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit we are champions of health for all. Guided by provincial stan-
dards and funded by the province and municipalities, we work with people, agencies, municipalities, school 
boards, health care partners, and communities to promote well-being, prevent disease and injury, and 
protect health. 


We are part of a broader public health system that makes vital contributions to the health of our people and 
communities. Investing in public health programs and services results in a clear return on investment, which 
saves the health care system millions of dollars a year. For example, every $1 invested in tobacco prevention 
programs saves up to $20 in future health care costs. Every $1 invested in adding fluoride to drinking water 
saves $38 in dental care. And every $1 spent on measles, mumps and rubella immunization of children 
saves $16 in health care costs. Therefore, increasing provincial funding for public health units in Ontario not 
only results in healthier people and places, but also makes economic sense.


The Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit works everyday to keep you and your family healthy. We do this through offering a wide 
range of programs and services, including:


Health protection - safe food inspec-
tion, safe water monitoring, rabies 
education and investigation, health 
hazard prevention and management, 
address environmental issues, emer-
gency management and response, 
Smoke-free Ontario Act enforcement


Healthy living - injury prevention, 
substance use prevention, active living, 
healthy eating, healthy schools, sun 
safety, tobacco-free living


Parenting, children and family health – 
pre-natal classes and counselling, 
breastfeeding, Healthy Babies Healthy 
Children program, Triple P positive 
parenting program, child development 
and screening, dental screening for 
children, and preventive services and 
treatment for eligible children and adults 
on publicly funded dental programs


Infectious disease control and 
immunization – school immunization 
programs, vaccine and clinics, infectious 
disease surveillance and monitoring, 
infection prevention and control, sexual 
health counseling and clinics


Health equity – work with partners to 
address social factors, such as income, 
housing, and education that can have strong 
impacts on our health


Population health assessment – collect, 
analyze and report on data and other 
information for planning purposes


For more information, visit our website at www.smdhu.org/election2018, 
or contact Health Connection at 1-877-721-7520.
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Date: 2018/03/28 


Ontario Public Health Standards Modernization 


Indicator Implementation 
Task Force 


 
 
 


Terms of Reference 
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Terms of Reference 


Indicator Implementation Task Force  


Background 


As part of the broader health system transformation in Ontario, the Ministry of Health 
and Long-Term Care (“the ministry”) has modernized the Ontario Public Health 
Standards.  
 
The Ontario Public Health Standards: Requirements for Programs, Services, and 
Accountability (Standards) were released on December 29, 2017 and came into effect 
on January 1, 2018.   
 
The Standards include a Public Health Indicator Framework for Program Outcomes and 
Contributions to Population Health Outcomes (“Indicator Framework”), which describes 
indicators that will be used to monitor progress in the delivery of public health programs 
and services, measure achievement of program outcomes, and assess public health’s 
contributions to population health outcomes. 
 
Program level indicators listed in the Indicator Framework measure the outcomes 
achieved through direct delivery of public health programs and services by boards of 
health. Areas of measurement include, Food Safety, Immunization, Infectious and 
Communicable Diseases Prevention and Control and Safe Water.  
 
Boards of health are required to establish program outcome indicators for standards 
where local variability exists in order to respond to local needs, priorities, and contexts. 
These standards include Chronic Disease Prevention and Well-Being, Healthy 
Environments, Healthy Growth and Development, School Health, and Substance Use 
and Injury Prevention.  
 
It is expected that the achievement of program outcomes will contribute to positive 
population health outcomes. Population health outcome measures include improved 
health and quality of life, reduced morbidity and premature mortality, and reduced health 
inequities among population groups. 
  
The Foundational Standards underlie and support all Program Standards; therefore, it is 
expected that the outcomes of the Foundational Standards will be achieved through the 
effective delivery of programs and services. 
 
In order to operationalize the Indicator Framework, further work is required to confirm 
the program outcomes and advise on population health outcomes. 
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Mandate 


The Indicator Implementation Task Force is being convened to provide advice and input 
to the ministry on the implementation of the set of indicators articulated in the Indicator 
Framework. 
 
The intent is for a sub-set of indicators to be implemented in 2018, while remaining 
indicators are ready for implementation in 2019 or later. 
 


Responsibilities 


The Indicator Implementation Task Force will: 
 


1. Provide advice on program outcome indicators, taking into account feedback 
provided during consultation and based on current areas of focus for the ministry. 
 


2. Provide advice on the contribution to population health outcome indicators, 
based on current areas of focus for the ministry. 


 
3. Review and provide advice on indicator definitions.  


 
4. Review and provide advice on the categorization of indicators into groups which: 


a. Can be implemented in 2018;  
b. Have data sources but require further work; and,  
c. May require the development of data sources. 


 
5. Provide guidance and advice on a roll-out strategy to support an operational 


approach to indicators. 
 


6. Provide advice on a process and structure for the ongoing review and refinement 
of indicators. 


 


 


Deliverables  


The Indicator Implementation Task Force will conclude its mandate following the 
submission of recommendations on indicators, data sources, and data collection 
methods and tools, which support the implementation of the Indicator Framework. 
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Membership 


The Indicator Implementation Task Force will be chaired by Roselle Martino, Assistant 
Deputy Minister, Population and Public Health Division, Ministry of Health and Long-
Term Care. Membership will represent a balance of ministry representatives and 
experts in public health, including those from public health units, public health 
stakeholder organizations, Public Health Ontario, and academia. See Appendix A for a 
list of members.      
 
Members who miss more than two meetings may be asked to reconsider their 
commitment to membership on the task force.  In order to sustain the momentum of the 
task force’s work, there will be no delegates permitted to attend meetings. 


Accountability 


Through the chair, the task force is accountable to the Population and Public Health 
Division of the ministry.   


Related Working Groups 


The work of the Indicator Implementation Task Force may need to align with other 
ongoing initiatives related to population health indicators, including the Population 
Health Indicators to Support Public Health and LHIN Engagement Project Committee.  


Time Frame 


The task force will be convened for a specific period of time, which is expected to be 
from April 2018 to August 2018.   
 
Meetings may occur as frequently as every three to four weeks in-person in Toronto, 
with teleconference access available upon request.  The ministry will cover eligible 
travel expenses to Toronto when accompanied by receipts. 
 
Meeting duration will be approximately two to three hours in length. 


Lead Secretariat 


Planning and Performance Branch 
Population and Public Health Division  
Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care 
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. Appendix A: 
Membership of the Indicator Implementation Task Force 


Chair 


Roselle Martino Assistant Deputy Minister, Population and Public Health 
Division (PPHD), MOHLTC   


Members from Health Units and Other Organizations 


Dr. Laura Rosella Assistant Professor, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, 
University of Toronto and Scientist, Public Health Ontario 


Dr. Paula Stewart Medical Officer of Health & Chief Executive Officer, Leeds, 
Grenville & Lanark District Health Unit 


Dr. Rosana Salvaterra Medical Officer of Health, Peterborough Public Health 


Dr. Kieran Moore Medical Officer of Health, Kingston, Frontenac and Lennox & 
Addington Health Unit 


Dr. Jessica Hopkins Medical Officer of Health, Peel Public Health 


Dr. Barbara Yaffe Acting Associate Chief Medical Officer of Health, 
Communicable and Infectious Disease, Office of the Chief 
Medical Officer of Health, MOHLTC 


Dr. Shelley Deeks Interim Chief, Communicable Diseases, Emergency 
Preparedness and Response, Public Health Ontario 


Dr. Brent Moloughney Medical Director, Health Promotion, Chronic Disease and 
Injury Prevention, Public Health Ontario 


Ms. Caitlyn Paget Epidemiologist, York Region (member of APHEO)  


Indicators Implementation Task Force Support (MOHLTC) 


Ms. Dianne Alexander Director, Healthy Living Policy and Programs Branch, PPHD 


Ms. Nina Arron Director, Disease Prevention Policy and Programs Branch, 
PPHD 


Ms. Laura Pisko Director, Health Protection Policy and Programs Branch, 
PPHD 


Ms. Liz Walker Director, Accountability and Liaison Branch, PPHD 


Ms. Jackie Wood Director, Planning and Performance Branch, PPHD 


Mr. Clint Shingler Director, Health System Emergency Management Branch, 
PPHD  
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2 Carlton Street, Suite 1306 
Toronto, Ontario  M5B 1J3 


Tel: (416) 595-0006 
Fax: (416) 595-0030 


E-mail: info@alphaweb.org 
 


www.alphaweb.org Providing Leadership in Public Health Management 


alPHa’s members are 
the public health units 
in Ontario. 
 


alPHa Sections: 


Boards of Health 
Section 


Council of Ontario 
Medical Officers of 
Health (COMOH) 
 


Affiliate 
Organizations: 


Association of Ontario 
Public Health Business 
Administrators 


Association of  
Public Health 
Epidemiologists  
in Ontario  


Association of 
Supervisors of Public 
Health Inspectors of 
Ontario 


Health Promotion 
Ontario  


Ontario Association of 
Public Health Dentistry  


Ontario Association of 
Public Health Nursing 
Leaders 


Ontario Dietitians in 
Public Health 


 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Hon. Charles Sousa                      April 3, 2018 
Minister of Finance 
10th Flr, 80 Grosvenor St,  
Toronto, ON M7A 2C4 
 
Dear Minister Sousa, 
 
Re: Ontario Budget 2018 
 
On behalf of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) and its member 
Medical Officers of Health, Boards of Health and Affiliate organizations, I am writing 
today to congratulate you on the release of this year’s Ontario Budget, “A Plan for Care 
and Opportunity” and to provide some initial feedback on its content.  
 
We agree with the observation in your speech that a balanced budget is a means to an 
end, and that it has provided an important opportunity to build on the investments that 
have been made to improve economic growth and to ensure fair distribution of its 
benefits. Health Equity is the foundation of the programs and services that local public 
health agencies deliver, and its strength depends on an equitable society.  
 
We therefore appreciate the strong focus on priority and vulnerable populations 
(seniors, Indigenous, homeless, children with developmental disabilities etc.) that 
appears throughout this year’s budget papers.  
 
We also appreciate the actions that are being taken in areas that are not part of local 
public health’s direct mandate, but have demonstrable impacts on population health, 
such as climate change, public transit, community hubs, and access to quality education.  
Our members have a keen interest in all of these as determinants of health and will have 
important contributions to make.  
 
Although this year’s budget does not specifically mention Ontario’s unique and valuable 
public health system, we welcome the opportunity to comment on several items that are 
well-aligned with our interests if not directly related to public health’s mandate. Several 
alPHa Resolutions that are related to this year’s Budget announcements are referred to 
by number and attached for your further consideration.  
 
Better Health Care for Everyone in Ontario 
 
As part of the additional investment of $5 Billion over three years into health care, we 
are very supportive of the expansions to OHIP+ to include seniors starting in August 
2019. This is well-aligned with alPHa’s call upon the Government of Canada and the 
Province of Ontario to move forward with the development and implementation of a 
national, universal pharmacare program (Resolution A15-2). We recognize Ontario’s 
leadership and hope that the tangible steps being taken here will be replicated across 
Canada in the near future.   
 
 
  







We also support the principles of a new Ontario Drug and Dental Program for the 1 in 4 working-age 
Ontarians (and 60% of seniors) who do not have access to extended health benefits through employers 
or government programs. This is aligned with our previously-stated support for universal pharmacare as 
well as our call for a provincially funded oral health program for low-income adults and seniors in 
Ontario. To be clear, we also view the latter as but one step in the right direction, as alPHa has also 
called upon the federal government to develop a National Oral Health Strategy that includes universal 
access of both preventative and treatment services to all Canadians (Resolutions A17-1 and A05-5). 
 
The three-year, $5M investment in the implementation of Rowan’s Law, which will establish 
requirements for concussion management for amateur competitive athletes, was also most welcome by 
our members. alPHa expressed its strong support for this initiative to the Minister of Culture, Tourism 
and Sport via correspondence in October 2017 (letter attached).   
 
Expanding Access to Mental Health and Addictions Services  
 
We agree completely that there is “no health without mental health” and applaud the Province’s 
commitment to ensuring access to care and supports for people living with mental illness and / or 
substance abuse disorders. As you are aware, Mental Health Promotion is now a required consideration   
for local public health under the revised Ontario Public Health Standards in the areas of Chronic Disease 
Prevention, Healthy Growth and Development, Substance Use and School Health. We therefore look 
forward to being directly involved in the development of the integrated, high quality mental health and 
addictions system that has been promised, as well as facilitating the implementation of the “Budget 
Talks” pilot, which will provide up to five Public Health Units with funding for “initiatives that promote 
mental health, including assistance for those who are underhoused and living in rural and remote 
regions” (Budget Papers, p.20).  
 
We will of course also continue to play our roles in supporting the provincial Strategy to Prevent Opioid 
Addiction and Overdose, with thanks for the additional staff resources already assigned to us to support 
local responses including naloxone distribution.  
 
Making Child Care More Accessible and Affordable 
 
Although affordable and accessible child care is not directly associated with the core mandate of public 
health, the importance of a “best start” in life cannot be overstated. There are many facets to promoting 
the health, development and wellbeing of all families with young children, and this initiative will address 
many of them (early learning opportunities and income security to name but two). We are therefore 
extremely pleased with this announcement.  
 
alPHa has been vocal in its support for healthy public policy aimed at early childhood development and 
has been equally vocal about its members’ commitment to doing the work that supports it (Resolution 
A11-8). Beyond the obligations set out under the Healthy Growth and Development Ontario Public 
Health Standard, we are ardent advocates of measures that support its goals. 
 
Growing the Economy and Creating Good Jobs 
 
This chapter’s focus is on job creation and skills development to service a strong economy. We 
appreciate the mention of a focus on well-being, equity and new approaches to learning (Budget Papers, 
p. 77), which promises to strengthen programs that improve students’ cognitive, emotional, social and 
physical development. This is an important continuation of healthy growth and development, and 







measures to improve the quality of and access to education – a key determinant of health – are always 
welcome.  
 
This section however also contains a pledge that we find extremely worrisome. There is a brief reference 
to the “development of a new multi-year strategy for beverage alcohol industry growth” (budget papers, 
p. 95), and we remind you that such growth is in fact in direct conflict with public health’s obligations to 
prevent substance use (including alcohol) and reduce associated harms.  
 
The negative social and health consequences of increasing access to beverage alcohol are well 
documented, and as your Government continues to actively support the growth of this industry we are 
becoming increasingly discouraged and disappointed in its failure to produce the Ontario Alcohol 
Strategy that was announced in December of 2016. I have attached a recent letter that outlines our 
concerns in more detail.  
 
Fairness and Opportunity through Partnerships 
 
As public health practitioners, we understand the value of partnerships and collaboration, and we are 
pleased to see that this understanding is reflected in this year’s budget.  
 
Working with Indigenous partners is a priority for us, and we are pleased that the new Health Equity 
Public Health Standard includes direction on engaging with Indigenous communities, as our desire to 
address their severe health inequities has now been formalized. We look forward to opportunities to 
work together on this and appreciate the commitment to engagement that is demonstrated throughout 
the budget document.     
 
Reference is also made in this chapter to the implementation of cannabis legalization, which includes a 
pledge to “provide public health units with support and resources to help address local needs related to 
cannabis legalization” (Budget Papers, p. 270). We of course welcome further discussions on this as the 
health protection, health promotion and enforcement implications for our members become clearer.  
 
Taxation 
 
We are supportive of the immediate tax increase on tobacco amounting to $4 per carton of cigarettes. 
Taxation has been clearly demonstrated as one of the most effective means of reducing tobacco 
initiation and use, and we applaud your Government’s ongoing commitment to Smoke-Free Ontario.  
 
In closing, alPHa’s members are supportive of many of the initiatives that are introduced or reinforced in 
the 2018 Budget, and we hope that the foregoing is an effective reminder that the programs and 
services that are delivered through Ontario’s Boards of Health are well-aligned with government 
priorities. We hope that you will give the various positions that we have shared with you careful 
consideration as the work begins on implementing your Plan for Care and Opportunity.  
 
Yours sincerely, 


 
Carmen McGregor,  
alPHa President 







 
 
COPY: Hon. Kathleen Wynne, Premier of Ontario 


Hon Helena Jaczek, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 
Dr. Bob Bell, Deputy Minister, Health and Long-Term Care 
Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health 
Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Health and Long-Term Care, Population and Public 
Health Division 


 







 
 
 


  


alPHa RESOLUTION A15-2 
 
 
TITLE:  National Universal Pharmacare Program 
 
SPONSOR: Haliburton Kawartha Pine Ridge District Health Unit 
 
 
WHEREAS the World Health Organization’s Right to Health, which includes essential drugs in the core 


content of minimum rights and the state is obligated to fulfill the rights; and 
 
WHEREAS in 1964 a national universal pharmacare program to cover the costs of outpatient 


prescription medications was recommended be included in the national Medicare system by 
the Royal Commission on Health Services;  in 1997 the National Forum on Health 
recommended a universal first dollar pharmacare program; and in 2002 the Romanow 
Commission recommended catastrophic drug coverage as a first step towards a pharmacare 
program and still the Government of Canada has not included pharmacare under the 
Canada Health Act; and 


 
WHEREAS  Canada is the only Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 


country with a universal public health care system that does not provide coverage for 
prescription medications; and 


 
WHEREAS Canadians pay among the highest per capita spending on prescription drugs of the OECD 


countries; and 
 
WHEREAS the ability to fill a prescription for medication depends on whether and to what extent a 


person has access to either a private or public insurance plan or if an individual is able to pay 
out of pocket if a person has no insurance plan; and 


 
WHEREAS  1 in 10 Canadians are  unable to fill a prescription because of cost, which in turn 


compromises  the ability to reach optimal level of health and can drive up health care costs 
in other areas including more physician visits and hospitalizations; and 


 
WHEREAS the current system is a combination of private and public insurance plans that are 


expensive, not sustainable and inequitable; and 
 
WHEREAS  the Government of Canada has a responsibility under the Canada Health Act to protect, 


promote and restore physical and mental well-being of persons and enable reasonable 
access to health care services without causing barriers, including financial barriers;  and 


 
WHEREAS  a national, universal pharmacare program would enable all Canadians access to quality, safe 


and cost effective medications, improve health outcomes and generate cost savings; 
 
 
continued 
 
 







 
 
 


  


alPHa RESOLUTION A15-2 continued 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) urges the 
Government of Canada and the Province of Ontario to move forward with the development and 
implementation of a national, universal pharmacare program;   
 
AND FURTHER that the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) advises the Prime Minister of 
Canada of this resolution and copies the Ministers of Finance Canada and Health Canada, the Chief Public 
Health Officer, Leader of the Opposition, Leader of the Liberal Party, Premier of Ontario, Ministers of 
Finance and Health and Long-Term Care and the Chief Medical Officer of Health and the Council of the 
Federation;  
 
AND FURTHER that the following organizations be copied and asked for their support:  Canadian Medical 
Association, Canadian Nurses Association, Canadian Pharmacists Association, Canadian Life and Health 
Insurance Association, Ontario Medical Association, and the Registered Nurses Association of Ontario. 
 
 
ACTION FROM CONFERENCE:   Resolution CARRIED AS AMENDED 
 
 
 







  alPHa RESOLUTION A17-1 
 


TITLE:  Access to Publicly Funded Oral Health Programs for Low-Income Adults and Seniors   


 


SPONSOR:  Chatham-Kent Public Health Unit & Porcupine Health Unit 
  
 
WHEREAS the relationship between poor oral health and poor overall health and social well-being 


is well established; and 
 
WHEREAS dental care is excluded from the Ontario Health Insurance Program; and  
 
WHEREAS one-third of Ontario workers do not have employee health benefits; and   
 
WHEREAS  13.9% of the Ontario population, live in low income; and  
 
WHEREAS the burden of poor oral health is greater in marginalized populations; and 
 
WHEREAS financial barriers prevent many marginalized and low-income adults from accessing 


preventive and acute dental care; and 
 
WHEREAS Over 60,000 visits to emergency departments across Ontario in 2015 were due to oral 


health concerns (Ontario Oral Health Alliance, 2017), as acute health care services are 
often the only remaining option for treatment of complications from lack of dental care; 
and  


 
WHEREAS an estimated $38M is spent in the acute care medical system for these complications 


without addressing their underlying causes; and 
 
WHEREAS the majority of these acute dental complications are avoidable with timely preventive 


care such as cleanings and fluoride treatments by dental hygienists, as well as fillings 
and extractions; and 


 
WHEREAS  the Ontario Liberals made provision of oral health services to low-income Ontarians a 


key plank in its 2007 election platform; and  
 
WHEREAS the 2014 Ontario Budget included the provision of dental benefits to all low‐income 


workers by 2025 as part of its 10-year economic plan; and  
 
WHEREAS  alPHa believes that the ongoing exclusion of low-income adults from publicly-funded 


oral health treatment and prevention services creates health inequities and is contrary 
to the original intent of the Government’s 2007 promise; 


 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) call upon 
the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC) to immediately begin the process to develop 
standards for preventative and restorative oral health care and implement a provincially funded oral 
health program for low-income adults and seniors in Ontario well before the proposed 2025 timeline. 
 
ACTION FROM CONFERENCE:  Resolution CARRIED 







2005 alPHa Resolution A05-5 
 
 
 
 
TITLE   Access to Dental Care  
 
SPONSOR:  Ontario Association of Public Health Dentistry  
 
 
WHEREAS dental care is not an included service under the publicly funded medical care system and must 
be financed by individual Canadians; 
 
WHEREAS low income (lower socio economic) individuals tend to suffer higher rates of dental disease 
and decay; 
 
WHEREAS the current system of publicly funded dental programs varies from community to community, 
but is very limited for low income families and adults who do not typically have access to private dental 
benefits packages; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Association of Local Public Health Agencies 
(alPHa) supports the action of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities and calls on the Government of 
Canada, in consultation with Provincial, Territorial and Local Governments, to develop a comprehensive 
National Oral Health Strategy that would have, as its goal, providing universal access of both preventive 
and treatment services to all Canadians. 
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Hon. Eleanor McMahon       October 6 2017 
Minister of Tourism, Culture and Sport 
9th Floor, Hearst Block 
900 Bay Street 
Toronto, Ontario M7A 2E1 
 
 
Dear Minister McMahon, 
 
Re:  Report from Advisory Panel on Concussion Safety 
 
On behalf of member Medical Officers of Health, Boards of Health and Affiliate 
organizations of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa), I am writing 
today to express our support for the implementation of the recommendations of the 
Rowan’s Law Advisory Panel on Concussion Safety.  
 
Under the Ontario Public Health Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Standard, our 
members are required to take actions to reduce the incidence and severity of injuries 
and injury-related hospitalizations, disabilities, and deaths. This includes direction to 
influence the development of healthy public policy.  
 
On September 29 2017, alPHa’s Board of Directors reviewed the Advisory Panel’s 
recommendations, and strongly endorsed their implementation. We were very pleased 
to note that you have already pledged to take comprehensive action to improve safety in 
sport for students and amateur athletes based on the Panel’s report.  
 
We look forward to providing input to the development of healthy public policy aimed at 
preventing concussions and to making our own contributions as part of our mandate in 
preventing injuries in our communities.   
 
Yours sincerely, 
 


 
Carment McGregor,  
alPHa President 
 
 
COPY: Hon. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 


Hon. Mitzie Hunter, Minister of Education 
Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health 
Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Health and Long-Term Care, 
Population and Public Health Division 


  







alPHa RESOLUTION A11-8 
 


 
TITLE:    Public Health Supporting Early Learning and Care 
 
SPONSOR: alPHa Board of Directors 
 
 
WHEREAS  the report “With our Best Future in Mind” (Charles E. Pascal, 2009) has been provided to 


the Premier of Ontario and provides recommendations on early childhood development 
in Ontario; and 


 
WHEREAS  supporting families and healthy early childhood development is a core part of the 


mandate of public health; and  
 
WHEREAS  public health work is driven by the population health approach; and 
 
WHEREAS  the evidence supports investing in early childhood development as a strategy to enable 


health and resilience throughout life; and 
 
WHEREAS  high quality early childhood interventions are extremely cost effective with significant 


societal returns on investment; and 
 
WHEREAS  achieving a politically sustainable system to support early childhood development will 


require support from decision-makers and the general public across the political 
spectrum; and 


 
WHEREAS  local public health has a unique role in early childhood development as a community 


agency that can take early learning and development beyond the walls of centres to 
reach the most vulnerable children and their families in their preferred setting; and 


 
WHEREAS  both local and provincial public health agencies have a key role to play in guiding the 


overall approach to supporting early childhood development; and 
 
WHEREAS  a comprehensive approach to early childhood development needs to include core 


services for all children and families, locally adapted services to address community 
context and intensive services to address the individual needs of the most vulnerable 
children and families; and  


 
WHEREAS  local and provincial public health agencies should continue to work with partners to 


clearly define better outcome measures and disseminate information about progress 
toward early childhood development goals more broadly; 


 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that alPHa will actively engage in advocacy to strengthen public 
health programs to support families and healthy early childhood development; 
 
AND FURTHER that alPHa will forward this resolution to the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 
Ministry of Children and Youth Services, Ministry of Health Promotion and Sport, Ministry of Education, 
the Chief Medical Officer of Health and the Early Learning Advisor and in addition alPHa encourages all 
member agencies to transfer knowledge and information to decision-makers and the general public 
about the value of supporting early childhood development and the importance of adequate investment 
in early childhood development; 







alPHa Resolution A11-8 continued 
 
 
AND FURTHER that alPHa and  both local and provincial public health agencies should work with 
partners to more clearly define, better measure and more broadly disseminate information about 
progress toward early childhood goals; 
 
AND FURTHER that alPHa will advocate for the inclusion of early childhood development in political 
platforms; 
 
AND FURTHER that alPHa commits to helping health units to share examples of best practices, useful 
approaches for local integration and examples of achieving seamless and integrated services. 
 


ACTION FROM CONFERENCE:  Resolution CARRIED AS AMENDED 
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Hon Kathleen O. Wynne              July 21 2017 
Room 281, Main Legislative Building,  
Queen's Park 
Toronto, Ontario M7A 1A1 
Dear Premier Wynne, 
 
Re:  Provincial Alcohol Strategy 
 
On behalf of member Medical Officers of Health, Boards of Health, and Affiliate 
organizations of the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa), I am writing 
today to request an update on your December 21 2016 announcement of a 
comprehensive Provincial Alcohol Strategy. 
 
alPHa first called upon the Government of Ontario to develop a province-wide alcohol 
strategy in 2011 (see alPHa Resolution A11-1, attached), and we were very pleased to 
hear of your intention to answer that call, especially in light of the numerous and 
substantial changes that are being made to alcohol policy in Ontario.   
 
Since that time, the most significant announcements from the Government of Ontario 
related to alcohol have been about the further expansion of access through increased 
availability of wine and beer in grocery stores. We find this troubling in the absence of 
any further news on the promised Provincial Strategy.  
 
We have expressed our concerns about the negative social and health consequences of 
increasing access to beverage alcohol on many occasions in the past, and have been very 
clear that due consideration of the social responsibility imperative must be given 
alongside the economic drivers.  
 
We do appreciate the commitment to ensuring that beverage alcohol is sold in a socially 
responsible way through strict rules about sales areas, limits on hours and package sizes 
and rigorous training for staff. But this is only a small part of what is required for a truly 
socially responsible system of beverage alcohol retail.  
  
With your pledge to develop a Provincial Alcohol Strategy, we were reassured that some 
of the presumed impacts of increasing alcohol availability would be mitigated, as its 
“four pillars” basis (promotion and prevention, social responsibility, harm reduction and 
treatment) is well aligned with the approach to substance use and addictions that is 
favoured by public health. 
 
We shall continue to carry out our duties under the Ontario Public Health Standards to 
evaluate the impacts of alcohol consumption and develop health promotion and 
protection strategies to prevent them. In the meantime, we would welcome more 
information on the implementation of the promised Provincial Alcohol Strategy.   
 
 


 


 
 







Sincerely, 
 


 
Carmen McGregor 
alPHa President 
 
 
COPY:  Hon. Eric Hoskins, Minister of Health and Long-Term Care 


Dr. David Williams, Chief Medical Officer of Health  
Roselle Martino, Assistant Deputy Minister, Population and Public Health Division, Ministry of 
Health and Long-Term Care 


 
Encl.  
 
 
 







alPHa RESOLUTION A11-1 
 
 
TITLE:  Conduct a Formal Review and Impact Analysis of the Health and Economic Effects of 


Alcohol in Ontario and Thereafter Develop a Provincial Alcohol Strategy 
 
SPONSOR: Middlesex-London Board of Health 
 
 
WHEREAS There is a well-established association between easy access to alcohol and overall rates 


of consumption and damage from alcohol; and (Barbor et al., 2010) 
 
WHEREAS Ontario has a significant portion of the population drinking alcohol (81.5%), exceeding 


the low risk drinking guidelines (23.4%), consuming 5 or more drinks on a single 
occasion weekly (11.2%), and reporting hazardous or harmful drinking (15.6%); and  
(CAMH Monitor) 


 
WHEREAS Ontario youth (grades 9-12) have concerning levels of alcohol consumption with 69.4% 


having drank in the past year, 32.9% binge drinking (5 or more drinks), and 27.5% of 
students reporting drinking at a hazardous level; and  (OSDUHS Report) 


 
WHEREAS Each year alcohol puts this province in a $456 million deficit due to direct costs related 


to healthcare and enforcement; and (G. Thomas, CCSA) 
 
WHEREAS Billions of dollars are spent each year in Canada on indirect costs associated with alcohol 


use (illness, disability, and death) including lost productivity in the workplace and home; 
and (The Costs of Sub Abuse in CAN, 2002) 


 
WHEREAS Nearly half of all deaths attributable to alcohol are from injuries including unintentional 


injuries (drowning, burns, poisoning and falls) and intentional injuries (deliberate acts of 
violence against oneself or others); and (WHO – Alcohol and Injury in EDs, 2007) 


 
WHEREAS Regulating the physical availability of alcohol is one of the top alcohol policy practices in 


reducing harm; and (Barbor et al., 2010) 
 
WHEREAS The World Health Organization (WHO, 2011) has indicated that alcohol is the world’s 


third largest risk factor for disease burden and that the harmful use of alcohol results in 
approximately 2.5 million deaths each year.  Alcohol is associated with increased levels 
of health and social costs in Ontario and is causally related to over 65 medical 
conditions;  


 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Association of Local Public Health Agencies (alPHa) petition 
the Ontario government to conduct a formal review and impact analysis of the health and economic 
effects of alcohol in Ontario and develop a provincial Alcohol Strategy. 
 





		alPHa_Letter_Budget2018_040418_ATTACHMENTS.pdf

		A15-2_Universal_Pharmacare

		Resol_A17-1_Dental_Low_Income

		alPHa_resolution_a05-5_AccessToDentalCare

		alPHa_Letter_Rowan_061017

		alPHa_resolution_A11-8_PublicHealthSupportingEarlyLearning

		alPHa_Letter_AlcoholStrategy_170717

		Hon Kathleen O. Wynne              July 21 2017

		Room 281, Main Legislative Building,

		Queen's Park

		Toronto, Ontario M7A 1A1

		Dear Premier Wynne,

		Re:  Provincial Alcohol Strategy
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2018 ALPHA FITNESS CHALLENGE 
FOR BOARD OF HEALTH MEMBERS 


 


 


 


New for this year!  alPHa is inviting all Boards of Health to participate in the Fitness Challenge! 


The challenge to our Board of Health members is to involve the entire Board in a 30-minute walk, wheel, 


whatever…..just be active for half an hour! 







 


HERE’S HOW TO PARTICIPATE 
 


READY - Designate someone to co-ordinate and keep count of your participants. 


SET – Participate in a minimum of 30 minutes of walking or wheeling during the month of May as 


part of a Board of Health activity. Can’t get together?  You can still participate and head out on your 


own!  As long as everyone on the Board participates, you are a winner!  


GO - Have your designated co-ordinator complete the results form and email it back to us at 


info@alphaweb.org. 


EASY TIPS TO GET ACTIVE! 


Before or After Your Board of Health Meeting - Go out for a 30-minute walk before or after your 


Board meeting in May.  
 


At Lunch - Many of us have sedentary jobs, why not brainstorm project ideas with fellow Board 


members during a lunchtime walk or wheel?  


 


After work or on the Weekend – Not enough time before or after your Board meeting and lunch 


time is too busy?  Set up another date and time to meet in May and go for a walk or wheel!   


 


Completed forms must be received by 12:00 noon on  


Friday June 1, 2017; send them to info@alphaweb.org 


 


30-minute walk…wheel…whatever! 


  


 


HERE ARE THE RULES 


Boards of Health must complete the 


attached alPHa Fitness Challenge Form. All 


Board of Health with 100% group 


participation will be considered winners  


 


CONTEST RULES AND GUIDELINES  


 


1 - Only members of Boards of Health are 


eligible. 


2 - The 30-minute walk or wheel can be 


completed anytime during May and it is 


encouraged that this takes place before or 


after the May meeting. If no meeting is 


scheduled then the Board members are 


encouraged to get together and walk or 


wheel at another time.  


3- Board members can complete their 30-


minute walk or wheel individually, however, 


it is encouraged that this to be a group 


activity. 


 4 - Any 30-minute walk or wheel will be 


considered as an eligible activity. 


6 - The winning Board of Health(s) will be 


recognized at the Conference in June.  


 


AND THE WINNER IS .. 


  The results will be broadcast on the 


allhealthunits listserv in June and via 


alPHa’s Twitter account: @PHAgencies.  


The winning Board of Health(s) will also 


receive an award at the 2018 alPHa Annual 


General Membership meeting in June.  







2018 BOARD OF HEALTH alPHa FITNESS CHALLENGE 
Deadline to submit: Friday, June 1, 2018 


Email completed form to:  info@alphaweb.org 
 


 
Please fill in the fields below: 
 
 
BOARD OF HEALTH:    _____________________________________________________ 
 
 
COORDINATOR(S):    ______________________________________________________ 
 
 
COORDINATOR’S EMAIL:  ______________________________________________________ 
 
 


Number of Members on the Board of Health (incl. Chair):  ________ 
 
Number of BOH members participating in at least 30 minutes of physical activity: ________ 
 
BOH member participation rate:      ________      
 


 
If BOH members participated in a group activity, please include a short description of the 
activity:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
If BOH members participated as individuals, please list the activities they participated in: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
{uggestions for next year’s BOH Fitness Challenge (other than better weather): 
 
 
 





		2018 Fitness Challenge Boards of Health No form

		BOH Form 2018 FitChal



		BOARD OF HEALTH: 

		COORDINATOR'S NAME: 

		COORDINATORS EMAIL: 

		Number of Members on the Board of Health incl Chair: 

		Number of BOH members participating in at least 30 minutes of physical activity: 

		BOH member participation rate: 

		Group Activity: 

		Individual Activities: 

		Suggestions for next year: 
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April 12, 2018 


This update is a tool to keep alPHa's members apprised of the latest news in public health including provincial 
announcements, legislation, alPHa correspondence and events.  
 
alPHa Election Policy Priorities Update 


In the winter, alPHa developed a set of election policy priorities in anticipation of the June 2018 provincial election. 
The priorities focused on a tobacco endgame, adult oral health, universal pharmacare, cannabis legalization and 
opioids strategy, and were sent to provincial party leaders, health critics, the Minister of Health & Long-Term Care, 
and Attorney General. As part of this campaign, health units were also asked to reach out to their local MPPs and 
electoral candidates on these important issues in the leadup to the election. alPHa is pleased to report that 
yesterday it met with various key MPPs to raise awareness about the policy priorities.  
View alPHa's 2018 election policy priorities here  


 


alPHa 2018 Winter Meetings  


alPHa successfully held business meetings for its board of health (see below) and COMOH members as well as a 
one-day workshop for public health executive and administrative assistants in February. The assistants' learning 
event, which takes place every two years, focused on change management from organizational and personal 
approaches. Thank you to all the attendees who participated at the February events. 
Read about the Executive/Administrative Assistants' workshop here 


 


Wrap Up: Boards of Health Section Meeting 


The alPHa Boards of Health Section convened on February 23rd in Toronto. Representatives from 23 boards of 
health were welcomed by Toronto board of health chair Joe Mihevc who spoke about the important role played by 
public health in municipal decision-making. Participants also heard guest presentations on the five election policy 
priorities by members of alPHa's Election Task Force as well as on the administration of the new Ontario Public 
Health Standards and provisions for electronic meetings by alPHa counsel James LeNoury. Chief Medical Officer of 
Health Dr. David Williams also provided members with an update on his annual report that focuses on health 
equity. A special lunch and learn session on "the power of healthy tensions" by Tim Arnold was a particular 
highlight. The next scheduled BOH Section meeting will take place during the upcoming annual conference on 



http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=https%3A%2F%2Fc%2Eymcdn%2Ecom%2Fsites%2Falphaweb%2Esite%2Dym%2Ecom%2Fresource%2Fcollection%2F822EC60D%2D0D03%2D413E%2DB590%2DAFE1AA8620A9%2FalPHa%5FKey%5FMessages%5F2018%5FProvincial%5FElection%2Epdf

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=https%3A%2F%2Falphaweb%2Esite%2Dym%2Ecom%2Fresource%2Fresmgr%2Fadmin%5Fasst%5Fconf%2FEAAA%5F2018%5FProceedings%2Epdf

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ehealth%2Egov%2Eon%2Eca%2Fen%2Fcommon%2Fministry%2Fpublications%2Freports%2Fcmoh%5F18%2Fdefault%2Easpx

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ehealth%2Egov%2Eon%2Eca%2Fen%2Fcommon%2Fministry%2Fpublications%2Freports%2Fcmoh%5F18%2Fdefault%2Easpx





June 12, 2018 in Toronto.  
View presentations from the Feb. 23 BOH Section meeting (login and password required) 


 


2018 alPHa Annual Conference 
 
Join us from June 10 to 12 at the association's 2018 Annual Conference at the Novotel Toronto Centre hotel in 
downtown Toronto. Under the theme The Changing Face of Public Health, attendees will explore ways to deliver 
on health units' new and current responsibilities in light of recent changes to the Ontario Public Health Standards 
and other government initiatives. The conference will also feature an Annual General Meeting and resolutions 
session as well as Section business meetings and a perennial highlight, an awards dinner honouring those who 
have made outstanding contributions to the field of public health. Online registration is now available. 
Accommodations may also be booked. 
Register here 
Book a guestroom here 
Learn more about the 2018 alPHa Annual Conference here 


 


TOPHC 2018 


Congratulations to TOPHC 2018 for achieving their biggest event to date with over 1,000 attendees and sold out 
workshops on day three. The Ontario Public Health Convention (TOPHC) was held March 21-23, and identified 
ways for public health professionals to be leaders of change as well as explored strategies for leadership, 
innovation and action across all levels within the public health. As a TOPHC partner, alPHa is proud to support 
knowledge exchange and skills building for public health staff.   
Read about TOPHC 2018 here 


 


alPHa Website Feature: Correspondences 


Stay current with alPHa's advocacy efforts by visiting the Correspondences page on our website.  
View alPHa's recent correspondences 


 


Upcoming Events - Mark your calendars! 


June 10, 11 & 12, 2018 - alPHa Annual General Meeting & Conference, Novotel Toronto Centre, 45 The 
Esplanade, Toronto. Register here. 


 



http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ealphaweb%2Eorg%2F%3FPresentations

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ealphaweb%2Eorg%2Fevents%2Fregister%2Easpx%3Fid%3D985924

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=https%3A%2F%2Faws%2Epasskey%2Ecom%2Fe%2F49232323%3Futm%5Fsource%3D9162%26utm%5Fmedium%3Demail%26utm%5Fcampaign%3D275381130

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=https%3A%2F%2Fc%2Eymcdn%2Ecom%2Fsites%2Falphaweb%2Esite%2Dym%2Ecom%2Fresource%2Fresmgr%2F2018%5Fjune%5Fconf%2F2018%5FalPHa%5FAGM%5FFlyer%2Epdf

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Etophc%2Eca%2F

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ealphaweb%2Eorg%2F%3Fpage%3DalPHa%5FLetters

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=https%3A%2F%2Falphaweb%2Esite%2Dym%2Ecom%2Fresource%2Fresmgr%2F2018%5Fjune%5Fconf%2F2018%5FalPHa%5FAGM%5FFlyer%2Epdf

http://www.alphaweb.org/link.asp?e=Charles.gardner@smdhu.org&job=3326388&ymlink=232414272&finalurl=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Ealphaweb%2Eorg%2Fevents%2Fregister%2Easpx%3Fid%3D985924
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Letter from the Medical Officer of Health


/Ŷ 2κλρ͕  ƚŚĞ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ WĂƌƌǇ ̂ ŽƵŶĚ �ŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ;͞,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͟Ϳ ůĂƵŶĐŚĞĚ ŽƵƌ ŶĞǁ 
ǀŝƐŝŽŶ͕ ŵŝƐƐŝŽŶ ĂŶĚ ǀĂůƵĞƐ͘ dŚĞƐĞ ĐŽƌĞ ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚƐ ƐŚĂƉĞ ƚŚĞ ǁĂǇ ǁĞ ƐĞĞ ŽƵƌƐĞůǀĞƐ͕ ŽƵƌ 
ƉƵƌƉŽƐĞ͕ ĂƐ ǁĞůů ĂƐ ƚŚĞ ƉƵďůŝĐ Ɛ͛ ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ǁŽƌŬ͘ KƵƌ ǀŝƐŝŽŶ͕ ͞Ă ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ůŝĨĞ ĨŽƌ 
ĞǀĞƌǇŽŶĞ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͕͟  ĐĂƉƚƵƌĞƐ ŽƵƌ ĨŽĐƵƐ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͕ ĂŶĚ ǁĂƐ ƌĞŇĞĐƚĞĚ 
ŝŶ Ăůů ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ƉůĂŶŶŝŶŐ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞ ƉĂƐƚ ǇĞĂƌ͘


/Ŷ EŽǀĞŵďĞƌ͕  ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ >ŽŶŐͲdĞƌŵ �ĂƌĞ ;͞ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ͟Ϳ ƌĞůĞĂƐĞĚ ƚŚĞ 
ŶĞǁ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ ̂ ƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ ĨŽƌ WƵďůŝĐ ,ĞĂůƚŚ WƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ ĂŶĚ ̂ ĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͘ dŚĞƐĞ ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ ŚŝŐŚůŝŐŚƚ 
ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ Ɛ͛ ƵƐĞ ŽĨ Ă ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶͲŚĞĂůƚŚ ĂƉƉƌŽĂĐŚ͕ ĨŽĐƵƐŝŶŐ ŽŶ ƐŽĐŝĂů ĂŶĚ ŵĞŶƚĂů ŚĞĂůƚŚ 
ĂƐ ǁĞůů ĂƐ ƋƵĂůŝƚǇ ŽĨ ůŝĨĞ͘ tŚĞŶ ǁĞ ƚĂůŬ ĂďŽƵƚ ĂƐƉŝƌŝŶŐ ĨŽƌ ĞǀĞƌǇŽŶĞ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ ƚŽ 
ůŝǀĞ Ă ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ůŝĨĞ͕ ǁĞ ƵƐĞ ƚŚŝƐ ĂƉƉƌŽĂĐŚ ĂƐ Ă ŐƵŝĚŝŶŐ ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉůĞ͘ 


dŚĞ ŶĞǁ ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚƐ ƐĞƌǀĞ ƵƐ ǁĞůů͕ ĂƐ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ŝƐ ĐŽŵŵŝƩĞĚ ƚŽ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ͘  KƵƌ 
ŐŽĂů ŝƐ ƚŽ ƌĞĂĐŚ ƚŚŽƐĞ Ăƚ ŐƌĞĂƚĞƌ ƌŝƐŬ ŽĨ ƉŽŽƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŽƵƚĐŽŵĞƐ͘ tĞ ĚŽ ƚŚŝƐ ďǇ ĐĂƌĞĨƵůůǇ 
ƉůĂŶŶŝŶŐ ŽƵƌ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƐŽ ƚŚĂƚ ƚŚĞǇ ĂƌĞ ĂĐĐĞƐƐŝďůĞ ďǇ Ăůů͕ ŶŽ ŵĂƩĞƌ ƚŚĞŝƌ ĐŝƌĐƵŵƐƚĂŶĐĞƐ͘


&Žƌ ĞǆĂŵƉůĞ͕ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ 2κλξʹ2κλς ^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ WůĂŶ͕ ǁĞ ŝĚĞŶƟĮĞĚ ƚŚĞ ŶĞĞĚ ĨŽƌ ďĞƩĞƌ 
ĂĐĐĞƐƐ ƚŽ ĚĞŶƚĂů ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͘ ^ƵƉƉŽƌƚĞĚ ďǇ ĨƵŶĚŝŶŐ ĨƌŽŵ 'ƌĞĞŶ ^ŚŝĞůĚ �ĂŶĂĚĂ ĂŶĚ ŵĞŵďĞƌ 
ŵƵŶŝĐŝƉĂůŝƟĞƐ͕ ǁĞ ƉƌŽƵĚůǇ ĂŶŶŽƵŶĐĞĚ Ă ŶĞǁ ĚĞŶƚĂů ĐůŝŶŝĐ ĨŽƌ ĞůŝŐŝďůĞ ĂĚƵůƚƐ͘ dŚĞ ĐůŝŶŝĐ ǁŝůů 
ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ ĚĞŶƚĂů ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƚŽ ĂĚƵůƚƐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚƐ ǁŝƚŚ ůŝŵŝƚĞĚ Žƌ ŶŽ ĂĐĐĞƐƐ ƚŽ ĚĞŶƚĂů ĐĂƌĞ͘ 
tĞ ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ŝŵƉĂĐƚƐ ŽĨ ƉŽŽƌ ĚĞŶƚĂů ŚĞĂůƚŚ͕ ĂŶĚ ǁĞ ůŽŽŬ ĨŽƌǁĂƌĚ ƚŽ ĐŽŶƟŶƵŝŶŐ 
ƚŚŝƐ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶƚ ǁŽƌŬ ŝŶ 2κλς͘







�ƵĞ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ŐƌŽǁƚŚ ŽĨ ŽƉŝŽŝĚͲƌĞůĂƚĞĚ ŝůůŶĞƐƐĞƐ ĂŶĚ ĚĞĂƚŚƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐĞ͕ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶĂů 
ĨƵŶĚŝŶŐ ǁĂƐ ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚ ĨƌŽŵ ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ƚŽ ĂĚĚƌĞƐƐ ƉƌŽďůĞŵĂƟĐ ŽƉŝŽŝĚ ƵƐĞ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ 
ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͘ dŚŝƐ ĂůůŽǁĞĚ ƵƐ ƚŽ ŵĂŬĞ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚƐ ƚŽ ŽƵƌ ŚĂƌŵ ƌĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͕ 
ǁŚŝĐŚ ŵĞĂŶƚ ƐƚƌĞŶŐƚŚĞŶŝŶŐ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐŚŝƉƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ͕  ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐŝŶŐ ŽƵƌ ĂǁĂƌĞŶĞƐƐ 
ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ůŽĐĂů ƉƌŽďůĞŵ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ ĚĂƚĂ ĐŽůůĞĐƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ ƐŚĂƌŝŶŐ͕ ĂŶĚ ĚŝƐƚƌŝďƵƟŶŐ ŶĂůŽǆŽŶĞ ŬŝƚƐ 
ƚŽ ĞůŝŐŝďůĞ ŽƌŐĂŶŝǌĂƟŽŶƐ͘ KƵƌ ŚĂƌŵ ƌĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝǌĞƐ ƚŚĂƚ ƐŽŵĞ ƉĞŽƉůĞ 
ǁŝůů ƵƐĞ ;ĂŶĚ ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞ ƚŽ ƵƐĞͿ ĚƌƵŐƐ͘ KƵƌ ŐŽĂů ŝƐ ƚŽ ƌĞĚƵĐĞ ƚŚĞƐĞ ŚĂƌŵƐ ďǇ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƟŶŐ 
ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇͲďĂƐĞĚ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ ƚŚĂƚ ŚĞůƉ ŬĞĞƉ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ ƐĂĨĞ͘


dŚŝƐ ƉĂƐƚ ǇĞĂƌ͕  ǁĞ ƐĂǁ ŽƵƌ ŶĞǁ ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ Ăƚ 3ξο KĂŬ 
^ƚƌĞĞƚ tĞƐƚ ŝŶ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ƚĂŬĞ ƐŚĂƉĞ͘ dŚĞ ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ ǁŝůů 
ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ ŽƵƌ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ƉƵďůŝĐ ĂŶĚ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ ŵŽƌĞ 
ĨƵŶĐƟŽŶĂů ĂĐĐŽŵŵŽĚĂƟŽŶƐ ĨŽƌ ƐƚĂī͘ tĞ ǁŝůů ďĞ ƌĞͲ
ůŽĐĂƟŶŐ ŝŶ 2κλς͕ ĂŶĚ ůŽŽŬ ĨŽƌǁĂƌĚ ƚŽ ǁĞůĐŽŵŝŶŐ ŽƵƌ 
ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ ĂŶĚ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ŶĞǁ ƐƉĂĐĞ͘ 


dŚĞƐĞ ĂƌĞ ŽŶůǇ Ă ĨĞǁ ƐŶĂƉƐŚŽƚƐ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ Ɛ͛ ǁŽƌŬ 
ŽǀĞƌ ƚŚĞ ƉĂƐƚ ǇĞĂƌ͘  dŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞ ƉĂŐĞƐ ŽĨ ƚŚŝƐ ĂŶŶƵĂů 
ƌĞƉŽƌƚ͕ ǁĞ ǁŝůů ŚŝŐŚůŝŐŚƚ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶĂů ĂĐĐŽŵƉůŝƐŚŵĞŶƚƐ͘ 
tĞ ƌĞŵĂŝŶ ŵŽƟǀĂƚĞĚ ďǇ ŽƵƌ ǀŝƐŝŽŶ ƐƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ͕ ĂƐ ǁĞůů 
ĂƐ ďǇ ŽƵƌ ŵŝƐƐŝŽŶ ƚŽ ͞ĨŽƐƚĞƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ůŝǀŝŶŐ ǁŝƚŚŝŶ ŽƵƌ 
ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ ďǇ ƉƌĞǀĞŶƟŶŐ ŝůůŶĞƐƐ͕ ƉƌŽŵŽƟŶŐ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ 
ĐŚŽŝĐĞƐ ĂŶĚ ƉƌŽǀŝĚŝŶŐ ƚƌƵƐƚĞĚ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ĂŶĚ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͘͟  
tĞ ǀĂůƵĞ ŚŽŶĞƐƚǇ͕  ĐŽŵƉĂƐƐŝŽŶ͕ ƚƌĂŶƐƉĂƌĞŶĐǇ͕  
ĂĐĐŽƵŶƚĂďŝůŝƚǇ͕  ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ ĞǆĐĞůůĞŶĐĞ͘ tĞ ĂƌĞ 
ǇŽƵƌ ůŝĨĞƟŵĞ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌ ŝŶ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ůŝǀŝŶŐ͘


ξ


Jim Chirico, H.BSc., M.D., F.R.C.P. (C), MPH
Medical Officer of Health/Executive Officer
North Bay Parry Sound District Health Unit







Board of Health
dŚĞ �ŽĂƌĚ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ǁĞůĐŽŵĞĚ ŽŶĞ ŶĞǁ ŵĞŵďĞƌ͕  'ĂƌǇ 'ƵĞŶƚŚĞƌ͕  ƉƵďůŝĐ ĂƉƉŽŝŶƚĞĞ ĂŶĚ 
ƐĂǁ DŝŬĞ WŽĞƚĂ ƌĞͲĂƉƉŽŝŶƚĞĚ ĂƐ Ă ƉƵďůŝĐ ĂƉƉŽŝŶƚĞĞ͘ dŚĞ �ŽĂƌĚ ĞůĞĐƚĞĚ EĂŶĐǇ :ĂĐŬŽ ĂƐ 
�ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ ĂŶĚ DŝŬĞ WŽĞƚĂ ĂƐ sŝĐĞͲ�ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ͘ dŚĞ �ŽĂƌĚ Ɛ͛ &ŝŶĂŶĐĞ ĂŶĚ WƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ 
�ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ ĞůĞĐƚĞĚ �ŽŶ �ƌŝƐďĂŶĞ ĂƐ �ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ ĂŶĚ >ĞƐ �ůĂĐŬǁĞůů ĂƐ sŝĐĞͲ�ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ͘ 
dŚĞ �ŽĂƌĚ Ɛ͛ WĞƌƐŽŶŶĞů WŽůŝĐǇ͕  >ĂďŽƵƌͬ�ŵƉůŽǇĞĞ ZĞůĂƟŽŶƐ �ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ ĞůĞĐƚĞĚ :ŽŚŶ 
��͛ŐŽƐƟŶŽ ĂƐ �ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ ĂŶĚ ,ĞĂƚŚĞƌ �ƵƐĐŚ ĂƐ sŝĐĞͲ�ŚĂŝƌƉĞƌƐŽŶ͘


Central Appointees North East Appointee


Eastern Appointee


Western Appointee


Western Appointee


South East Appointee


Date Appointed/Term Ended Date Appointed/Term Ended
DĂĐ �ĂŝŶ Municipal Appointee 2κλο ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
�ĂǀĞ �Ƶƫ Citizen Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
EĂŶĐǇ :ĂĐŬŽ Citizen Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
^ƚƵĂƌƚ <ŝĚĚ Citizen Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
dĂŶǇĂ sƌĞďŽƐĐŚ Municipal Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 


N ipissing D istrict P arry  S ound D istrict


P rov incial Appointees


ο


�ŚƌŝƐ :Ƶůů Municipal Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ


'ƵǇ &ŽƌƟĞƌ Municipal Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ


,ĞĂƚŚĞƌ �ƵƐĐŚ Municipal Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ


�ŽŶ �ƌŝƐďĂŶĞ Municipal Appointee 2κλξ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ


>ĞƐ �ůĂĐŬǁĞůů Municipal Appointee 2κλο ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ


:ŽŚŶ ��͛ŐŽƐƟŶŽ Public Appointee 2κλπ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
'ĂƌǇ 'ƵĞŶƚŚĞƌ Public Appointee 2κλρ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ 
DŝŬĞ WŽĞƚĂ Public Appointee 2κλρ ƚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚ







ŚƵŵĂŶ ĂĐƋƵŝƌĞĚ ƟĐŬƐ 
ƐƵďŵŝƩĞĚ ĨŽƌ ƚĞƐƟŶŐ͘


ĐŚŝůĚƌĞŶ ĂŶĚ ǇŽƵƚŚ 
ǁĞƌĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ 
ĚĞŶƚĂů ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ  


ĨŽƌ Ă ƚŽƚĂů ŽĨ


3 , 6 9 7
1 , 3 3 1


2 , 9 5 4


ĚĞŶƚĂů ƐĐƌĞĞŶŝŶŐƐ Ăƚ ĂƌĞĂ ƐĐŚŽŽůƐ͕ 
KŶƚĂƌŝŽ �ĂƌůǇ zĞĂƌƐ �ĞŶƚƌĞƐ ĂŶĚ 
,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ůŽĐĂƟŽŶƐ͘


ĂƉƉŽŝŶƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘


8 , 6 4 4 4 2 1
ƉƌŝǀĂƚĞ ǁĂƚĞƌ 
ƐĂŵƉůĞƐ ƐƵďŵŝƩĞĚ 
ďǇ ŚŽŵĞ ŽǁŶĞƌƐ͘


ĂŶŝŵĂů ďŝƚĞ ƌĞƉŽƌƚƐ 
ŝŶǀĞƐƟŐĂƚĞĚ͘


ŚŝŐŚ ƐĐŚŽŽů ĂŶĚ ĞůĞŵĞŶƚĂƌǇ 
ƐĐŚŽŽů ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚ ŝŵŵƵŶŝǌĂƟŽŶ 


ƌĞĐŽƌĚƐ ǁĞƌĞ ĂƐƐĞƐƐĞĚ ĨŽƌ ĐŽŵƉůŝĂŶĐĞ ǁŝƚŚ /^W�͘


4 , 4 6 6
5 8 4 2 4


7 2
1 6 , 6 0 8


ŐƌĂĚĞ ρ ĂŶĚ ς ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ 
ǀĂĐĐŝŶĂƚĞĚ Ăƚ ƐĐŚŽŽů ĐůŝŶŝĐƐ͘


ĐŽŶĮƌŵĞĚ 
ŽƵƚďƌĞĂŬƐ͘


ĐŽŶĮƌŵĞĚ ĐĂƐĞƐ ŽĨ 
ƌĞƉŽƌƚĂďůĞ ĚŝƐĞĂƐĞƐ͘


8 , 8 7 9 ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞƐ ĂĚŵŝŶŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ  
Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ŽĸĐĞƐ͘


1 8 8 ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĞĚ ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞŝƌ ƋƵŝƫŶŐ 
ƐŵŽŬŝŶŐ ĂƩĞŵƉƚƐ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ ƚŚĞ YƵŝƚ �ůŝŶŝĐ͘


ππ







9 , 1 7 7


1 1 7


ĐůŝĞŶƚ ǀŝƐŝƚƐ 
ƚŽ ŽƵƌ ƐĞǆƵĂů 
ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĐůŝŶŝĐ͘


ƉĞŽƉůĞ ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞĚ 
ďƌĞĂƐƞĞĞĚŝŶŐ 
ĞĚƵĐĂƟŽŶ͘


ρςй μμй
KĨ ƚŚĞƐĞ ǀŝƐŝƚƐ͕


&


ǁĞƌĞ ĨĞŵĂůĞ ǁĞƌĞ ŵĂůĞ͘
3σκ ĐĂƐĞƐ ŽĨ ĐŚůĂŵǇĚŝĂ͕ 33 ĐĂƐĞƐ ŽĨ 
ŐŽŶŽƌƌŚĞĂ͕ ĂŶĚ ρρ ĐĂƐĞƐ ŽĨ ŚĞƉĂƟƟƐ � 
ĚĞƚĞĐƚĞĚ Ăƚ ŽƵƌ ƐĞǆƵĂů 
ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĐůŝŶŝĐ͘


9 1 8


1 9 4


ƌĞƚĂŝů ĨŽŽĚ  
ƉƌĞŵŝƐĞƐ ŝŶƐƉĞĐƚĞĚ͘


ƉĞŽƉůĞ ĂƩĞŶĚĞĚ dƌŝƉůĞ W 
WƌŽŐƌĂŵ ƐĞŵŝŶĂƌƐ͘


ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂŶƚƐ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ĨŽŽĚ 
ƐĞĐƵƌŝƚǇ ƐǇŵƉŽƐŝƵŵ ŝŶ 


ďŽƚŚ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ĂŶĚ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ͘
1 0 0


ǇŽƵƚŚ ǀŽůƵŶƚĞĞƌ ƉůĂĐĞŵĞŶƚƐ 
ŚĞůĚ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ǁŝƚŚ


ŚŽƵƌƐ 
ĐŽůůĞĐƟǀĞůǇ͘2 7 5 0 3







Healthy Smiles for 
Children and Youth
Healthy Smiles Ontario (“hso”) is a free dental program 
that provides preventive, routine, and emergency dental 
services for eligible children and youth 17 years old and under 
from low-income households. In 2017, 1,331 children received 
dental care through hso for a total of 2,954 appointments. In 
addition, the Health Unit provided 3,697 dental screenings 
at area schools, Ontario Early Years Centres and health unit 
locations in our district. Good oral health is important for a child’s 
self-esteem, sense of well-being and their overall health. The Health Unit 
Dental Clinic is working to improve the health of children in our communities. 


Strategic Priority 3, Aim 3


New Adult Dental  
Clinic Announced!
The Health Unit announced a new oral health clinic for eligible adults 
with limited or no access to dental care. As the recipient of a two-year 
Community Giving Grant by Green Shield Canada (gsc), the Health Unit 
is now able to treat adults who face challenges accessing dental care 
and positively impact their quality of life. 
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Harm Reduction –  
Naloxone
�Ɛ ƉĂƌƚ ŽĨ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ Ɛ͛ ^ƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ ƚŽ WƌĞǀĞŶƚ KƉŝŽŝĚ �ĚĚŝĐƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ 
KǀĞƌĚŽƐĞ͕ ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ >ŽŶŐͲdĞƌŵ �ĂƌĞ ŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĞĚ 
ƚŚĞ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ EĂůŽǆŽŶĞ WƌŽŐƌĂŵ ĂƐ ƉĂƌƚ ŽĨ ĞŶŚĂŶĐĞĚ ŚĂƌŵ ƌĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ 
ǁŽƌŬ ŝŶ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ͘ dŚƌŽƵŐŚ ƚŚŝƐ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ŝƐ ĂďůĞ 
ƚŽ ĚŝƐƚƌŝďƵƚĞ EĂůŽǆŽŶĞ ŬŝƚƐ ƚŽ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ǁŚŽ ƵƐĞ ĚƌƵŐƐ͕ ƚŚĞŝƌ ĨƌŝĞŶĚƐ 
ĂŶĚ ĨĂŵŝůŝĞƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ͘


dŚŝƐ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ ĂůůŽǁƐ ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƐƚĂī ƚŽ ƚƌĂŝŶ ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ 
ŽŶ ŚŽǁ ƚŽ ƌĞĐŽŐŶŝǌĞ ĂŶ ŽƉŝŽŝĚ ŽǀĞƌĚŽƐĞ͕ ĂŶĚ ŚŽǁ ƚŽ ƵƐĞ ƚŚĞ ŶĂƐĂů 
ƐƉƌĂǇ EĂůŽǆŽŶĞ Ŭŝƚ͘ �Ǉ ŽīĞƌŝŶŐ ƚŚŝƐ ƉŽƚĞŶƟĂůůǇ ůŝĨĞͲƐĂǀŝŶŐ ĚƌƵŐ͕ ĂƐ 
ǁĞůů ĂƐ ďǇ ĐŽůůĞĐƟŶŐ ĂŶĚ ƐŚĂƌŝŶŐ ĚĂƚĂ ĂŶĚ ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ ǁŝƚŚ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ 
ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ͕ ǁĞ ĂƌĞ ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ ƚŽ ƉƌĞǀĞŶƚ ŽƉŝŽŝĚͲƌĞůĂƚĞĚ ŽǀĞƌĚŽƐĞ ĚĞĂƚŚƐ 
ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ͘


σ







Harm Reduction –
Needle Exchange
/Ŷ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ ǁŝƚŚ Ă ŶƵŵďĞƌ ŽĨ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ 
ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ ŚĂƌŵ ƌĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƐƵĐŚ ĂƐ ŽƵƌ ŶĞĞĚůĞ ĞǆĐŚĂŶŐĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͘ 
KŶĞ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ďƵƐŝĞƐƚ ŚĂƌŵ ƌĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ ƐŝƚĞƐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ ĐůŽƐĞĚ ŽǀĞƌ ƚŚĞ 
ƐƵŵŵĞƌ ŽĨ 2κλρ ĂŶĚ͕ ĂƐ Ă ƌĞƐƵůƚ͕ ǁĞ ŚĂǀĞ ƐĞĞŶ Ă ƐŚĂƌƉ ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ ŝŶ ĚĞŵĂŶĚ 
ĨŽƌ ƚŚŝƐ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͘ tŚĞƌĞĂƐ ŽƵƌ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƐĂǁ ĂŶ ĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ 
ŽĨ 2κ ǀŝƐŝƚƐ ƉĞƌ ŵŽŶƚŚ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĮƌƐƚ ƐĞǀĞŶ ŵŽŶƚŚƐ ŽĨ 
2κλρ ;ďĞĨŽƌĞ ƚŚĞ ĐůŽƐƵƌĞͿ͕ ǁĞ ĂƌĞ ŶŽǁ ƉƌŽǀŝĚŝŶŐ 
ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ƚŽ ĂŶ ĂǀĞƌĂŐĞ ŽĨ λ2κ ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ ƉĞƌ ŵŽŶƚŚ͘ 


DĂŶǇ ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ ƌĞƉŽƌƚ ƚŚĂƚ ƚŚĞǇ ĂƌĞ ƚŚĂŶŬĨƵů 
ĨŽƌ ƚŚĞ ŽŶĞͲŽŶͲŽŶĞ ĂƩĞŶƟŽŶ ƚŚĞǇ ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞ 
Ăƚ ŽƵƌ ƐŝƚĞ͘ �Ǉ ƚƌĞĂƟŶŐ ƚŚĞŵ ǁŝƚŚ ƌĞƐƉĞĐƚ 
ĂŶĚ ĚŝŐŶŝƚǇ͕  Ă ƌĞůĂƟŽŶƐŚŝƉ ŽĨ ƚƌƵƐƚ ŝƐ 
ďƵŝůƚ ŽǀĞƌ ƟŵĞ͘ dŚŝƐ ĂůůŽǁƐ ƚŚĞ ŶƵƌƐĞƐ 
ƚŽ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ĂŶĚ ĞŶĐŽƵƌĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ 
ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ŝŶĚŝǀŝĚƵĂů͕ ƐŽ ƚŚĂƚ ƐŵĂůů ƐƚĞƉƐ ĐĂŶ 
ďĞ ƚĂŬĞŶ ƚŽǁĂƌĚ ƉŽƐŝƟǀĞ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ͘


λκ







Flu Vaccine
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ ĂŶ ĂŶŶƵĂů ŝŶŇƵĞŶǌĂ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĂƟŽŶ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ǁŚĞƌĞ ƚŚĞ ŇƵ 
ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞ ŝƐ ŵĂĚĞ ĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ ĐůŝŶŝĐƐ ĂŶĚ ŝŶͲŽĸĐĞ ĂƉƉŽŝŶƚŵĞŶƚƐ͘ /Ŷ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ͕ ƚŚĞ 
ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞ ŝƐ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ ďǇ ůŽĐĂů ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƟŶŐ ŚĞĂůƚŚĐĂƌĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ ĂƐ ǁĞůů ĂƐ 23 ƉŚĂƌŵĂĐŝĞƐ 
ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚƐ͘ 


&Žƌ ƚŚĞ 2κλρͬλς ŇƵ ƐĞĂƐŽŶ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĂĚŵŝŶŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ λξρ ƐŚŽƚƐ Ăƚ Ɛŝǆ ĐůŝŶŝĐƐ ĂĐƌŽƐƐ 
ŽƵƌ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ ;ĂƐ ŽĨ �ĞĐĞŵďĞƌ 3λ͕ 2κλρͿ͘ /Ŷ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ͕ λ͕κπ3 ŇƵ ƐŚŽƚƐ ǁĞƌĞ ŐŝǀĞŶ Ăƚ ŽĸĐĞ 
ĂƉƉŽŝŶƚŵĞŶƚƐ ŝŶ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ĂŶĚ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ͘ dŚŝƐ ŝƐ Ă ƐŚĂƌƉ ĚĞĐůŝŶĞ ŝŶ ĂĚŵŝŶŝƐƚĞƌĞĚ 
ŇƵ ƐŚŽƚƐ ďǇ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͕ ǁŚŝĐŚ ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ ĨƌŽŵ ƚŚĞ ĂďŝůŝƚǇ ƚŽ ĂĐĐĞƐƐ ƚŚĞ ŇƵ ƐŚŽƚ ĨƌŽŵ 
ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƟŶŐ ƉŚĂƌŵĂĐŝĞƐ ĂŶĚ ŚĞĂůƚŚĐĂƌĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ͘ dŚĞ ŶƵŵďĞƌ ŽĨ ŇƵ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞƐ ƐĞŶƚ ƚŽ 
ƉŚĂƌŵĂĐŝĞƐ ĂŶĚ ŚĞĂůƚŚĐĂƌĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞƐ ƚŽ ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ͕ ǁŝƚŚ 2σ͕3ο2 ĚŽƐĞƐ ŽĨ ŇƵ 
ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞ ƐĞŶƚ ƚŽ ŚĞĂůƚŚĐĂƌĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ ĂŶĚ λ2͕23κ ĚŽƐĞƐ ƐĞŶƚ ƚŽ ƉŚĂƌŵĂĐŝĞƐ͘


λλ







Immunization of 
School Pupils Act
/Ŷ 2κλρ͕  ƚŚĞ /ŵŵƵŶŝǌĂƟŽŶ ŽĨ ^ĐŚŽŽů WƵƉŝůƐ �Đƚ ;͞®ÝÖ�͟Ϳ ǁĂƐ ƵƉĚĂƚĞĚ ďǇ ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ŽĨ 
,ĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ >ŽŶŐͲdĞƌŵ �ĂƌĞ ;͞DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ͟Ϳ͘ dŚĞ /^W� ĚĞĮŶĞƐ ƚŚĞ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĂƟŽŶƐ ƚŚĂƚ ĐŚŝůĚƌĞŶ 
ĂƌĞ ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ ƚŽ ƌĞĐĞŝǀĞ ŝŶ ŽƌĚĞƌ ƚŽ ĂƩĞŶĚ ƐĐŚŽŽů ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐĞ ŽĨ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ͘ dŚĞ �Đƚ 
ĂůůŽǁƐ ĨŽƌ ĞǆĐůƵƐŝŽŶ ĨƌŽŵ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĂƟŽŶƐ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ Ă ŵĞĚŝĐĂů ĞǆĞŵƉƟŽŶ Žƌ Ă ^ƚĂƚĞŵĞŶƚ ŽĨ 
�ŽŶƐĐŝĞŶĐĞ Žƌ ZĞůŝŐŝŽƵƐ �ĞůŝĞĨ ĂĸĚĂǀŝƚ ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐ͘ 


�īĞĐƟǀĞ ^ĞƉƚĞŵďĞƌ λ͕ 2κλρ͕  ƚŚĞ ĂĸĚĂǀŝƚ ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐ ĐŚĂŶŐĞĚ ƚŽ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ Ă 
ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞŵĞŶƚ ĨŽƌ Ă ƉĂƌĞŶƚ;ƐͿ ƚŽ ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞ Ă ŵĂŶĚĂƚŽƌǇ ĞĚƵĐĂƟŽŶ ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶ 
Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ Ɛ͛ ŽĸĐĞ͘ dŚĞ ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶ͕ ĚĞǀĞůŽƉĞĚ 
ďǇ ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ŝŶ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ ǁŝƚŚ ĂŶ ĞǆƉĞƌƚ 
ƉĂŶĞů͕ ĞŶƐƵƌĞƐ ƉĂƌĞŶƚƐ ŚĂǀĞ ǀĂůŝĚ͕ ĐƌĞĚŝďůĞ 
ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ ƌĞŐĂƌĚŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ƌŝƐŬƐ ĂŶĚ ďĞŶĞĮƚƐ 
ŽĨ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞƐ͘ dŚĞ ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ ĚŽ ŶŽƚ ĐŚĂůůĞŶŐĞ Ă 
ƉĂƌĞŶƚ Ɛ͛ ƌŝŐŚƚ ƚŽ ĚĞĐŝĚĞ ŶŽƚ ƚŽ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĂƚĞ ƚŚĞŝƌ 
ĐŚŝůĚ ďƵƚ ƌĂƚŚĞƌ ƐƚƌŝǀĞ ƚŽ ĞŶƐƵƌĞ ƚŚĂƚ ƉĂƌĞŶƚƐ 
ĂƌĞ ŵĂŬŝŶŐ ĂŶ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĞĚ ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶ ďĂƐĞĚ ŽŶ 
ǀĂůŝĚ ƐĐŝĞŶƟĮĐ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͘ dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ŝƐ 
ŽīĞƌŝŶŐ ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ ĂƐ ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ Ăƚ ďŽƚŚ ƚŚĞ WĂƌƌǇ 
^ŽƵŶĚ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ŽĸĐĞƐ͘ 


λ2







Health Equity  
Action Committee
�ƋƵŝƚǇ ŵĞĂŶƐ ƉƌŽǀŝĚŝŶŐ ŐƌĞĂƚĞƌ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ƚŽ ƚŚŽƐĞ ǁŚŽ ŶĞĞĚ ŝƚ ŵŽƐƚ͕ ĂŶĚ ŝƚ Ɛ͛ 
ƐŽŵĞƚŚŝŶŐ ǁĞ ďĞůŝĞǀĞ ŝŶ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͘ tĞ ƐƚƌŝǀĞ ƚŽ ŵĂŬĞ ŽƵƌ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ŵŽƌĞ 
ĞƋƵŝƚĂďůĞ ĂŶĚ ǁĞ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ŽƚŚĞƌ ĂŐĞŶĐŝĞƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƚŽ ĚŽ ƚŚĞ ƐĂŵĞ͘ /Ŷ 
ƚŚĞ ĨĂůů͕ ǁĞ ŚŽƐƚĞĚ �ƌ͘  �ĞŶŶŝƐ ZĂƉŚĂĞů͕ ǁŚŽ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ ŚŝƐ ,ĞĂůƚŚ �ƋƵŝƚǇ dĂůŬ 
ƚŽ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƐƚĂī͕ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ĂŶĚ 
ŽƚŚĞƌ ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƵďůŝĐ ǁŝƚŚ ĂŶ ŝŶƚĞƌĞƐƚ 
ŝŶ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ͘  /Ŷ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ ƚŽ ƚŚŝƐ͕ ǁĞ 
ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ ĞǀŝĚĞŶĐĞ ƚŽ ƉŽůŝƟĐŝĂŶƐ ĂŶĚ ŽƚŚĞƌ 
ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶͲŵĂŬĞƌƐ ƚŚĂƚ ĚĞŵŽŶƐƚƌĂƚĞƐ 
ŚŽǁ ƚŚĞ ǁŚŽůĞ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ĐĂŶ ďĞŶĞĮƚ 
ǁŚĞŶ ŵŽƌĞ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ŝƐ ŽīĞƌĞĚ ƚŽ ƐŵĂůůĞƌ 
ƉŽĐŬĞƚƐ ŽĨ ƉĞŽƉůĞ͘ KƵƌ ,ĞĂůƚŚ �ƋƵŝƚǇ 
�ĐƟŽŶ �ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞƐ ƚŽ ǁŽƌŬ ƚŽ 
ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ͘


Strategic Priority 4, Aim 2


λ3







Rural Health Committee
DŽƐƚ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ůŝǀŝŶŐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ ĂĐƚƵĂůůǇ ůŝǀĞ ŽƵƚƐŝĚĞ ƚŚĞ �ŝƚǇ ŽĨ EŽƌƚŚ 
�ĂǇ͘  dŚĞ ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ ƐŚŽǁƐ ƚŚĂƚ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ůŝǀŝŶŐ ŝŶ ƌƵƌĂů ĂƌĞĂƐ ĂƌĞ ŽŌĞŶ ůĞƐƐ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ĂŶĚ ŝƚ ĐĂŶ 
ďĞ ĐŚĂůůĞŶŐŝŶŐ ƚŽ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƚŽ ůĂƌŐĞ ĂƌĞĂƐ ǁŝƚŚ ĨĞǁ ƉĞŽƉůĞ͘ tĞ ŽīĞƌ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƚŽ 
ĂůŵŽƐƚ λ2ο͕κκκ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ƐƉƌĞĂĚ ŽǀĞƌ λρ͕ κκκ Ŭŵ2 ĂŶĚ ĂƌĞ ĐŽŶƟŶƵĂůůǇ ƐƚƌŝǀŝŶŐ ƚŽ ĞǆƉĂŶĚ ŽƵƌ 
ƌĞĂĐŚ ƚŽ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ͘ 


DĂŶǇ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ŶŽ ŵĂƩĞƌ ǁŚĞƌĞ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ůŝǀĞ͘ /Ŷ 2κλρ͕  πςй ŽĨ ƚŚĞ 
ςλ2 ĂĐƟǀŝƟĞƐ ŚĂĚ Ă ƌƵƌĂů ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĐŽŵƉŽŶĞŶƚ͘ &Žƌ ĞǆĂŵƉůĞ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ ŇƵ 
ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞ ĐůŝŶŝĐƐ ŝŶ ƚŽǁŶƐ ůŝŬĞ DĐ<ĞůůĂƌ ĂŶĚ DĂƩĂǁĂ͖ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĞĚ ƚŚĞ �ƌŝŐŚƚ �ŝƚĞƐ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ 
ŝŶ ƌƵƌĂů ƐĐŚŽŽůƐ͖ ƉƌŽŵŽƚĞĚ ƚŚĞ ^ƚĂǇ KŶ zŽƵƌ &ĞĞƚ ƐƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ ĨŽƌ ƐĞŶŝŽƌƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ 
ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ͖ ĂŶĚ ǁĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞĚ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ĨŽƌ ǇŽƵƚŚͲďĂƐĞĚ ĂĐƟǀŝƟĞƐ ŽƌŐĂŶŝǌĞĚ ďǇ ƚŚĞ tĞƐƚ 
EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ zŽƵƚŚ �ĚǀŝƐŽƌǇ �ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ͘ dŚƌŽƵŐŚ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ͕ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ͕ ŇĞǆŝďŝůŝƚǇ ĂŶĚ 
ĐƌĞĂƟǀŝƚǇ͕  ǁĞ ƐƚƌŝǀĞ ƚŽ ƌĞĂĐŚ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ůŝǀŝŶŐ ŝŶ ƌƵƌĂů ƌĞŐŝŽŶƐ ƚŽ ŚĞůƉ ĞǀĞƌǇŽŶĞ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ 
ĂĐŚŝĞǀĞ ƚŚĞŝƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚŝĞƐƚ ůŝĨĞ ƉŽƐƐŝďůĞ͘


Strategic Priority 3, Aim 1
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Healthy Menu Choices Act
KŶ :ĂŶƵĂƌǇ λ͕ 2κλρ͕  ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ DĞŶƵ �ŚŽŝĐĞƐ �Đƚ ;K͘ ZĞŐ͘ οκ͘λπͿ ĐĂŵĞ ŝŶƚŽ ĨŽƌĐĞ͘ dŚŝƐ 
ůĞŐŝƐůĂƟŽŶ ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞƐ ƚŚĞ ƌĞƐƚĂƵƌĂŶƚ ŽƉĞƌĂƚŽƌ ƚŽ ĚŝƐƉůĂǇ ĐĂůŽƌŝĞƐ ŽŶ ŵĞŶƵƐ ŝŶ ŽƌĚĞƌ ƚŽ ŚĞůƉ 
ĐŽŶƐƵŵĞƌƐ ŵĂŬĞ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĞĚ ĚĞĐŝƐŝŽŶƐ͘ &ŽŽĚ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ƉƌĞŵŝƐĞƐ ǁŝƚŚ 2κ Žƌ ŵŽƌĞ ůŽĐĂƟŽŶƐ 
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐĞ ĂƌĞ ƐƵďũĞĐƚ ƚŽ ƚŚŝƐ ůĞŐŝƐůĂƟŽŶ͘ WƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŝŶƐƉĞĐƚŽƌƐ ;͞Ö«®͟Ϳ 
ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ λπκ ĂƐƐĞƐƐŵĞŶƚƐ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ λπξ ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞĚ ĨŽŽĚ ƉƌĞŵŝƐĞƐ͘ DŽǀŝŶŐ ĨŽƌǁĂƌĚ͕ Ö«®Ɛ 
ǁŝůů ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞ ƚŽ ƌĞƐƉŽŶĚ ŽŶ Ă ĐŽŵƉůĂŝŶƚ ďĂƐŝƐ ĂŶĚ ǁŝůů ƵƐĞ Ă ƉƌŽŐƌĞƐƐŝǀĞ ĞŶĨŽƌĐĞŵĞŶƚ 
ĂƉƉƌŽĂĐŚ ƚŽ ĞŶƐƵƌĞ ĐŽŵƉůŝĂŶĐĞ͘
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Strategic Priority 1, Aim 1


Healthy School  
Food Zones
�Ɛ ƉĂƌƚ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ^ƚƌĂƚĞŐŝĐ WůĂŶ 2κλξͲ2κλς WƌŝŽƌŝƚǇ λ͕ �ŝŵ λ ;͞ƚŽ ĨŽƐƚĞƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ďĞŚĂǀŝŽƵƌƐ ŝŶ 
ĐŚŝůĚƌĞŶ ĂŶĚ ǇŽƵƚŚ ďǇ ƉƌŽŵŽƟŶŐ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ĞĂƟŶŐ͟Ϳ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ ̂ ĐŚŽŽů &ŽŽĚ �ŽŶĞƐ WƌŽũĞĐƚ 
ǁĂƐ ŝŶŝƟĂƚĞĚ͘ dŚĞ ŐŽĂů ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽũĞĐƚ ŝƐ ƚŽ ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ĨŽŽĚ ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐŝŶŐ ďĞŚĂǀŝŽƵƌƐ ŽĨ 
ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ ŝŶ ŐƌĂĚĞƐ σͲλ2͕ ďŽƚŚ ŝŶƐŝĚĞ ĂŶĚ ŽƵƚƐŝĚĞ ŽĨ ƐĐŚŽŽů͕ ĚƵƌŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ƐĐŚŽŽů ĚĂǇ͘  


/Ŷ ƚŚĞ ĨĂůů͕ ƚǁĞůǀĞ ůŽĐĂů ŚŝŐŚ ƐĐŚŽŽůƐ ĂŐƌĞĞĚ ƚŽ ƉƌŽŵŽƚĞ ĂŶ ŽŶůŝŶĞ ƐƵƌǀĞǇ ƚŽ ƚŚĞŝƌ ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ͘ 
dŚĞ ƐƵƌǀĞǇ ŚĂĚ ƋƵĞƐƟŽŶƐ ĂďŽƵƚ ŚŽǁ ŽŌĞŶ ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ ďŽƵŐŚƚ ĨŽŽĚ ĨŽƌ ƐĂůĞ ŽŶ ƐĐŚŽŽů 
ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ ;Ğ͘Ő͕͘ ĐĂĨĞƚĞƌŝĂ͕ ǀĞŶĚŝŶŐ ŵĂĐŚŝŶĞƐͿ ĂŶĚ Žī ƐĐŚŽŽů ƉƌŽƉĞƌƚǇ ;Ğ͘Ő͕͘ ĨĂƐƚ ĨŽŽĚ 
ŽƵƚůĞƚƐ͕ ĐŽŶǀĞŶŝĞŶĐĞ ƐƚŽƌĞƐͿ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ƌĞĂƐŽŶƐ ďĞŚŝŶĚ ƚŚĞŝƌ ƉƵƌĐŚĂƐĞƐ͘ KǀĞƌĂůů͕ 
ςξκ ƐƵƌǀĞǇƐ ǁĞƌĞ ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ͘ tĞ ĂƌĞ ŶŽǁ ĂŶĂůǇǌŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ 
ǁŝůů ƐŚĂƌĞ ƚŚĞ ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ ǁŝƚŚ ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƟŶŐ ƐĐŚŽŽůƐ ĂŶĚ ƐĐŚŽŽů ďŽĂƌĚƐ͘ dŚŝƐ 
ǀĂůƵĂďůĞ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ ĨƌŽŵ ŽƵƌ ĂƌĞĂ ǁŝůů ŚĞůƉ ƵƐ ƚŽ ǁŽƌŬ ǁŝƚŚ ƐĐŚŽŽůƐ͕ 
ƐĐŚŽŽů ďŽĂƌĚƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ ƚŽ ŵĂŬĞ ƐƵƌĞ ƚŚĞƌĞ ĂƌĞ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ 
ĨŽŽĚ ĐŚŽŝĐĞƐ ĂǀĂŝůĂďůĞ ĨŽƌ ŚŝŐŚ ƐĐŚŽŽů ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ ǁŚŝĐŚ ǁŝůů ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ 
ůĞĂƌŶŝŶŐ ĂŶĚ ůŽŶŐͲƚĞƌŵ ŚĞĂůƚŚ͘
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Food Insecurity Forums  
in North Bay & Parry Sound
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ǁŽƌŬĞĚ ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ �ƌĞĂ &ŽŽĚ �ŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟǀĞ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ 
�ƌĞĂ &ŽŽĚ ZŽƵŶĚƚĂďůĞ ƚŽ ŚŽƐƚ Ă &ŽŽĚ /ŶƐĞĐƵƌŝƚǇ &ŽƌƵŵ ŝŶ ďŽƚŚ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ ĂŶĚ EŽƌƚŚ 
�ĂǇ͘  dŚĞ ŬĞǇŶŽƚĞ ƐƉĞĂŬĞƌ ǁĂƐ �ƌ͘  sĂůĞƌŝĞ dĂƌĂƐƵŬ ĨƌŽŵ ƚŚĞ hŶŝǀĞƌƐŝƚǇ ŽĨ dŽƌŽŶƚŽ͘ �ƌ͘  
dĂƌĂƐƵŬ ŚĂƐ ĚŽŶĞ ĞǆƚĞŶƐŝǀĞ ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ ŽŶ ǁŚǇ ĂŶ ŝŶĐŽŵĞ ƐŽůƵƟŽŶ ŝƐ ŶĞĞĚĞĚ ƚŽ ĂĚĚƌĞƐƐ 
ĨŽŽĚ ŝŶƐĞĐƵƌŝƚǇ͘  dŚĞ ĞǀĞŶƚƐ ĂůƐŽ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞĚ ŽƚŚĞƌ ƌĞŐŝŽŶĂů ĞǆƉĞƌƚƐ ĂŶĚ Ă YΘ� ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶ ǁŝƚŚ 
Ă ƉĂŶĞů ŽĨ ůŽĐĂů ĂĚǀŽĐĂƚĞƐ͘ �ƉƉƌŽǆŝŵĂƚĞůǇ λκκ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƚĞĚ ŝŶ ƚŚĞƐĞ 
ĞǀĞŶƚƐ͕ ǁŝƚŚ ƌĞƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĂƟŽŶ ĨƌŽŵ Ă ǀĂƌŝĞƚǇ ŽĨ ƐĞĐƚŽƌƐ͘ 


dŚĞ &ŽŽĚ /ŶƐĞĐƵƌŝƚǇ &ŽƌƵŵ ŚĞůƉĞĚ ƐŚĂƌĞ ŬĞǇ ŵĞƐƐĂŐĞƐ ǁŝƚŚ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ĂŶĚ 
ŽƉĞŶĞĚ ƚŚĞ ĚŽŽƌ ĨŽƌ ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐŝŶŐ ĨƵƌƚŚĞƌ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ͘ �Ǉ ƚĂŬŝŶŐ ĂĐƟŽŶ ƚŽ ĂĚĚƌĞƐƐ ƚŚĞ ƌŽŽƚ 
ĐĂƵƐĞ ŽĨ ĨŽŽĚ ŝŶƐĞĐƵƌŝƚǇ͕  ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ ĂƌĞ ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ ƚŽǁĂƌĚ ƚŚĞ ǀŝƐŝŽŶ ŽĨ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ ĂŶĚ 
WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ ĂƌĞĂ ĨŽŽĚ ĐŚĂƌƚĞƌƐ͘
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Strategic Priority 4, Aim 4


Strength Through 
Partnerships
In January, a member of our Healthy Schools team was invited to present at a provincial 
meeting between the Council of Ontario Directors of Education (code) and the Council 
of Ontario Medical Officers of Health (comoh), including additional participants from 
the Ministry of Education. The presentation focused on the formal partnership between 
the Health Unit and the Near North District School Board, in particular, and their shared 
goal of integrating health promotion and education. The presentation profiled how the 
partnership has developed over time, key lessons learned, and how the end successes 
of a partnership yield mutually desired outcomes for the health and well-being of the 
students and staff within the board. 


Following this presentation, the code/comoh leadership group had a lively discussion 
which concluded with the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding to establish 
formal partnerships between boards of health and school boards across the province. 
Our local partnership model will be highlighted provincially as an example of how the 
integration of health promotion and education can contribute to the well-being of 
children and students. 


Subsequently, in September, our Health Unit embarked on a second formal partnership 
with the Conseil scolaire catholique Franco-Nord with plans to elaborate on shared 
health outcomes for their staff and students. This exciting opportunity aligns with our 
organizational values of collaboration and excellence by seeking solutions through 
meaningful partnership, innovation and collaboration.
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Citizen Engagement: 
Expanding Opportunities 
for Local Youth
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ zŽƵƚŚ sŽůƵŶƚĞĞƌ WƌŽŐƌĂŵ ĨĂĐŝůŝƚĂƚĞƐ ƚŚĞ ĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ ĂŶĚ 
ŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĂƟŽŶ ŽĨ ǇŽƵƚŚͲůĞĚ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ƉƌŽŵŽƟŽŶ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ ǁŚŝĐŚ ĞŶŚĂŶĐĞƐ 
ǇŽƵƚŚ ƐŬŝůůƐ ĂŶĚ ŬŶŽǁůĞĚŐĞ ŽĨ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ͘ /Ŷ ƌĞƐƉŽŶƐĞ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ǇŽƵƚŚ ǀŽůƵŶƚĞĞƌ 
ĞǀĂůƵĂƟŽŶƐ ĂŶĚ Ă ƌĞŶĞǁĞĚ ǀŝƐŝŽŶ ĨŽƌ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͕ ĐŚĂŶŐĞƐ ǁĞƌĞ ŵĂĚĞ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ 
ƐƚƌƵĐƚƵƌĞ ĂŶĚ ĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͘ &Žƌ ĞǆĂŵƉůĞ͕ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ŶŽǁ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƐ 
ŽƉƉŽƌƚƵŶŝƟĞƐ ĨŽƌ ǇŽƵƚŚ ƚŽ ĐŽŶŶĞĐƚ ĂŶĚ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƚĞ ǁŝƚŚ ŝŶƚĞƌŶĂů ƐƚĂī 
ǀŝĂ ũŽď ƐŚĂĚŽǁŝŶŐ͘ dŚĞ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ ŽĨ ĚĞĮŶĞĚ ũŽď ƌŽůĞƐ ŚĂƐ ĞŶĂďůĞĚ 
ǇŽƵƚŚ ƚŽ ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ ƚŚĞŝƌ ŬŶŽǁůĞĚŐĞ ĂŶĚ ƐŬŝůůƐ ŝŶ Ă ƐƵƉƉŽƌƟǀĞ 
ĞŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚ ĞŶŚĂŶĐŝŶŐ ƚŚĞŝƌ ĐŽŶĮĚĞŶĐĞ ĂŶĚ ƐĞůĨͲĞƐƚĞĞŵ͘ 


�ƚ ƚŚĞ ŚĞĂƌƚ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ zŽƵƚŚ sŽůƵŶƚĞĞƌ WƌŽŐƌĂŵ ŝƐ ĐŝƟǌĞŶ 
ĞŶŐĂŐĞŵĞŶƚ͕ ĂůůŽǁŝŶŐ ǇŽƵŶŐ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ƚŽ ďĞĐŽŵĞ ĂĐƟǀĞ 
ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ ŝŶ ĚĞǀĞůŽƉŝŶŐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶƚ ƚŽ 
ƚŚĞŵ͘ ^ƵĐŚ ĂŶ ĂƉƉƌŽĂĐŚ ĂŝŵƐ ƚŽ ĂĐŚŝĞǀĞ ŐƌĞĂƚĞƌ ƐƵĐĐĞƐƐ 
ŝŶ ƌĞĂĐŚŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ǇŽƵƚŚ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ ǁŝůů ĂƐƐŝƐƚ ŝŶ 
ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ ƚŽǁĂƌĚƐ ĂĐŚŝĞǀŝŶŐ Ă ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ ůŝĨĞ ĨŽƌ ĞǀĞƌǇŽŶĞ ŝŶ 
ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͘
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PFAS Detected in  
North Bay Waterways
WĞƌŇƵŽƌŽĂůŬǇůĂƚĞĚ ƐƵďƐƚĂŶĐĞƐ ;Ö¥�ÝͿ ĚĞƚĞĐƚĞĚ ŝŶ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ǁĂƚĞƌǁĂǇƐ ǁĞƌĞ 
ƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ Ăƚ ƚŚĞ ĞŶĚ ŽĨ 2κλπ͘ dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ǁŽƌŬĞĚ 
ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ �ĞƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚ ŽĨ EĂƟŽŶĂů �ĞĨĞŶƐĞ͕ ƚŚĞ DŝŶŝƐƚƌǇ ŽĨ �ŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚ ĂŶĚ 
�ůŝŵĂƚĞ �ŚĂŶŐĞ͕ WƵďůŝĐ ,ĞĂůƚŚ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ �ŝƚǇ ŽĨ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ƚŽ ĂĚǀŝƐĞ ƚŚĞ 
ƉƵďůŝĐ͘ /Ŷ ŵŽƐƚ ĐĂƐĞƐ͕ ƚŚĞ ƌĞƐƵůƚƐ ǁĞƌĞ ďĞůŽǁ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ �ĂŶĂĚĂ ^ĐƌĞĞŶŝŶŐ 
sĂůƵĞƐ͘ dŚĞ DĞĚŝĐĂů KĸĐĞƌ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ŝƐƐƵĞĚ ƌĞĐŽŵŵĞŶĚĂƟŽŶƐ 
ŽŶ �ƵŐƵƐƚ λο͕ 2κλρ͘  dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞƐ ƚŽ ǁŽƌŬ ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ 
ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌ ĂŐĞŶĐŝĞƐ ŽŶ ƚŚŝƐ ŵĂƩĞƌ ĂŶĚ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŝŶƐƉĞĐƚŽƌƐ 
ĐŽŶƟŶƵĞ ƚŽ ŝŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚ ƚŚĞ ŵĂŶĚĂƚĞĚ ƐĂĨĞ ǁĂƚĞƌ ƐƚĂŶĚĂƌĚ͘
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A Review of Healthy Babies 
Healthy Children
� ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐŝĂů ƌĞǀŝĞǁ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ �ĂďŝĞƐ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ �ŚŝůĚƌĞŶ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ǁĂƐ ĐŽŵƉůĞƚĞĚ͕ 
ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ƌĞƉŽƌƚ ǁĂƐ ƉƵďůŝƐŚĞĚ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĨĂůů͘ dŚĞ ǀĂůƵĞ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ĨŽƌ ŽƵƌ ǀƵůŶĞƌĂďůĞ 
ĨĂŵŝůŝĞƐ ǁĂƐ ĂĸƌŵĞĚ ĂŶĚ ƐƵŐŐĞƐƟŽŶƐ ĨŽƌ ŝŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ĞĸĐŝĞŶĐǇ ĂŶĚ ĞīĞĐƟǀĞŶĞƐƐ ŽĨ 
ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ĂƌĞ ďĞŝŶŐ ĞǆƉůŽƌĞĚ͘ dŚĞƐĞ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞ ƐƚƌĞĂŵůŝŶŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐĞƐ ĨŽƌ ĐŽŶƐĞŶƚ͕ 
ƵƐĞ ŽĨ ƚĞĐŚŶŽůŽŐǇ͕  ƐƚƌĞŶŐƚŚĞŶŝŶŐ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ Ɛ͛ ĂďŝůŝƚǇ ƚŽ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ƚŚĞ ĐŽŵƉůĞǆ ŶĞĞĚƐ ŽĨ 
ĨĂŵŝůŝĞƐ ĂŶĚ ƚĂƌŐĞƟŶŐ ĞīŽƌƚƐ ƚŽǁĂƌĚ ŽƵƚĐŽŵĞ ŵĞĂƐƵƌĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘ 
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Positive Parenting
dŚƌŽƵŐŚ ƚŚĞ �ŽŵƉƌĞŚĞŶƐŝǀĞ �ƉƉƌŽĂĐŚ ƚŽ WŽƐŝƟǀĞ WĂƌĞŶƟŶŐ ;��ÖÖͿ EĞƚǁŽƌŬ͕ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ 
hŶŝƚ ďƌŝŶŐƐ ƚŽŐĞƚŚĞƌ ŽǀĞƌ 2ο ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ĚŝƐƚƌŝĐƚƐ ŽĨ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ ĂŶĚ WĂƌƌǇ 
^ŽƵŶĚ ƚŽ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ ƚŚĞ ƋƵĂůŝƚǇ ŽĨ ƉŽƐŝƟǀĞ ƉĂƌĞŶƟŶŐ ƉƌŽŵŽƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵŵŝŶŐ͘ 


dŚĞ ��ÖÖ EĞƚǁŽƌŬ ŚĂƐ ŵŽǀĞĚ ƚŚŝƐ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ ĨŽƌǁĂƌĚ ďǇ͗ 


ͻ �ƉƉůǇŝŶŐ ĨŽƌ ĂŶĚ ƌĞĐĞŝǀŝŶŐ ĨƵŶĚŝŶŐ 
ƚŚĂƚ ĂůůŽǁĞĚ ĨŽƌ ƚƌĂŝŶŝŶŐ ŽĨ 3σ ŶĞǁ 
dƌŝƉůĞ W WƌĂĐƟƟŽŶĞƌƐ ǁŚŽ ǁŽƌŬ ĨĂĐĞͲ
ƚŽͲĨĂĐĞ ǁŝƚŚ ƉĂƌĞŶƚƐ͘ 


ͻ �ĞǀĞůŽƉŝŶŐ ŶŝŶĞ ƉŽƐŝƟǀĞ ƉĂƌĞŶƟŶŐ 
ŬĞǇ ŵĞƐƐĂŐĞƐ ƚŽ ĨŽƌŵ ƚŚĞ ďĂƐŝƐ ŽĨ ĂŶ 
ĞĚƵĐĂƟŽŶĂů ĐĂŵƉĂŝŐŶ͘


ͻ &ŽƌŵŝŶŐ Ă ĐŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ ŽĨ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ 
ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ƚŽ ǁŽƌŬ ŽŶ Ă ƉůĂŶ ƚŽ ďƌŝŶŐ 
ƚŚĞ ŬĞǇ ŵĞƐƐĂŐĞƐ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ŐĞŶĞƌĂů 
ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ͘ 


ͻ /ŶŝƟĂƟŶŐ Ă ƐǇƐƚĞŵ ƚŽ ďĞƩĞƌ ĞǀĂůƵĂƚĞ 
ƚŚĞ ŽƵƚĐŽŵĞƐ ŽĨ ƉƌŽǀŝĚŝŶŐ dƌŝƉůĞ W 
ĂĐƌŽƐƐ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͘ 
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KƵƌ ĞǀĂůƵĂƟŽŶƐ ŝŶĚŝĐĂƚĞ ƚŚĂƚ ƚŚĞƌĞ ŚĂƐ ďĞĞŶ ĂŶ ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ  
ŝŶ ƚŚĞ ŶƵŵďĞƌ ŽĨ ƉŽƐŝƟǀĞ ƉĂƌĞŶƟŶŐ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ ŽīĞƌĞĚ  
ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͕ ĂŶ ŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞ ŝŶ ĂƩĞŶĚĂŶĐĞ 
Ăƚ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ ĂŶĚ ĂŶ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞĚ ƐǇƐƚĞŵ ŽĨ ƌĞĨĞƌƌĂů͘  
WĂƌĞŶƚƐ ŚĂǀĞ ĂůƐŽ ƌĞƉŽƌƚĞĚ ƚŚĂƚ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ ŚĂƐ ŚĂĚ  
Ă ƉŽƐŝƟǀĞ ĞīĞĐƚ ŽŶ ŚĞůƉŝŶŐ ƚŚĞŵ ďĞƩĞƌ ŵĂŶĂŐĞ 
ĐŚŝůĚŚŽŽĚ ďĞŚĂǀŝŽƵƌƐ͘ 







Healthy Hands Initiative
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ ,ĂŶĚƐ /ŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ ƌĞŝŶĨŽƌĐĞƐ ĂŶ ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚŝŶŐ ŽĨ ƉƌŽƉĞƌ ŚĂŶĚ 
ǁĂƐŚŝŶŐ ŝŶ ŽƌĚĞƌ ƚŽ ƌĞĚƵĐĞ ƚŚĞ ƐƉƌĞĂĚ ŽĨ ŐĞƌŵƐ Ăƚ ŚŽŵĞ͕ Ăƚ ƐĐŚŽŽů͕ Ăƚ 
ůŽŶŐͲƚĞƌŵ ĐĂƌĞ ĂŶĚ ƌĞƟƌĞŵĞŶƚ ŚŽŵĞƐ͘ 


C hildcare C entres 
2λρ ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ ;ƚŽĚĚůĞƌ ƚŽ ĞůĞŵĞŶƚĂƌǇ ƐĐŚŽŽů 
ĂŐĞͿ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ŶŝŶĞ ĐŚŝůĚĐĂƌĞ ĐĞŶƚƌĞƐ ǁĞƌĞ 
ƚĂƵŐŚƚ ŚŽǁ ƚŽ ƉƌŽƉĞƌůǇ ǁĂƐŚ ƚŚĞŝƌ ŚĂŶĚƐ͘


S chools 
/Ŷ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐŚŝƉ ǁŝƚŚ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ hŶŝǀĞƌƐŝƚǇ Ɛ͛ 
ƚŚŝƌĚͲǇĞĂƌ ŶƵƌƐŝŶŐ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵ͕ ƚŚĞ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ 
ƌĞĂĐŚĞĚ λ͕ς2ρ ƐĐŚŽŽůͲĂŐĞĚ ĐŚŝůĚƌĞŶ ŝŶ ρ2 
ĐůĂƐƐĞƐ͘ dŚĞƐĞ ƐƚƵĚĞŶƚƐ ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƚĞĚ ŝŶ 
ĐƌĞĂƟǀĞ ůĞƐƐŽŶ ƉůĂŶƐ͕ ĂůůŽǁŝŶŐ ƚŚĞŵ ƚŽ 
ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶĐĞ ŽĨ ƉƌĞǀĞŶƟŶŐ 
ƚŚĞ ƐƉƌĞĂĚ ŽĨ ŐĞƌŵƐ͘


>onŐͲterm �are anĚ Retirement ,omes 
dŚĞ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ ƌĞĂĐŚĞĚ σρ ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂŶƚƐ ĨƌŽŵ 
ƚŚƌĞĞ ůŽŶŐͲƚĞƌŵ ĐĂƌĞ ĂŶĚ ƌĞƟƌĞŵĞŶƚ ŚŽŵĞƐ͘
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Exposure of Emergency 
Service Workers to 
Infectious Diseases
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ŶŽƟĮĞƐ ĞŵĞƌŐĞŶĐǇ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ǁŽƌŬĞƌƐ ;�ÝóͿ ŝĨ ƚŚĞǇ ŚĂǀĞ 
ďĞĞŶ ĞǆƉŽƐĞĚ ƚŽ ĂŶ ŝŶĨĞĐƟŽƵƐ ĚŝƐĞĂƐĞ ŽĨ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶĐĞ͘ 
/Ŷ ŽƌĚĞƌ ƚŽ ĚŽ ƐŽ͕ Ă ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ ŽĸĐĞƌ ŝƐ ŝĚĞŶƟĮĞĚ ĨŽƌ ĞĂĐŚ 
ĞŵĞƌŐĞŶĐǇ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ĂŶĚ ŝƐ ĂďůĞ ƚŽ ŽďƚĂŝŶ ĂĚǀŝĐĞ ĨƌŽŵ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ Ɛ͛ 
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝĐĂďůĞ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞ �ŽŶƚƌŽů ;���Ϳ ƚĞĂŵ ƌĞŐĂƌĚŝŶŐ 
ƉŽƐƐŝďůĞ ĞǆƉŽƐƵƌĞƐ ŽĨ �ÝóƐ ƚŽ ŝŶĨĞĐƟŽƵƐ ĚŝƐĞĂƐĞƐ͘ 
EŝŶĞƚǇͲƐĞǀĞŶ �^tƐ ĂƩĞŶĚĞĚ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ 
ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ ŽŶ ŝŶĨĞĐƟŽŶ ƉƌĞǀĞŶƟŽŶ ĂŶĚ ĐŽŶƚƌŽů͘ 
/Ŷ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ͕ ƚŚĞ ĨĂůů ĞĚŝƟŽŶ ŽĨ �ĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ 
KĸĐĞƌƐ EĞǁƐůĞƩĞƌ ĨŽĐƵƐĞĚ ŽŶ ŝŶŇƵĞŶǌĂ 
ĂŶĚ ǀĂĐĐŝŶĞƐ͘ ��� ƐƚĂī ĂƌĞ ŵĞŵďĞƌƐ ŽĨ 
ƚŚĞ �ƐƐŽĐŝĂƟŽŶ ŽĨ �ĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ KĸĐĞƌƐ ŽĨ 
KŶƚĂƌŝŽ ĂŶĚ ĚĞƐŝŐŶĂƚĞĚ ŽĸĐĞƌƐ ĐĂŶ ĐĂůů 
��� ƐƚĂī 2ξͬρ͘  
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Expanding Reach to  
Homeless in North Bay
dŽ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞ ƚŚĞ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ͕  ǁĞ ĨŽĐƵƐ ŽŶ ĂĚĂƉƟŶŐ ŽƵƌ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ ƚŽ ŵĞĞƚ 
ƚŚĞ ŶĞĞĚƐ ŽĨ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶƐ ǁŚŽ ŚĂǀĞ Ă ŵŽƌĞ ĚŝĸĐƵůƚ ƟŵĞ ƌĞĂĐŚŝŶŐ ƵƐͶůŝŬĞ ƚŚŽƐĞ ŝŶ 
EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ ǁŚŽ ĂƌĞ ŚŽŵĞůĞƐƐ Žƌ Ăƚ ƌŝƐŬ ŽĨ ďĞĐŽŵŝŶŐ ŚŽŵĞůĞƐƐ͘ tĞ ƐĂƚ ĚŽǁŶ ŽŶĞͲŽŶͲ
ŽŶĞ ǁŝƚŚ ξκ ƉĞŽƉůĞ ĨƌŽŵ ƚŚŝƐ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ͕ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞǇ ƚĂůŬĞĚ ĂďŽƵƚ ƚŚĞŝƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ŶĞĞĚƐ ĂŶĚ 
ƚŚĞ ĞǆƉĞƌŝĞŶĐĞƐ ƚŚĞǇ ĨĂĐĞ ŝŶ ĂĐĐĞƐƐŝŶŐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ͘  tĞ ĂůƐŽ ŚĞůĚ 
ŝŶĚŝǀŝĚƵĂů ĚŝƐĐƵƐƐŝŽŶƐ ǁŝƚŚ ƐĞǀĞƌĂů ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ ƐŽĐŝĂů ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ǁŚŽ 
ƌĞŐƵůĂƌůǇ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ƚŚŝƐ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ͘ tĞ ĂƌĞ ŶŽǁ ĞǆƉůŽƌŝŶŐ ǁŚĂƚ ǁĞ ŚĂǀĞ ůĞĂƌŶĞĚ ĨƌŽŵ 
ƚŚĞƐĞ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶƚ ƐƚŽƌŝĞƐ͕ ƐŽ ƚŚĂƚ ǁĞ ĐĂŶ ďĞƩĞƌ ǁŽƌŬ ƚŽ ĞǆƉĂŶĚ ŽƵƌ ƌĞĂĐŚ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ƵƌďĂŶ 
ŚŽŵĞůĞƐƐ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ ŝŶ EŽƌƚŚ �ĂǇ͘


Strategic Priority 3, Aim 1


Focusing in on Quality 
Improvement 
/ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ ďĞŝŶŐ ƌĞƐƉŽŶƐŝǀĞ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ŶĞĞĚƐ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ 
ƌĞƋƵŝƌĞƐ ƚŚĂƚ ǁĞ ĐŽŶƟŶƵŽƵƐůǇ ĂŶĚ ĚĞůŝďĞƌĂƚĞůǇ ƵƐĞ ĚĞĮŶĞĚ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ ƉƌŽĐĞƐƐĞƐ͕ ĂŶĚ 
ŵĞĂƐƵƌĞ ĂŶĚ ŵŽŶŝƚŽƌ ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ͘ tŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ Ăŝŵ ŽĨ ĞŶŚĂŶĐŝŶŐ ŽƵƌ ĐĂƉĂĐŝƚǇ ƚŽ ƵŶĚĞƌƚĂŬĞ 
ƚŚŝƐ ǁŽƌŬ ĂĐƌŽƐƐ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͕ 23 ƐƚĂī ƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƚĞĚ ŝŶ ƚƌĂŝŶŝŶŐ ŽŶ �ŽŶƟŶƵŽƵƐ YƵĂůŝƚǇ 
/ŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ ;�Ø®Ϳ ĨĂĐŝůŝƚĂƚĞĚ ďǇ /ĚĞĂƐ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ͘ &ƵƌƚŚĞƌŵŽƌĞ ĂŶ ŝŶƚĞƌŶĂů �Ø® ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐ 
ŐƌŽƵƉ ǁĂƐ ĨŽƌŵĞĚ ƚŽ ƉůĂŶ ŚŽǁ ďĞƐƚ ƚŽ ŝŶƚĞŐƌĂƚĞ ĞǆŝƐƟŶŐ ƋƵĂůŝƚǇ ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ ƉƌĂĐƟĐĞƐ 
ǁŝƚŚ ŶĞǁ ŽŶĞƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ƚŽ ĨŽƌŵĂůůǇ ŵĞĂƐƵƌĞ ĂŶĚ ŵŽŶŝƚŽƌ ƉĞƌĨŽƌŵĂŶĐĞ͘
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New Home for  
the Health Unit
/Ŷ 2κλρ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ Ɛ͛ ŶĞǁ ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ Ăƚ 3ξο KĂŬ ^ƚƌĞĞƚ tĞƐƚ ďĞŐĂŶ ƚŽ ŵĂƚĞƌŝĂůŝǌĞ͘ 
ZĞůǇŝŶŐ ŽŶ ƚŚĞ ǀŝƐŝŽŶ ĂŶĚ ĞǆƉĞƌƟƐĞ ŽĨ DŝƚĐŚĞůů :ĞŶƐĞŶ �ƌĐŚŝƚĞĐƚƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ǁŝƚŚ ŝŶƉƵƚ ĨƌŽŵ 
ƐƚĂī͕ ƚŚĞ ŶĞǁ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ǁĂƐ ĚĞƐŝŐŶĞĚ ǁŝƚŚ ŽƵƌ ƐƚĂŬĞŚŽůĚĞƌƐ ĂŶĚ ĐůŝĞŶƚƐ ŝŶ ŵŝŶĚ͘ tĞ 
ĂƌĞ ǀĞƌǇ ƉůĞĂƐĞĚ ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ ƋƵĂůŝƚǇ ĂŶĚ ĚĞƚĂŝů ŝŶ dƌŝďƵƌǇ �ŽŶƐƚƌƵĐƟŽŶ Ɛ͛ ǁŽƌŬŵĂŶƐŚŝƉ͕ ĂŶĚ 
ǁĞ ĂƌĞ ůŽŽŬŝŶŐ ĨŽƌǁĂƌĚ ƚŽ ŵĂŬŝŶŐ 3ξο KĂŬ ŽƵƌ ŶĞǁ ŚŽŵĞ ŝŶ 2κλς͘ 


Strategic Priority 4, Aim 1
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Communications
KǀĞƌ ƚŚĞ ƉĂƐƚ ǇĞĂƌ͕  ƚŚĞ  
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝĐĂƟŽŶƐ ĚĞƉĂƌƚŵĞŶƚ͗


ͻ /ŵƉůĞŵĞŶƚĞĚ ŽƵƌ ĮƌƐƚ &ĂĐĞďŽŽŬ 
ĐŽŶƚĞƐƚƐͶƚŚĞ ͞�Ğ ^ƵŶ ^ĂĨĞ͟ ĂŶĚ ͞&ůƵ 
^ĞĂƐŽŶ͟ ĐŽŶƚĞƐƚƐ͘ dŚĞ �Ğ ^ƵŶ ^ĂĨĞ 
ĐŽŶƚĞƐƚ ŚĂĚ Ă ƌĞĂĐŚ ŽĨ π͕ξρο͕ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ 
&ůƵ ^ĞĂƐŽŶ ĐŽŶƚĞƐƚ ŚĂĚ Ă ƌĞĂĐŚ ŽĨ ξ͕ρκξ͘ 


ͻ /ƐƐƵĞĚ 2ο ŶĞǁƐ ƌĞůĞĂƐĞƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ǁĞƌĞ 
ĨĞĂƚƵƌĞĚ ŝŶ ŽǀĞƌ πκ ŶĞǁƐ ƐƚŽƌŝĞƐ͘


ͻ ^Ăǁ ŐƌŽǁƚŚ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ &ĂĐĞďŽŽŬ ƐƚĂƟƐƟĐƐ͕ 
ǁŝƚŚ ρλρ͕ 3ς3 ŽǀĞƌĂůů ŝŵƉƌĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ͘


ͻ �ƌĞĂƚĞĚ ο2ρ ƐŽĐŝĂů ŵĞĚŝĂ ƉŽƐƚƐ͕ ǁŝƚŚ Ă 
ƚŽƚĂů ŽĨ ρςς͕σκλ ŝŵƉƌĞƐƐŝŽŶƐ͕ ξκο ŶĞǁ 
ĨŽůůŽǁĞƌƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ρ͕ σξρ ĞŶŐĂŐĞŵĞŶƚƐ͘ 


ͻ ^Ăǁ ρ3͕3ςο ǁĞďƐŝƚĞ ǀŝƐŝƚƐ ;ξο͕σ22 ŶĞǁ 
ǀŝƐŝƚŽƌƐ ĂŶĚ 2ρ͕ ξπ3 ƌĞƚƵƌŶŝŶŐ ǀŝƐŝƚŽƌƐͿ 
ĂŶĚ λοπ͕πρσ ƉĂŐĞ ǀŝĞǁƐ͘ 
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A New Colouring Calendar 
for Older Adults 
dŚĞ ^ƚĂǇ ŽŶ zŽƵƌ &ĞĞƚ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ ĂŶĚ WĂƌƌǇ ^ŽƵŶĚ ĐŽĂůŝƟŽŶƐ ĚĞǀĞůŽƉĞĚ Ă ŶĞǁ 2κλς 
ĐŽůŽƵƌŝŶŐ ĐĂůĞŶĚĂƌ ĨŽƌ ŽůĚĞƌ ĂĚƵůƚƐ ůŝǀŝŶŐ ŝŶ ŽƵƌ ůŽĐĂů ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͘ dŚĞ ĐĂůĞŶĚĂƌ ǁĂƐ 
ĐƌĞĂƚĞĚ ŝŶ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ ǁŝƚŚ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ ĂŶĚ Ă ƐƉĞĐŝĂů ŽůĚĞƌ ĂĚƵůƚ͕ ůŽĐĂů ĂƌƟƐƚ 
�ĂǀĞ WĂůĂŶŐŝŽ͘ �ĂǀĞ ĐƌĞĂƚĞĚ ƚŚĞ ŝŵĂŐĞƐ ďĂƐĞĚ ŽŶ ŝƐƐƵĞƐ ƚŚĂƚ ŝŵƉĂĐƚ ƚŚĞ ůŝǀĞƐ ŽĨ ŽƵƌ ŽůĚĞƌ 
ĂĚƵůƚ ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ͘


dŚĞ ĐŽůŽƵƌŝŶŐ ĐĂůĞŶĚĂƌ ŚĂƐ Ă ǇĞĂƌ Ɛ͛ ǁŽƌƚŚ ŽĨ ƟƉƐ ƚŽ ŬĞĞƉ ŽůĚĞƌ ĂĚƵůƚƐ ŽŶ ƚŚĞŝƌ ĨĞĞƚ͕ 
ŝŶĚĞƉĞŶĚĞŶƚ͕ ĂŶĚ ŚĞĂůƚŚǇ͊ /ƚ ŝŶĐůƵĚĞƐ ƚŚĞ ^ƚĂǇŝŶŐ /ŶĚĞƉĞŶĚĞŶƚ �ŚĞĐŬůŝƐƚͶĂŶ ĞĂƐǇ ǁĂǇ 
ĨŽƌ ŽůĚĞƌ ĂĚƵůƚƐ ƚŽ ŝĚĞŶƟĨǇ ƚŚĞŝƌ ƌŝƐŬ ŽĨ ĨĂůůŝŶŐ͕ ŝŵƉŽƌƚĂŶƚ ůŽĐĂů ĐŽŶƚĂĐƚ ŝŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ͕ ĂŶĚ 
ƉƌĂĐƟĐĂů ƟƉƐ ƚŽ ƉƌĞǀĞŶƚ Ă ĨĂůů͘ 


Building Partnerships 
in Mental Health
�ƵƌŝŶŐ DĞŶƚĂů ,ĞĂůƚŚ tĞĞŬ ŝŶ DĂǇ͕  ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌĞĚ ǁŝƚŚ ƚŚĞ �ĂŶĂĚŝĂŶ DĞŶƚĂů 
,ĞĂůƚŚ �ƐƐŽĐŝĂƟŽŶʹEŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ ZĞŐŝŽŶĂů �ƌĂŶĐŚ ƚŽ ŚŽƐƚ ƚŚĞ ĂŶŶƵĂů �ĚƵĐĂƟŽŶ �ĂǇ ĨŽƌ 
DĞŶƚĂů ,ĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ �ĚĚŝĐƟŽŶƐ &ƌŽŶƚůŝŶĞ ^ĞƌǀŝĐĞ WƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ͘ dŚĞ ĞǀĞŶƚ ďƌŽƵŐŚƚ ƚŽŐĞƚŚĞƌ 
ŽǀĞƌ λκκ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ ƉƌŽǀŝĚĞƌƐ ĨƌŽŵ ŵŽƌĞ ƚŚĂŶ 2κ ŽƌŐĂŶŝǌĂƟŽŶƐ ŝŶ ƚŚĞ EŝƉŝƐƐŝŶŐ �ŝƐƚƌŝĐƚ͘ 
� ƌĂŶŐĞ ŽĨ ƚŽƉŝĐƐ ǁĞƌĞ ĐŽǀĞƌĞĚ ŝŶĐůƵĚŝŶŐ ŚŽƵƐŝŶŐ͕ ŐĂŵďůŝŶŐ ĂĚĚŝĐƟŽŶ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͕ ƉĞĞƌ 
ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ͕ ƌĞƐŝĚĞŶƟĂů ĂĚĚŝĐƟŽŶ ƚƌĞĂƚŵĞŶƚ ƉƌŽŐƌĂŵƐ͕ ŝŶĐŽŵĞ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͕ ĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ 
'ĂƚĞǁĂǇ ,Ƶď͘ KƵƌ DĞĚŝĐĂů KĸĐĞƌ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ƉƌĞƐĞŶƚĞĚ ŽŶ �ĂƐŝŶŽ 'ĂŵďůŝŶŐ͗ � ,Ăƌŵ 
ZĞĚƵĐƟŽŶ ^ƚƌĂƚĞŐǇ͘ dŚĞ ĞǀĞŶƚ ŽīĞƌĞĚ ĂŶ ŽƉƉŽƌƚƵŶŝƚǇ ƚŽ ŚŝŐŚůŝŐŚƚ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĂƐ Ă 
ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌ ŝŶ ŵĞŶƚĂů ŚĞĂůƚŚ ĂŶĚ ĚĞŵŽŶƐƚƌĂƚĞĚ ƚŚĞ ĐŽŽƌĚŝŶĂƟŶŐ ƌŽůĞ ŽĨ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ͘  
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Research Endeavours
dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĞŶŐĂŐĞĚ ŝŶ ůŽĐĂů ĂŶĚ ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐŝĂů ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚŽƵƚ ƚŚĞ ǇĞĂƌ͘  
/Ŷ ĂĚĚŝƟŽŶ ƚŽ ƚŚĞ ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞ ǁŝƚŚ ŚŽŵĞůĞƐƐ ĂŶĚ ĂƚͲƌŝƐŬ ŽĨ ďĞĐŽŵŝŶŐ ŚŽŵĞůĞƐƐ 
ƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶƐ͕ ǁĞ ĂůƐŽ ƐŽƵŐŚƚ ƚŽ ďĞƩĞƌ ƵŶĚĞƌƐƚĂŶĚ ƚŚĞ ĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ Ɛ͛ ĂǁĂƌĞŶĞƐƐ ĂŶĚ 
ƉĞƌĐĞƉƟŽŶƐ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĂŶĚ ŝƚƐ ƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ͘ dŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ ĂůƐŽ ǁŽƌŬĞĚ ŝŶ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ 
ǁŝƚŚ ŽƚŚĞƌ ŚĞĂůƚŚ ƵŶŝƚƐ ĂĐƌŽƐƐ ƚŚĞ ƉƌŽǀŝŶĐĞ ŽŶ ĮǀĞ ůŽĐĂůůǇ ĚƌŝǀĞŶ ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟǀĞ ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ 
ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĞĚ ďǇ WƵďůŝĐ ,ĞĂůƚŚ KŶƚĂƌŝŽ ĨŽĐƵƐŝŶŐ ŽŶ͗ λ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ĞƋƵŝƚǇ ĚĂƚĂ ŵŽďŝůŝǌĂƟŽŶ͖ 


μ ^ƚƌĞŶŐƚŚĞŶŝŶŐ ĐŽŶƟŶƵŽƵƐ ƋƵĂůŝƚǇ 
ŝŵƉƌŽǀĞŵĞŶƚ͖ 


ν DĞĂƐƵƌŝŶŐ ĨŽŽĚ ůŝƚĞƌĂĐǇ͖ 


ξ ZĞůĂƟŽŶƐŚŝƉ ďƵŝůĚŝŶŐ ǁŝƚŚ &ŝƌƐƚ 
EĂƟŽŶƐ ĂŶĚ ƉƵďůŝĐ ŚĞĂůƚŚ͖ ĂŶĚ 


ο �ƵŝůĚŝŶŐ ĞǀĂůƵĂƟŽŶ ĐĂƉĂĐŝƚǇ͘  


2σ


dŚĞƐĞ ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ ŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ ;ĂŵŽŶŐ 
ŽƚŚĞƌƐͿ ǁĞƌĞ ƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĞĚ ĂŶĚ ǀĞƩĞĚ 
ƚŚƌŽƵŐŚ ŽƵƌ ŶĞǁ ŝŶƚĞƌŶĂů ZĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ 
�ƚŚŝĐƐ ZĞǀŝĞǁ �ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ͘ dŚĞ 
�ŽŵŵŝƩĞĞ ǁĂƐ ĞƐƚĂďůŝƐŚĞĚ ƚŽ ĞŶƐƵƌĞ 
ƚŚĂƚ ƚŚĞ ĐŽƌĞ ƉƌŝŶĐŝƉůĞƐ ŽĨ ĞƚŚŝĐĂů 
ĐŽŶĚƵĐƚ ĂƌĞ ĨŽůůŽǁĞĚ ĨŽƌ Ăůů ƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ 
ĂŶĚ ĞǀĂůƵĂƟŽŶ ƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ ƵŶĚĞƌƚĂŬĞŶ 
ǁŝƚŚŝŶ ƚŚĞ ,ĞĂůƚŚ hŶŝƚ͕ ĂŶĚ ŝŶ 
ĐŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶ ǁŝƚŚ ĞǆƚĞƌŶĂů ƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐ͘







Research, Population 
Assessment & Surveillance
�ŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚĂů ,ĞĂůƚŚ͗


,ĞĂůƚŚ �ĞŚĂǀŝŽƵƌƐ Θ ^ƵďƐƚĂŶĐĞ hƐĞ͗


2017 Published Reports


μκλπ sectorͲ�orne �iseases  
S urv eillance R eport


>Ǉme �isease in the E�PS�,h ReŐion  
�etǁeen μκκπʹμκλπ


,eavǇ �rinŬinŐ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion 
�etǁeen μκκρ ʹ μκλξ


�rinŬinŐ in �ǆcess oĨ the >oǁͲRisŬ Alcohol 
�rinŬinŐ 'uiĚelines in the E�PS�,h ReŐion 
�etǁeen μκκρ ʹ μκλξ


>et s͛ Start the �onversation͗ Alcohol hse 
Am ong Adults in our C om m unity


,ealthǇ �atinŐ AmonŐ StuĚents  
in 'raĚes ρ ʹ λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion


,ealthǇ teiŐhts AmonŐ StuĚents  
in 'raĚes ρ ʹ λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion


PhǇsical ActivitǇ AmonŐ StuĚents  
in 'raĚes ρ ʹ λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion 


�iŐareƩe hse ďǇ SocioĚemoŐraphic SuďŐroup 
in the E�PS�,h ReŐion �etǁeen μκκρ ʹ μκλμ


Kther doďacco hse in the E�PS�,h ReŐion 
�etǁeen μκκρ ʹ μκλξ


Alcohol hse AmonŐ StuĚents in 'raĚes ρ to λμ 
in the E�PS�,h ReŐion͗ μκλξͬλο School zear 


�annaďis hse AmonŐ StuĚents in 'raĚes ρ to 
λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion͗ μκλξ School zear 


Kther Suďstance hse AmonŐ StuĚents in 
'raĚes ρ to λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion͗  
μκλξ ʹ μκλο


KpioiĚͲrelateĚ DorďiĚitǇ & DortalitǇ͗  
μκκο ʹ μκλπ 


�iŐareƩe & doďacco hse AmonŐ StuĚents in 
'raĚes ρ to λμ in the E�PS�,h ReŐion͗  
μκλξ ʹ μκλο 


/ŶĨĞĐƟŽƵƐ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞƐ͗
�ommunicaďle �isease �ontrol Report


,epatitis � in the E�PS�,h ReŐion �Ǉ 'enĚer, 
AŐe, anĚ zear �etǁeen μκκρ ʹ μκλπ
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http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/livehealthyandprotectyourhealth/resources/2016-Vector-Borne-Diseases-Report_Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/livehealthyandprotectyourhealth/resources/2016-Vector-Borne-Diseases-Report_Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Lyme-disease-2006---2016.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Lyme-disease-2006---2016.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Heavy-drinking---2007-2014.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Heavy-drinking---2007-2014.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Low-Risk-Alcohol-Drinking-Guidelines---2007-2014-Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Low-Risk-Alcohol-Drinking-Guidelines---2007-2014-Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Low-Risk-Alcohol-Drinking-Guidelines---2007-2014-Final.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-Report-2017-04-21.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-Report-2017-04-21.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Healthy-eating-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-21-2017.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Healthy-eating-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-21-2017.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/HWstudentsgr7to12NBPSDHUregion2014-15-Nov-17.pdf

http://www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/HWstudentsgr7to12NBPSDHUregion2014-15-Nov-17.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/PAct-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-21-2017.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/PAct-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-21-2017.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Cigarette-Use-by-Sociodemographic-Subgroup---2007-2012.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Cigarette-Use-by-Sociodemographic-Subgroup---2007-2012.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Other-Tobacco-Use---2007-2014.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Other-Tobacco-Use---2007-2014.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-30-2017.pdf

www.myhealthunit.ca/en/partnerandhealthproviderresources/resources/Reports__Stats/Alcohol-gr7to12-NBPSDHU-region-2014-15-Nov-30-2017.pdf
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�ŚƌŽŶŝĐ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞͬ/ŶũƵƌǇ WƌĞǀĞŶƟŽŶͬ^ƵďƐƚĂŶĐĞ hƐĞ  2͕κοσ͕κκκ͘κκ  
KƌŐĂŶŝǌĂƟŽŶĂů ^ƵƉƉŽƌƚƐ 2͕κσ2͕πκκ͘κκ  
&ŽŽĚͬtĂƚĞƌͬZĂďŝĞƐͬKƚŚĞƌ �ŶǀŝƌŽŶŵĞŶƚĂů ,ĂǌĂƌĚƐ 2͕3κκ͕ξκκ͘κκ  
�ƵŝůĚŝŶŐ Θ /ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ dĞĐŚŶŽůŽŐǇ 2͕κολ͕σκκ͘κκ  
�ĞŶƚĂů ^ĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ λ͕ξλσ͕2κκ͘κκ  
^ĞǆƵĂů ,ĞĂůƚŚ λ͕πκλ͕κκκ͘κκ  
sĂĐĐŝŶĞ WƌĞǀĞŶƚĂďůĞ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞ λ͕3σσ͕σκκ͘κκ  
ZĞƉƌŽĚƵĐƟǀĞ Θ �ŚŝůĚ ,ĞĂůƚŚ͕ ,ĞĂůƚŚǇ �ĂďŝĞƐ λ͕σκπ͕οκκ͘κκ  
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝĐĂďůĞ Θ /ŶĨĞĐƟŽƵƐ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞ �ŽŶƚƌŽů λ͕λρο͕λκκ͘κκ  
ZĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ Θ YƵĂůŝƚǇ �ƐƐƵƌĂŶĐĞ σλπ͕πκκ͘κκ  
KĸĐĞ ŽĨ ƚŚĞ DĞĚŝĐĂů KĸĐĞƌ ŽĨ ,ĞĂůƚŚ ξορ͕ οκκ͘κκ  
^ŵŽŬŝŶŐ Θ dŽďĂĐĐŽ ξ23͕σκκ͘κκ  
'ĞŶĞƟĐƐ ξκρ͕ ξκκ͘κκ  
�ŽŵŵƵŶŝĐĂƟŽŶƐ Θ �ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇ /ŶĨŽƌŵĂƟŽŶ KĸĐĞ 2ρο͕λκκ͘κκ  
sĞĐƚŽƌͲ�ŽƌŶĞ �ŝƐĞĂƐĞ λπσ͕οκκ͘κκ  
�ŵĞƌŐĞŶĐǇ WƌĞƉĂƌĞĚŶĞƐƐ λ2ο͕ξκκ͘κκ 
�ƵŝůĚŝŶŐ Θ >ĂŶĚ λ͕κσλ͕σκκ͘κκ
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Board Member  Memo


Board Member Memo


 MEMO 
15 Sperling Drive, Barrie, ON  L4M 6K9 
TEL:  705-721-7520 FAX: 705-721-1495 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Board of Health Members 
 
FROM:  Dr. Charles Gardner, Medical Officers of Health 
 
DATE:  April 12, 2018 
 
RE:  Information for the April 18th Meeting  
 
 
eScribe Training  
 
We are once again offering a 30 minute training session for those Board members who 
were not able to receive this training at the last Board meeting. Individual board members 
will have the option to take this either before the April 18th meeting (8:30 am) or after it 
(12:00 noon). To this end, it would be helpful if Board members who need this training 
would inform Marlene Klanert and / or me of your selection regarding these two options. 
Also if neither works for you, please let us know.  
 
Indigenous Population & Opioid Strategy Agenda Items 
 
There is some interest in indigenous population engagement being discussed, as cited by 
members at the Board’s last meeting.  I had indicated at that meeting that engagement 
with indigenous populations would be an item for the April Board meeting. I regret to 
inform you however, that we will have to postpone this until the May 16th Board meeting, 
due to other competing timely priorities to be addressed at the April 18th meeting.  
 
Please also be advised that the Board’s May meeting will include a briefing note on the 
new Simcoe Muskoka Opioid Strategy. 
 
June 10 to 12, 2018 alPHa Conference 
 
Registration is now open for the June alPHa conference in Toronto and we would like to 
take advantage of the Early Bird rate.  Please inform Marlene Klanert by Friday, April 20th 
if you plan to attend and if you require accommodations; an early booking will be needed 
to ensure hotel rooms at the site of the conference for those attending.  All registrations 
will be submitted at once and your confirmation will be sent to you by email.  
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